



Report no. 14/24

Biogenic volatile organic compound emissions and their impact on urban air quality: Lessons learned, current understanding and future challenges





Biogenic volatile organic compound emissions and their impact on urban air quality: Lessons learned, current understanding and future challenges

G. Valastro (Concawe Science Executive)

This report was prepared by: Alex Guenther (Professor, University of California, Irvine)

Under the supervision of: T. Megaritis (Concawe Science Associate)

At the request of:

Concawe Air Quality Management Group (AQMG)

Thanks for their contribution to:

Members of AQMG: J. Heijari, L. Forner, S.V. Gulck

Brian Dinkelacker (ExxonMobil)

Reproduction permitted with due acknowledgement

© Concawe Brussels December 2024



ABSTRACT

Biogenic volatile organic compounds (BVOCs) can have a significant impact on atmospheric composition, impacting both air quality and climate. This review provides a comprehensive examination of BVOC emissions including their measurement techniques, modelling approaches, current estimates and uncertainties, as well as BVOC emission impacts on ozone and particles and the implications for air pollution management. The historical context is described from the first emission calculations to the current numerical computer models. The review also addresses the challenges including limited observations and the complexity of the factors controlling BVOC emissions. The methodologies for BVOC flux measurements and modelling are described and their effectiveness is discussed. Additionally, strategies for controlling BVOC impacts on air quality are considered including both direct emission reduction and indirect approaches through anthropogenic pollution control. The limitations and knowledge gaps in current BVOC research are identified, along with future challenges and opportunities to improve the predictive capability of BVOC emission models.



KEYWORDS

Biogenic Volatile Organic Compounds (BVOCs), emissions, concentrations, air quality, measurements, modelling, MEGAN

INTERNET

This report is available as an Adobe pdf file on the Concawe website (www.concawe.eu).

NOTE

Considerable efforts have been made to assure the accuracy and reliability of the information contained in this publication. However, neither Concawe nor any company participating in Concawe can accept liability for any loss, damage or injury whatsoever resulting from the use of this information.

This report does not necessarily represent the views of any company participating in Concawe.



CONTENTS				
ABSTRACT			П	
KEYWORDS			Ш	
1.	INTRODUCT	TION	1	
2				
۷.				
3.	BVOC MEASUREMENTS		5	
	3.1.		5	
	3.Z.		6 7	
	3.3.	FLUX MEASUREMENT TECHNIQUES	/	
4.	BVOC EMISSION MODELING			
	4.1.	EMISSION MODEL APPROACHES	11	
	4.2.	EMISSION SOURCES	13	
	4.2.1.	Source density	13	
	4.2.2.	Vegetation type	14	
	4.2.3.	Plant age	14	
	4.2.4.	Non-foliar sources	15	
	4.3.		15	
	4.4. ///	EMISSION ACTIVITY	17	
	4.4.1.	Seasonal variations	18	
	4 4 3	Stress events	19	
	4.4.4.	Interannual variations	22	
	4.5.	EMISSION ESTIMATES	22	
	4.5.1.	Global rates and regional distributions	22	
	4.5.2.	Emission trends	24	
	4.6.	BIOGENIC CONTRIBUTION TO URBAN EMISSIONS	27	
5.	BVOC AND	AIR POLLUTION	29	
	5.1.	AIR QUALITY MODELING	29	
	5.2.	OZONE AND PARTICLES	30	
	5.3.	OTHER AIR POLLUTION ISSUES	32	
6.	CONTROLLABLE BVOC EMISSIONS			
	6.1.	INDIRECT CONTROL	33	
	6.2.	DIRECT CONTROL	33	
7.	UNCERTAINTIES			
	7.1.	MODEL INTERCOMPARISONS	36	
	7.2.	EMISSION MODEL UNCERTAINTIES	38	
	7.3.	MODEL PERFORMANCE	39	
	7.3.1.	Eddy flux measurements	39	
	7.3.2.	In situ concentration measurements of BVOC and their products	42	
	7.3.3.	Satellite measurements of BVOC concentration distributions		
	7.4	and products	43	
	/.4. 7 5		44	
	7.5.	NINU VILLUGE GAPS AND LIMITATIONS	40	
8.	INS	47		
-	8.1.	BVOC EMISSION ESTIMATES	47	



	8.2.	BVOC IMPACTS ON AIR POLLUTION	47
	8.3.	FUTURE CHALLENGES	47
	8.4.	OPPORTUNITIES	47
9.	ACRON	IYMS	49
10.	REFERENCES		52



1. INTRODUCTION

More than a gigaton of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) are emitted into the atmosphere each year. Methane and isoprene each comprise about a third of the total and hundreds of other VOC make up the remainder (Guenther et al. 2012). Although the non-methane VOC (NMVOC) are about two thirds of the total VOC emission, they are less than 0.1% of the total VOC in the atmosphere. This discrepancy is due to their relatively short atmospheric lifetimes, ranging from minutes to days, while methane remains in the atmosphere for about a decade. While some NMVOCs can directly impact radiative forcing or human health, their atmospheric concentrations are too low to have a significant impact, except in highly polluted areas. Instead, NMVOC's primarily influence the environment through the production of secondary pollutants such as ozone and particles and by removing oxidants like OH, significantly affecting climate and air quality.

Over 80% of annual global NMVOC emissions have biogenic VOC (BVOC) sources, predominately foliar (vegetation leaves) emissions (Guenther et al. 2012). Historically, urban and industrial landscapes were dominated by anthropogenic volatile organic compound (AVOC) emissions from fossil fuels and industrial processes with AVOC to BVOC ratios of 20 or more (e.g., Chameides et al. 1988). Developments in the regulations controlling air pollutant emissions have substantially reduced AVOC emissions. At the same time, urban greening and global warming have been increasing vegetation emissions, thus BVOCs are becoming the dominant reactive VOC emission source, even in urban areas (Ren et al. 2017, Gu et al. 2021, Pfannerstill et al. 2024).

Seminal studies conducted over 50 years ago suggested that BVOC could significantly impact climate and air quality (e.g., Went 1960, Rasmussen and Went 1965, Rasmussen 1972). The conclusions of these studies were initially rejected due to the conflicting evidence of BVOC concentrations that were much lower than AVOCs (Dimitriades 1981, Altshuller 1983). Understanding BVOC magnitude and role was at that time essential for managing ozone since it could determine whether agencies should prescribe anthropogenic VOC emissions reduction as an optimal strategy for reducing ozone. By the early 1990s, scientists recognized that the existing pollution control strategies were ineffective for reducing urban and regional ozone pollution leading to a call for "rethinking the ozone problem in urban and regional air pollution" (National Research Council, 1991). The National Research Council panel concluded that "the combination of biogenic VOCs with anthropogenic NOx can have a significant effect on photochemical ozone formation in urban and rural regions of the United States" and recommended that "emissions of biogenic VOCs must be more adequately assessed to provide a baseline from which the effectiveness of ozone control strategies can be estimated before such strategies are applied for a specific urban core or larger regions".

BVOC emission measurement studies have primarily focused on terrestrial vegetation foliage and most BVOC emission models do not consider any other sources (Rassmussen 1972, Duan et al. 2021). While uncertainties remain regarding the contributions of other plant organs, such as flowers and roots, and other organisms, such as microbes, these other sources may be important for at least some locations and conditions and should be assessed. BVOC studies are also complicated by the thousands of BVOC chemical species (Cagliero et al. 2021) although a relatively small number of compounds dominate the total global emission predicted by models (e.g., Guenther et al 2012, Sindelarova et al. 2022). However, these BVOC have varying impacts on atmospheric composition, so that a compound with relatively small emissions can significantly impact atmospheric chemistry due



to its higher ozone formation potential (OFP) or secondary organic aerosol production (SOAP). In addition, a compound that may be a minor component of global annual emissions could be important in a specific location and time.

Prior to the 1990s, VOC emissions from vegetation were typically referred to as "natural emissions", a problematic term since plant volatile emissions from a cropland or urban forest are not "natural". The term "biogenic" VOC is used in this manuscript which excludes natural abiotic emissions of VOC such as geogenic which makes only a small contribution to global total VOC emissions. Describing the impact of BVOC on secondary pollutants is also challenging since the impact is highly dependent on the chemical regime, especially the presence of NOx, SO_x and other pollutants. In a pristine environment, BVOCs produce little secondary pollution but the yields are much higher in a polluted environment. One approach that could be used for secondary organic aerosol (SOA), a major pollution issue, is to consider any carbon in the aerosol coming from BVOC as biogenic SOA. However, Carlton et al. (2008) recognized that labeling biogenic SOA as natural could hinder effective air quality management if it led to considering this portion of atmospheric SOA to be uncontrollable. They introduced the term "controllable" biogenic secondary organic aerosol (SOA) to refer to the fraction of SOA from BVOCs that could be reduced by controlling anthropogenic emissions of NOx, SOx and particles in urban and industrial landscapes. Building on this concept, "controllable BVOC" is used here to refer to BVOC emissions from landscapes where the amount, type and environmental conditions of BVOC emission sources are actively managed, such as in urban and agricultural areas.

This article summarizes the current state of BVOC concentration and flux measurements (section 2) and modeling (section 3) capabilities, describes existing BVOC emission model estimates (section 4), and summarizes regional efforts to study BVOC emissions in section 5. The current understanding of BVOC impacts on air pollution and the potential for controlling BVOC emissions in managed landscapes is given (section 6). Uncertainties, knowledge gaps and existing limitations are assessed in section 7 and future challenges, research priorities and air quality management implications are presented in section 8.



2. BVOC COMPOUNDS

Living organisms produce an extensive variety of over 200,000 different chemical compounds (Christianson 2017). These natural products include essential compounds like peptides, proteins and carbohydrates, that play vital roles in an organism's function, and secondary compounds like alkaloids, flavonoids, benzenoids, and terpenoids, found in some but not all organisms. Some of these compounds are volatile, meaning they readily evaporate into the air, creating the scents of flowers, spices, citrus fruits and other familiar fragrances. The volatility of these compounds varies significantly, with some primarily existing as gases under ambient conditions while others are primarily liquids or solids but still emit a small fraction into the atmosphere.

The terpenoids in vegetation are an especially large and diverse class of natural products, with about 60,000 different chemical species (Köksal et al. 2011). Terpenes serve various functions, including acting as hormones, biotic defense (e.g., toxins, repellants, attract predators), protection from abiotic stress (e.g., antioxidants, membrane stabilizers, stress defense inducers), and attracting mutualistic organisms (e.g., pollinators, seed dispersers). This vast diversity occurs not only between species but also within species (Gershenson and Dudareva 2007). This diversity complicates the task of quantifying and representing BVOC emissions in chemistry and transport models. The need to accurately represent this diversity must be balanced with requirements to minimize computational costs and complexity.

BVOC emission inventories initially included just two compounds, isoprene and apinene, and a third category comprised of all other BVOCs (e.g., Rasmussen 1972, Zimmerman et al. 1979). Later inventories expanded to include total monoterpenes, other reactive VOCs and other VOCs (Winer et al. 1982, Guenther et al. 1995, and Pierce et al. 1998). MEGAN2.1 (Guenther et al. 2012) introduced greater chemical diversity by including ~150 BVOC chemical species. This was accomplished by lumping the 150 BVOC species into just 18 BVOC categories to minimize complexity and computational cost. The scheme for mapping the 18 categories into 150 chemical species provided flexibility for mapping BVOC emissions into the schemes of the various chemical mechanisms used in regional air quality models and global chemistry and transport models. More detailed chemical speciation in BVOC emissions schemes may not significantly improve air quality simulations if the atmospheric chemistry schemes used for air pollution studies do not include detailed speciation. Many of the atmospheric chemistry schemes commonly used for air quality modeling include only isoprene and a single lumped category for all monoterpenes but some comprehensive schemes now include a suite of terpenoid categories similar to those used for MEGAN. However, these schemes typically have different chemistry only for the initial terpenoid surrogate while the first- and second-generation products are shared to reduce computational cost.

The MEGAN2.1 results identified three BVOC with an annual global emission rate exceeding 50 Tg: isoprene, methanol, and a-pinene and another four compounds with rates between 20 and 50 Tg yr⁻¹: acetone, ethanol and acetaldehyde, and ethene (Guenther et al. 2012). Together these 7 compounds contribute about 75% of the total annual flux while the remaining hundreds of BVOC make up the remainder. In addition to a-pinene, there are more than 1000 other monoterpenes that have been observed in plants. They can be grouped into four main categories based on their structure: acyclic trienes (e.g., ocimene and myrcene), monocyclic (e.g. limonene and terpinolene), bicyclic (e.g., b-pinene and carene) and oxygenated or aromatic (e.g., linalool and p-cymene). Another terpenoid group, the



sesquiterpenes, can be grouped into two categories: highly reactive (e.g., bcaryophyllene) and less reactive (e.g., longifolene). The remaining BVOC together comprise only about 5% of the total flux. They include organic acids (e.g., acetic acid) which have been reported as major primary or secondary products (Stavrakou et al. 2012), leaf surface oxidation products (e.g., formaldehyde and oxopentanal) have been described by Jud et al. 2016) and light hydrocarbons (e.g., ethane, ethene, propane, propene, and hexane) described by Rhew et al. (2017). Vegetation stress-induced BVOC compounds can also be considered as a separate category because of their common sensitivity to stress conditions which may not be a large global annual flux but could still be a major source at a specific time and location.

Since total BVOC emission is dominated by less than 20 compounds, most BVOC emission models include fewer compounds than MEGAN. However, some studies suggest that minor compounds are important in some locations under some conditions and there may be compounds that have not yet been identified because they are difficult to measure. One example is diterpenes that may be a significant source of biogenic SOA but have only recently been observed as a canopy scale flux into the atmosphere (Vettikkat et al. 2022). Other examples include the stress induced compounds that can dominate BVOC emissions, especially in urban areas experiencing heat waves and droughts which correspond with periods of high ozone and particle concentrations (Ghirardo et al. 2016).



3. BVOC MEASUREMENTS

3.1. ANALYTICAL DETECTORS

Analytical systems that can identify and quantify BVOC are essential tools for measuring the magnitude and variability of BVOC emission rates, which form the basis for algorithms and parameterizations necessary for numerical simulations of biogenic emissions and their atmospheric impact. These measurements are challenging due to the vast number of BVOC chemical species, some of which require substantially different analytical approaches. While significant advancements have enabled the measurement of both known and unknown compounds (Yang et al. 2016), no single sample collection, preparation and analysis approach can measure all BVOCs. Comprehensive BVOC analysis requires a suite of instruments that often involves different stakeholder collaborations and advanced instrumentation that is expensive and requires considerable expertise.

Otto Wallach (1887) demonstrated that essential oils, which at that time were thought to be distinct chemical substances, are complex mixtures of BVOC and was awarded the 1910 Nobel Prize for Chemistry for this research. Measuring BVOC in ambient air posed a greater challenge due to the much lower concentrations. Rasmussen and Went (1965) reported the first ambient BVOC concentration measurement using gas chromatography with a hydrogen flame ionization detector (GC-FID) with a detection limit of about 0.1 ppb. GC-FID was the primary tool for BVOC measurements prior to the 1990s and had limitations such as potential interferences leading to overestimations of BVOC emissions (Dimitriades, 1981). This early research underscored the need for robust analytical tools for BVOC emission studies.

BVOC measurement advances from 1990 to 2010, reviewed by Kim et al. (2013), include improved sensitivity and specificity from widespread use of mass spectrometry (MS) methods, techniques for measuring oxygenated BVOC including ketones (Konig et al. 1995), methanol (Fall 1996), and organic acids (Kesselmeier et al. 1998). The development of approaches for low-cost, fast response, real-time (no preconcentration) sensors enabled fast surveys to identify high emitters (e.g., Klinger et al. 1998). Fast response BVOC analyzers with higher sensitivity and specificity enabled biochemical and physiological process studies and landscapescale direct eddy flux measurements, first for isoprene using an optical technique with a fast isoprene sensor (FIS) developed by Hills et al. (1992) and then for other BVOC using Chemical Ionization Mass Spectrometers (CIMS) as described by Hansel et al. (1995), Karl et al. (2001), and Graus et al. (2010). Although a range of optical sensors have been used for BVOC research including fourier transform infrared spectroscopy, cavity ring-down laser absorption spectroscopy, tunable diode laser spectroscopy, differential optical absorption spectrometry and laser induced florescence (Kim et al. 2013), there is still significant potential for further advancing these tools as BVOC sensors. The major impact of optical approaches for BVOC measurements has been their use for satellite remote sensing which started with quantifying atmospheric distributions of formaldehyde concentrations and using this to estimate isoprene emissions (Palmer et al. 2003).

Major analytical advances since 2010 include techniques for measuring highly oxygenated VOC species (Tiusanen et al. 2023) and low volatility compounds such as diterpenes (Vettikkat et al. 2023). There have also been significant advances in analytical approaches for detecting total BVOC, including compounds that are not detected by other approaches, which enables the identification and quantification of unknown "missing" compounds. The approaches include measurements of total



OH reactivity (Yang et al. 2016), total ozone reactivity (Helmig et al. 2022) and potential aerosol mass (Zhang et al. 2024) and are especially useful because they specifically target the precursors of ozone and particles. These techniques have extended BVOC emission studies to new compounds and facilitated investigations of BVOC atmospheric oxidation and their role in air pollution (e.g., Breitenlechner et al. 2017).

3.2. SAMPLING PLATFORMS

To effectively study the processes controlling biogenic emissions, a variety of measurement platforms are required to probe the multitude of BVOC emission sources and their variability across the different spatial and temporal scales illustrated in **Figure 1**. The short lifetime of reactive VOC requires sampling spatial heterogeneity in heterogeneous terrestrial landscapes at scales of hundreds of meters to tens of kilometers (Ye et al. 2021).

Above-canopy surface-layer tower platforms equipped with instruments that continuously measure BVOC can provide long-term observations without disturbing an ecosystem but are limited in spatial coverage of ~1 km for fluxes and tens of km for concentrations. Tall towers (> 300 m) have a larger footprint and have been used to study BVOC in remote (e.g., Andrea et al. 2015) and urban (e.g., Park et al. 2010) locations. Tethered balloon platforms have been used for sampling in the mixed layer, which limits the influence of a few dominant sources near the sampling point (e.g., Greenberg et al. 2010), but are now being replaced with unmanned aerial vehicles (UAV) which can be used for both vertical and horizontal sampling gradients (e.g., McKinney et al. 2018).

Mobile platforms, including motor vehicles, river boats, ocean ships and aircraft, are used to characterize spatial heterogeneity and link observations to the scales used by chemistry and transport models (e.g., Ferracci et al. 2024, Zhao et al. 2021, Pfannerstill et al. 2023a, Yu et al. 2023, Wang et al. 2020). Satellite measurement coverage ranges from regional to global including areas where there are no other BVOC measurements. BVOC investigated using satellite data include formaldehyde (Mueller et al. 2024), methanol (Stavrakou et al. 2011), formic acid (Stavrakou et al. 2012), isoprene (Fu et al. 2019), acetone (Franco et al. 2019) and acetic acid (Franco et al. 2020). Satellite data is expected to be even more widely used with future improvements in spatial and temporal resolution, precision and accuracy.





3.3. FLUX MEASUREMENT TECHNIQUES

Investigating all of the processes controlling BVOC fluxes requires techniques capable of spanning a wide range of spatial and temporal scales (**Figure 1**). The approaches shown in **Figure 1** are complementary with each technique providing an important contribution to the overall task of accurately estimating BVOC emissions. Early attempts to measure BVOC emissions began in the 1920s-30s in the former Soviet Union and included estimates based on both enclosures and ambient concentrations (Isidorov 1993). The three main approaches that are used to characterize fluxes are vegetation enclosures (e.g., Niinemets et al. 2012), micrometeorological techniques (e.g., Rinne et al. 2021), and inverse modeling (e.g., Kittitananuvong et al. 2024).

Enclosure measurement techniques use a mass balance approach to calculate emissions based either on the time rate of BVOC change within a static enclosure or the difference in BVOCs transported into and out of the enclosure in a dynamic enclosure. Both approaches need to account for BVOC wall losses and outgassing from enclosure materials using an enclosure calibration system (e.g., Pompe et al. 2000). The dynamic approach is preferred because it minimizes disturbances and provides the ability to control and manipulate environmental conditions, but the static approach can be useful for screening studies with high sensitivity. Enclosure measurement techniques are ideal for investigating species-specific emission factors and emission activity responses. Disadvantages are the physical disturbances that can occur when enclosing a plant and the potential for high temperature and humidity and low CO_2 if the enclosure system does not have environmental control. Niinemets et al. (2011) recommend suitable measurement systems, data processing, quality assurance and data measurement protocols and emphasize the importance of characterizing the quality of measurement data when synthesizing values reported in the literature.

Tower-based micrometeorological flux measurements average over hundreds of meters to kilometers, depending on the height of the tower and environmental conditions, while aircraft eddy flux systems can extend these measurements over



hundreds of kilometers. The most accurate and direct micrometeorological approach is the eddy covariance (EC) technique which is a direct flux measurement based on the high frequency fluctuations of vertical wind velocity and BVOC concentration. The covariance of the deviations (the difference between the instantaneous value and the mean for the time period) of these two variables represents the net vertical flux at a given location. The fast (<0.1 s) sampling frequency required for EC flux measurements can be accomplished for vertical wind speed using commercial sonic anemometers that are available with relatively low cost, power and maintenance requirements. The first BVOC EC flux measurements were made with a chemiluminescence analyzer for isoprene (Guenther and Hills 1998) and with Proton Transfer Reaction with Quadrupole Mass Spectrometer (PTR-QMS) for isoprene, total monoterpenes and several light oxygenated BVOC (Karl et al. 2001). Recent advances such as PTR with Time-Of-Flight Mass Spectrometer (PTR-TOFMS) have enabled systems that quantify the flux of hundreds of BVOC masses (e.g., Park et al. 2013) with recent advances adding fluxes of more compounds such as diterpenes (e.g. Vettikkat et al. 2023).

The disadvantages of the fast-response analytical instruments required for BVOC EC measurements are that they are relatively expensive, have high power requirements and are bulky and difficult to maintain, which limits the sites where they can be deployed, require specialized expertise. Alternative eddy and flux micrometeorological techniques include gradient flux, relaxed eddy accumulation, and disjunct eddy accumulation. These methods have higher uncertainties than the EC technique, particularly when their key assumptions are not met, but their lower cost, power, maintenance and expertise requirements allow them to be more widely applied. The samples can be transported to a laboratory for analysis, instead of being analyzed in the field, which further simplifies their use, but the disadvantage of this offline approach is that those measurements typically result in fewer data and are often operated only for a short period of time. The EC approach is ideal for long-term, continuous BVOC measurements while alternative eddy flux measurements are optimal for low-cost surveys of many different landscapes.

The gradient flux micrometeorological approach was used to measure BVOC fluxes in the 1980s and 1990s Arnts et al. 1982). It requires only concentration measurements at two height and an approach for estimating eddy diffusivity. This approach was widely used in the past but has since been replaced by other techniques, described below, with fewer assumptions and lower uncertainties because they are a more direct measurement (Rinne et al. 2021). For example, the true eddy accumulation technique is based on eddy covariance concept but does not require fast response sensors (Emad, A., and Siebicke, 2023). Instead, air samples are collected into an upward and downward reservoir, at a sampling rate proportional to the vertical wind speed fluctuation, over a sampling period (e.g., 30 minutes). However, sampling proportional to the fast (10 Hz) fluctuations in vertical wind speed is challenging, leading investigators to use disjunct eddy accumulation which does not require continuous sampling (Turnipseed et al. 2009) but have uncertainties that are about a factor of 2 higher than direct eddy covariance (Rinne4 et al. 2021). Another simplification, referred to as relaxed eddy accumulation, involves sampling at a constant flow rate and requires an empirical parameter, beta. This parameter can be derived from measurements of the standard deviation of vertical wind speed and sensible heat flux measured using a sonic anemometer (Sarkar et al. 2020).







Global BVOC flux tower cumulative number of sites (dashed line) and site-years of measurements (solid line) from 1975 to 2020



Figure 3 Global BVOC flux tower sites distribution across six continents for studies conducted from 1975 to 2020

The progressive adoption of new micrometeorological BVOC flux measurement techniques from 1975 to 2020 is illustrated in **Figure 2** alongside the increase in the number of investigated sites globally and the duration of these measurements. Over this 45-year period, measurements were made at about 80 flux tower sites, contributing to a total of about 20 site-years. **Figure 3** shows that ~40% of the measurements were in North America, mostly in the U.S. during 1975 to 2010. The



measurements conducted from 2000 to 2020 have been primarily in Africa, Europe and South America (~12% each each) and Asia (~20%). The BVOC flux measurements at most of these sites were conducted for less than 6 weeks. The longest-term measurements at any BVOC flux sites include five years of summertime isoprene flux measurements at a mixed temperate forest in the University of Michigan Biological Station in the U.S. (Pressley et al. 2006) and four years of methanol flux measurements covering most of each year in a temperate grassland in Austria. A few other sites have measurements for multiple years, but most cover just a portion of the growing season in each year. In contrast, carbon, water and energy (CWE) flux measurements had surpassed 500 sites and accumulated 2000 site-years by 2015 (Pastorello et al. 2020). The extensive CWE flux data have demonstrated that developing and deploying robust, low-cost instruments for long-term landatmosphere flux measurements can lead to significant scientific advancements (Baldocchi et al. 2001, Pastorello et al. 2020). Rinne et al. (2016) advocate for extending these measurements to include long-term BVOC flux measurements at representative sites for all major global ecosystems. However, they note current systems are not optimal. For widespread use, BVOC flux measurement systems need to be lower in cost, power and maintenance requirements. An ideal BVOC flux measurement system would resemble the long-term CWE flux measurement systems that have successfully operated in global networks (Pastorello et al. 2020).

The inverse modeling approach can be applied with a simple mass balance technique that requires only observed ambient BVOC concentrations, estimates of daytime atmospheric mixed layer height and BVOC chemical lifetime. This method can be implemented using aircraft, drones, tethered balloons or tall tower sampling platforms to access the atmospheric mixed layer, which is typically located between about 100 and 1000 meters above ground level (e.g., Greenberg et al. 2014). Vertical gradients of BVOC concentrations within the mixed layer can constrain these estimates and account for entrainment of BVOC from above the mixed layer (Guenther et al. 1996). More accurate estimates can be derived using chemistry and transport models that comprehensively represent all relevant emission, transport and dispersion, and chemical processes. However, significant uncertainties remain in model simulations of these processes, especially in the surface layer where large horizontal and vertical gradients exist (McKinney et al. 2019). These gradients are often not captured by the coarse spatial resolution of most current chemistry and transport models.



4. BVOC EMISSION MODELING

4.1. EMISSION MODEL APPROACHES

Emission models typically have three main components: source distributions, emission capacities, and emission activities. For BVOC emissions, the three components can be represented as:

Emission = $\mathbf{Q} \times \mathbf{\varepsilon} \times \gamma$

where Q is the amount of foliage or fraction of area covered by a vegetation type, ε is the emission capacity at a certain set of conditions, and γ is an emission activity response to driving variables like light and temperature. Vegetation foliage is the dominant BVOC source but there are other sources. The first BVOC models used foliar density (grams of dry weight foliage per m²) because values were available in the literature for representative ecosystems and tree species (e.g., Zimmerman 1979, Winer et al. 1982). Emission capacities were reported with units of BVOC carbon mass per gram dry weight leaf biomass per hour. The mass of carbon was used, rather than mass of compound, because the FID detectors used at that time measured the mass of carbon in a compound. Leaf mass was also convenient to use because it was relatively easy to measure. However, when satellite-based foliage estimates became available, leaf area index (LAI, m²/m²) was used which meant that foliar mass emission rates needed to be converted to area-based emission rates.

The three main approaches for estimating BVOC emissions are illustrated in **Figure 4**. The simplest is the inventory method used in the 1970s and 80s that can be calculated by hand. The availability of computers introduced the capability of offline computer models that integrate high resolution output from weather models with detailed land cover data and complex algorithms to simulate the major processes controlling BVOC emissions. This enabled the generation of gridded, time dependent emission inputs for numerical air quality models. Finally, online models integrate a BVOC emission model into a larger Earth System model framework. This allows for simulations where climate, chemistry, vegetation and BVOC emissions can interact and influence each other. Online BVOC models can be based on an offline model but modified to adapt to the data developed for a specific Earth System model.

A. Emission inventory calculation





C. Coupled Earth System model





Schematic of BVOC emission estimation approaches including a simple emission inventory calculation (e.g., Rasmussen 1972), standalone offline models that generate input for air quality models (e.g., Lamb et al. 1987), and coupled models for online emission estimations and that enable interactions between BVOC emissions and Earth System responses (e.g., Levis et al. 2003)

BVOC emission estimates were initially based on simple emission inventory approaches (Figure 4A). The first applications include Z.I. Briantseva's regional estimates for the former Soviet Union in the 1950s (described by Isidorov, 1993), and Went's (1960) global annual emission estimate. Emission inventories continued to be used in the 1970s and 80s and were successfully used to demonstrate the potential contribution of BVOCs at urban to regional scales (e.g., Zimmerman 1979, Winer et al. 1983).

The Biogenic Emission Inventory System (BEIS) approach replaced inventory calculations in the late 1980s with a computer system designed to compile inputs for regional U.S. air quality models (Figure 4B). The original BEIS was based on BVOC emission data from twelve studies that were extrapolated using a database of U.S. landcover and climate and simple emission algorithms (Lamb et al. 1987, Pierce and Waldruff 1991). Later studies suggested that BEIS isoprene emissions were underestimated, primarily due to sampling from shaded lower branches, and monoterpene emissions were overestimated, due to disturbance (Guenther et al. 1994). The emission factors updated for BEIS2 predicted significantly higher isoprene and lower monoterpene emission estimates (Pierce et al. 1998). The third



generation BEIS3 model was integrated into the US Environmental Protection Agency's (USEPA) SMOKE emissions modeling system (Bash et al. 2016). Regional models developed for Europe (e.g., Luebkert and Schoepp 1989, Simpson et al. 1999, Poupkou et al. 2011, Liora et al. 2015), Asia (e.g., Bai and Duhl 2021), Africa (e.g., Otter et al. 2003), and South America (e.g., Li et al. 2020) used a similar approach with regionally relevant emissions data. Guenther et al. (1995) expanded this regional approach by creating a global model to support the Global Emissions Inventory Activity (GEIA) mission to provide consistent, high-quality emission inventories for global atmospheric chemistry modeling (Graedel et al. 1994). This model was further developed as the Model of Emissions of Gases and Aerosol from Nature (MEGAN) (Guenther et al. 2006, 2012) that synthesized regionally specific data within a global modeling framework.

Levis et al. (2003) integrated the offline Guenther et al. (1995) global BVOC emission model into the global Community Land Model (CLM) of the Community Earth System Model (CESM) to create the first coupled BVOC emission model (**Figure 4C**). This coupled modeling framework provided online weather and landcover inputs to drive BVOC emissions that were then passed to CESM's atmospheric chemistry and transport model component to determine changes in atmospheric constituents that affect air quality and climate. This enabled two-way interactions where the BVOC emissions in the next model time step. Other global models now include coupled BVOC emission models, but other models continue to use static inventories output from offline global models (Turnock et a. 2020).

4.2. EMISSION SOURCES

4.2.1. Source density

BVOC emission models require estimates of the amount and type of each biogenic emission source. Most models consider only plant foliage and use LAI or foliar density to characterize source variations. The three approaches that are typically used to estimate foliage distributions are satellite imagery, dynamic vegetation models, and assigning a constant value based on the vegetation type.

Satellite LAI estimates are derived indirectly, based on measurements of light reflection and models of solar radiation interaction with plant canopies. Challenges with this method include uncertain inversion procedures that are sensitive to a priori assumptions, inclusion of stems and trunks along with foliage, the requirement for specifying leaf orientation and clumping, measurement of effective rather than actual LAI, lack of distinction between overstory and understory canopies, signal saturation in dense canopies, and interference from clouds, ice, snow. Despite these issues, satellite LAI is widely used for BVOC emission modeling due to its ability to provide global data with high spatial (10 m to 1 km) and temporal (2 to 10 days) resolution data.

Dynamic vegetation models estimate LAI using empirical relationships with climate or process-based simulations of physiological processes governing leaf growth and senescence. These models simulate photosynthesis, respiration, carbon allocation, responses to stress and other factors. They can capture complex interactions and responses to changing conditions, such as climate change, but require extensive data on plant physiology, biochemistry, and environmental variables are not well known on regional to global scales, potentially leading to errors due to model complexity and limitations.



The BEIS model assigns representative peak LAI values to different vegetation types and tree species (Geron et al. 1994). For example, LAI was set to 3 for all pine trees, 5 for all deciduous broadleaf trees, and 7 for some conifers (fir, spruce and douglasfir). The decrease in foliage for deciduous plants was simulated by decreasing LAI to 0 outside of the growing season.

4.2.2. Vegetation type

BVOC foliar emission rates of different vegetation types differ both in total emission magnitude and chemical speciation profile (Purser et al. 2020). For example, for the same environmental conditions, BVOC emission rates are less than 30 nmol m 2 s⁻¹ for Lagerstroemia (Crepe myrtle) species and exceed 30000 nmol m⁻² s⁻¹ for some Quercus (oak) species. With nearly 400,000 plant species on Earth, prioritizing sampling of dominant species and categorizing vegetation types is essential. Examples of representations of emission types in the first BVOC emission models include Lamb et al. (1987) with 15 emission types for U.S. regional ecosystems and Guenther et al. (1995) with 57 global emission types. Earth System models have vegetation categories prescribed by their land model component, which are typically limited to around 15 landscape types (e.g., deciduous forest, grassland, barren desert) or plant functional types (e.g., broadleaf tropical trees, cool C3 grass, cropland). BVOC emission models embedded in Earth System models usually adopt the vegetation type scheme used in the land model component of the modeling framework. The limited number of vegetation types in these models is insufficient for accurately characterizing BVOC diversity.

The global MEGAN model (Guenther et al. 2012) uses detailed species information where available (e.g., U.S., Australia, Europe, China, Japan) and general landscape types where detailed inventories are not available. Satellite observations of the major growth forms (tree, shrub, grass, crop) are used to quantify the vegetation source types within a landscape. Luttkus et al. (2022) simulations of air quality in Germany demonstrated that using species specific BVOC emissions, rather than general vegetation types, changed ozone by 2.5% and SOA by 60%.

4.2.3. Plant age

BVOC emissions vary with the age of an individual plant. Street et al. (1997) compared emissions from a young (first-year sapling) and an older (~ 7 years) *Eucalyptus globulus* tree and found that the younger tree emitted isoprene at a rate about 5 times higher than the older tree and monoterpene emissions at about nine times higher than the older tree. This finding was supported by Winters et al. (2009) and He et al. (2000), who reported isoprene emissions about four times lower in mature Eucalyptus species compared to two-year-old trees. However, they also observed that mature trees had monoterpene emissions four times higher, contrasting with Street et al. (1997). The higher monoterpene and lower isoprene emission rates for mature trees aligned better with ambient isoprene and monoterpene concentrations measured at several field sites in Australia (Emmerson et al. 2016).

It should be noted that leaves of young and old trees can differ. For example, the leaves of young Eucalyptus trees tend to have a round shape while leaves of mature trees have the long, hanging leaves typically associated with Eucalyptus. Madronich (2003) found monoterpene emissions to be twice as high and methylbutenol emission 60% higher, in young *Pinus ponderosa* trees compared to mature trees. In contrast, Kim et al. (2005) observed higher BVOC emissions from mature *Cryptomeria japonica* and *Pinus koraiensis* trees than from young ones. Another study found no significant difference in isoprene emission rates of young and mature

individuals (Niinemets et al. 2021). Including plant age in BVOC emission models will require species-specific measurements and distributions of tree age. These data are not available on a global scale and have not yet been included in regional or global models, but could be developed for the dominant vegetation in a specific region.

4.2.4. Non-foliar sources

BVOC models typically consider only emissions from plant foliage. To include other sources, MEGAN2.1 simulated the net (emission and deposition) BVOC flux of the entire terrestrial ecosystem, inherently including all BVOC sources and sinks. When above canopy flux measurements are used to assign the canopy scale emission capacities, this approach accounts for all emissions but there are few reported whole ecosystem BVOC flux measurements, so most emission factors are based on foliage enclosure measurements.

Floral emissions can significantly contribute to agricultural (Arey et al. 1991) and urban (Baghi et al. 2012) BVOC emissions. For example, urban tree floral emissions were estimated to contribute 11% of the total summertime monoterpene emissions in Boulder, Colorado (Baghi et al. 2012). The investigators noted that urban tree flowers make an even greater contribution to some non-terpenoid BVOC such as benzenoid compounds. The study did not consider floral emission from ground cover (flowers and shrubs) which are an additional source of BVOC.

Other non-foliar components that could make a significant contribution to total ecosystem BVOC emissions include tree trunks (Steinbrecher and Ziegler, 1997), plant stems and sap balls (Harley et al. 2014), buds (Macdonald and Fall 1993), soil microbes (Greenberg et al. 2012) and leaf litter (Warneke et al. 1999). Yang et al. (2024) found that leaf litter and roots primarily emit terpene, benzenoid, and alcohol BVOCs, while bare soil and microbial activity are sources of alkane, ester, and alcohol BVOCs. They also noted that soils are crucial sinks for VOCs which can alter the dynamics of the net flux of BVOCs from an ecosystem. An extensive analysis of essential oils showed that while sesquiterpenes are usually lower than monoterpenes in foliage, they are often more abundant than monoterpenes in roots, bark and woody material (Kumari et al. 2014) indicating the need to investigate sesquiterpene emissions from these sources. Additionally, an entire growing season of foliar emissions can be less than the intense burst that occurs during ecosystem management activities not considered in BVOC emission models, including resin tapping (Pio and Valente 1998), thinning (Goldstein et al. 2004), and harvesting (Haapanala et al. 2012).

4.3. EMISSION CAPACITIES

Emission capacities are the BVOC emissions of a vegetation type under standard conditions and are used in both empirical and mechanistic emission models. For example, the Niinemets et al. (1999) process-based isoprene emission model has a parameter, ε , representing the fraction of electrons available for isoprene synthesis. Due to the lack of direct measurements of this parameter, its value in BVOC emission models has been derived from measured emission capacities (e.g., Unger et al. 2013). Ideally, emission measurements should be conducted under standard conditions, which can be done using an enclosure with environmental control. The plant should be allowed to adjust to these conditions before taking measurements. Studies using enclosures without environmental controls typically measure emissions at ambient conditions and then use model algorithms to estimate the corresponding emission capacity. Niinemets et al. (2010) describe detailed



protocols for emission capacity measurement, but most studies do not follow these recommendations.

The two most important factors driving emission variations of most BVOC are light and temperature. A standard leaf temperature condition of 30°C was established by Zimmerman (1979) for studies of temperate vegetation on hot summer days using enclosures without environmental control. While 30°C is a suitable standard for some vegetation, it is not appropriate for cooler climates where leaves never or rarely achieve these temperatures. Instead, the standard condition should be representative of typical midday conditions in the peak growing season. BVOC emissions also vary with the temperature and light of the past several days (Petron et al. 2001), and this information should be reported with any emission capacity measurement, although few studies do this. A standard light condition of a Photosynthetic Photon Flux Density (PPFD) of 1000 pmol m⁻² s⁻¹, about half of full sunlight, was established by Evans et al. (1982). BVOC field measurement emissions data may be biased towards shaded conditions, since lower branches are easier to access, but it is difficult to know for many studies since they do not measure or report the light conditions. This may have led to the low isoprene emissions reported in earlier field studies (Guenther et al. 1994). Emissions are also sensitive to other factors, as described in section 3.4, but these factors are typically not controlled or measured, contributing to the large differences in emission capacities reported for a given plant species by different researchers.

Zimmerman (1979) defined a foliar BVOC emission capacity that was expressed as the mass of carbon emitted per dry leaf mass per hour. Since most BVOC emission models now use foliage area, which can be obtained from satellite observations, the mass-based emission capacities reported in the literature must be converted to area-based emission capacities using an estimate of specific leaf area (SLA), defined as the one-sided projected leaf area per leaf mass. However, this SLA varies widely, from < 40 cm² g⁻¹ for some needleleaf species to >200 cm² g⁻¹ for some broadleaf species. SLA within a single tree can also vary considerably, with sun leaves at the top of a canopy having more than double the SLA of shade leaves in the lower canopy. In addition, the SLA of young saplings in potted plants are 41% to 74% higher than the SLA of mature trees (He et al. 2000; Winer et al. 2009). Uncertainties in SLA are a substantial component of total emission capacity uncertainty for values converted without accurate specific leaf area data.

Some leaves of a given plant species have BVOC emission rates that are an order of magnitude higher than most other leaves of that species, particularly for terpenes and stress compounds, even in the absence of visible stress or obvious differences (e.g., Farmer and Riches 2020, Yu et al. 2024). These outliers could be due to measurement artifacts (e.g., Juuti et al. 1990, Guenther et al. 1994), stress-induced elevated emissions (e.g., Sulaiman et al. 2023) or genetic variability (e.g., Bäck et al. 2012). Some investigators may exclude these super emitters from their reported species-average emission capacities, assuming undetected past stress or unintended disturbance from their enclosure measurement approach. However, excluding these measurements could significantly underestimate the assigned emission capacities if these higher emissions are representative of realistic environmental conditions.

Measuring the emission factors of all plant species may be impractical, especially in regions with high biodiversity. Alternative approaches include landscape-scale measurements, described in **section 2.3**, or relating emission capacities to measurable factors like climate variables. This approach could also improve predictions of future BVOC emission trends. For example, the fraction of isoprene emitters in a landscape might relate to temperature, though it is likely more



complex than a simple correlation with mean annual temperature. Interactions with precipitation are also likely to be important, given the integral role of water availability in determining plant responses to high temperatures (Potosnak et al. 2014). Sharkey and Monson (2017) hypothesized that isoprene may be most useful for surviving extreme heat and drought events that occur infrequently, such as once in several generations, allowing non-emitters to outcompete isoprene emitters in most years but die off under extreme stress. Several studies provide evidence that the fraction of high isoprene emitters in a landscape is related to temperature. Taylor et al. (2018) combined leaf-level isoprene enclosure surveys and plot-scale tree inventories at sites throughout Amazonia to show that the fraction of isoprene emitters in a landscape significantly increased with higher mean annual temperature and following drought. In addition, a long-term warming manipulation study in the Scandinavian Arctic found a similar increase in the fraction of high isoprene emitters for plots exposed to elevated temperatures for more than a decade (Tang et al. 2018).

4.4. EMISSION ACTIVITY

Emission activity algorithms simulate BVOC responses to changing conditions. The time scales associated with the controlling factors include diurnal (up to a day), seasonal (one day to a year), interannual (more than a year), and periodic stress events. These emission responses can vary over orders of magnitude, necessitating accurate representations in models to reliably simulate BVOC emissions.

4.4.1. Diurnal variations

Isoprene emissions increase with increasing light and exponentially with temperature, peaking around 40°C, while a-pinene emission from pine trees increases exponentially with temperature, with no limit, and are insensitive to light (Tingey et al. 1991). These short-term BVOC emission behaviors have been categorized as light-dependent versus light-independent emissions. Guenther et al. (1991, 1993) integrated the light and temperature behaviors into a single algorithm for light-dependent emissions, based on enzyme activity and electron transport behavior. Later studies showed that monoterpene and sesquiterpene emissions from some plant species are also light-dependent (Kesselmeier 1996). These terpene emissions can have both light-dependent and light-independent fractions for a single terpene in an individual plant (Schuh et al. 1997, Ghirardo et al. 2010).

Some models, like BEIS, assume that a specific BVOC is either light-dependent, such as isoprene, or light-independent, such as a-pinene. Other models, like MEGAN, recognize that a given monoterpene or sesquiterpene can be produced by both light-dependent and light-independent pathways, even for a specific plant. Furthermore, the fraction associated with each pathway, referred to as the light dependent fraction (LDF), can vary among plant species and so models should include both emission capacities and LDF for each plant species and compound type. However, most studies do not report LDF fractions, resulting in limited LDF data and high uncertainty in assigning LDF fractions.

While light and temperature are the most important drivers of diurnal behavior, they are not the only ones. Some plants have a 24-hour internal clock, referred to as circadian cycle, which anticipates daily environmental changes and optimizes physiological processes accordingly. Funk et al. (2003) reported that isoprene emission and the isoprene synthase activity that produces it, has a circadian rhythm in some plants. This was shown by exposing plants to a regular light-dark cycle and then shifting to constant light conditions to isolate the effects of the circadian clock from other light-dependent processes. Hewitt et al. (2011) found that the isoprene



circadian effect was large enough to impact the timing of daily ozone concentrations peaks.

Changes in ambient humidity can also influence BVOC emissions by altering stomatal resistance, which affects leaf temperature and controls the emission of some BVOCs, like methanol (Fall and Benson 1996). Croteau (1977) found that monoterpene emissions from mint plants increased with humidity, attributing this to an increased cuticle permeability. Canopy-scale monoterpene emissions from a pine plantation showed increased emissions at high humidity and dramatically decreased emissions at relative humidity below 40% (Schade et al. 1999). Emissions from wet Douglas fir branches were an order of magnitude higher in comparison to dry branches, but changes in ambient humidity had no detectable influence on emissions (Lamb et al. 1985). Janson (1993) observed a large increase in monoterpene emissions with condensation from relative humidity > 90% but otherwise saw no humidity influence. Other studies have observed negligible monoterpene emissions responses to changes in humidity (Guenther et al. 1991, Loreto et al. 1996). Li et al. (2024) found that BVOC concentrations above vegetation under drought conditions decreased with decreasing humidity and that the degree of change was more important than the absolute value.

4.4.2. Seasonal variations

Many terrestrial ecosystems experience seasonal cycles in temperature, sunlight and precipitation leading to phenological variations in plant growth and physiology that influence BVOC emissions including flowering, seed production and changes in foliage age and amounts. In addition, the weather of the past few days can affect the production and storage of BVOC substrates impacting emissions over time scales of days to months.

Isoprene emission can increase by several orders of magnitude within a few weeks of leaf emergence (Kuzma and Fall 1993) with the specific pattern dependent on the temperatures to which young leaves are exposed (Monson et al. 1994). In contrast, methanol emission is much higher for young leaves (Harley et al. 2007), following the expected pattern for methanol production as a byproduct of pectin demethylation during leaf expansion. Monoterpene production and storage tend to decrease as foliage ages, although monoterpene emissions do not necessarily follow the production and storage trends (Vanhatalo et al. 2018). Guenther et al. (2012) synthesized BVOC emission observations for different leaf ages (e.g., new, young, mature, old leaves) to develop an algorithm to predict BVOC emission variations with changes in leaf age for each BVOC chemical species category. The MEGAN model (Guenther et al. 2012) applies a numerical approach to estimate the fraction of new, young, mature and old leaves in a canopy based on the temporal change in LAI derived from global satellite data. For example, a canopy with increasing LAI is assumed to have more young leaves, while decreasing LAI indicates more old leaves and an unchanging LAI indicates that there are mostly mature leaves.

Plants exposed to warmer or sunnier conditions for a few days can acclimate their physiological processes by increasing the availability of the substrates and enzymes required for isoprene and some other BVOC emissions. This acclimation can substantially elevate emissions above what would be expected from the short-term diurnal behavior during a few days of warm, sunny weather (Wang et al. 2024). Conversely, cool or cloudy conditions suppress emissions.

In addition to seasonal variations in canopy foliage, other plant organs, such as flowers, fruits, cones, buds, have distinct seasonal cycles. Some of these organs have strong BVOC emission capacities that could contribute a large fraction of total



emissions in certain seasons. For example, Arey et al. 1991 reported that floral emissions of linalool dominate local BVOC emissions in orange groves during blooming.

4.4.3. Stress events

Plant stress occurs when conditions exceed a plant's optimal range for an extended period, disrupting vital processes like photosynthesis, growth, reproduction, and other functions. This can lead to reduced yield, permanent damage or even death. BVOC emissions are highly sensitive to plant stress, including abiotic (e.g., extreme temperatures, water availabilities, light, air pollution, salinity, and severe storms) and biotic (e.g., herbivores, boring insects, pathogens) stresses that can occur over time scales ranging from minutes to years. Types of stresses and the general behavior of BVOC emission responses are described in detail by Niinemets et al. (2013). Acute stress can elevate the emissions of BVOCs involved in plant defense, while chronic stress reduces photosynthesis, ultimately decreasing BVOC substrate production and emissions. There is tremendous variability in the responses of different BVOCs and plant species, making it difficult to develop robust quantitative algorithms for modeling. Some conditions associated with plant stress, such as droughts and heat waves, are associated with both climate change and air pollution events (DeMetillo et al. 2019). This makes understanding the BVOC responses to these stress conditions essential for predicting impact of BVOC on future air quality.

Insect herbivory can suppress BVOC emissions by reducing the amount of foliage and elevate BVOC emissions by dramatically increasing the emission capacity of the remaining foliage. Faiola and Taipale (2020) synthesized results of studies reporting quantitative measurements from tree BVOC response to insect herbivory. The observations demonstrate that insect pests can change the quantity and composition of BVOC emission depending on the type of insect damage and the tree species under attack. Their synthesis provides insights into how insect herbivory alters BVOC emissions from trees, but additional field observations are needed to develop numerical algorithms for emission models.

Mild drought can increase isoprene emissions through increased leaf temperature, while severe drought will ultimately decrease emissions if photosynthesis shuts down and carbon substrates are no longer available (Figure 5). This has been demonstrated with potted plants under controlled conditions, enabling the development of numerical algorithms (e.g., Tingey et al. 1981, Pegoraro et al. 2004), and later confirmed with whole ecosystem flux measurements (Potosnak et al. 2014, Seco et al. 2015). Remote sensing observations of BVOC oxidation products confirm this general behavior for regional-scale isoprene emissions (e.g., Opacka et al. 2021, Wang et al. 2022). Bonn et al. (2019) reviewed the available literature on BVOC drought response and concluded that monoterpene and sesquiterpene responses to drought are more complex and variable. They found that terpene emissions generally decrease with mild drought and increase with severe drought, in contrast to isoprene emissions. The increase in terpene emissions, especially sesquiterpenes, can be modulated by gene expression (Caser et al. 2019). Additionally, BVOC emissions may respond to drought in some seasons but not others (Saunier et al. 2017). Natural tracer measurements, such as enantiomer monoterpenes, can enable investigators to distinguish between different sources and show the individual responses of different plants (Byron et al. 2022).





Figure 5

Illustration of approaches for representing BVOC stress response in numerical algorithms: drought and CO₂ suppression response (short-dash blue line), induced emission response for ozone, heat, cold and severe storm stress (long-dash green line), and leaf temperature stimulation during drought (solid orange line). Point t1 represents the level where stress response can be detected and t2 represents the maximum response point

BVOC emissions can be stimulated by mechanical wounding, as can be experienced from the burst of odor that occurs when crushing the leaf or stem of a plant with essential oil storage structures. Juuti et al. (1990) found that rough handling during enclosure emission measurements could increase monoterpene emissions by more than a factor of 10 for some species, and Guenther et al. (1994) suggested that mechanical disturbances occurring with some enclosure measurement approaches were responsible for large overestimates in monoterpene emissions reported for some studies. However, elevated BVOC emissions from mechanical wounding do occur naturally (Panthee et al. 2022). Kaser et al. (2013) concluded that these emissions can be significant, as in the case of a severe wind and hailstorm that caused a 40% increase in monthly total monoterpene emissions from a western U.S. pine plantation. This behavior can be included in existing models, using the approach shown in Figure 5, as a function of wind speed or other indicators of a severe storm. In addition to the release of BVOCs associated with damaged terpene storage structures, stress volatiles such as methanol and C5/C6 oxygenated VOCs are released within minutes of leaf wounding (Portillo-Estrada et al. 2021).

Wang et al. (2020) synthesized observations of BVOC emission responses to ozone exposure, conducted between 1990 and 2018, and found that most studies show chronic high ozone influences BVOC emissions by decreasing photosynthesis and inducing defense mechanisms. They developed a response function that simulates a decrease in isoprene emission with increasing chronic ozone. They noted large discrepancies for different plant species and developed an algorithm recommended only for deciduous broadleaf trees. This behavior can be simulated using the simple approach shown in **Figure 5**. Ghirardo et al. (2016) found that several categories of BVOC emissions (benzenoids, sesquiterpenes, green leaf volatiles) increased in



response to ozone stress in laboratory studies and found that trees growing in urban Beijing, exposed to various urban stresses, had higher emissions of these compounds. They estimated that BVOC emissions induced by ozone and other air pollution stresses increased total BVOC emissions in the Beijing region by about 65% (Ghirardo et al. 2016) but more studies are needed to determine if this behavior is typical for urban areas. Hoshika et al. (2020) found that elevated ozone increases isoprene emission in the middle of the growing season but later decreases emissions, suggesting an initial activation of isoprene with O_3 stress followed by a decline due to ozone inhibition of photosynthesis. Other recent studies found no change or just decreased emissions (e.g., Vo and Faiola 2023). An additional source of VOC emissions in response to elevated ozone is reactions with organics on leaf surfaces that release VOCs into the atmosphere (Jud et al. 2016).

Studies with trees and herbaceous plants have demonstrated that isoprene emission rates are positively correlated with nitrogen availability (Harley et al. 1994 and Litvak et al. 1996). Hoshika et al. (2020) found that isoprene emissions are also positively correlated with phosphorus, and Ndah et al. (2022) reported that increased nutrient availability could also increase monoterpene and sesquiterpene emission rates and alter the BVOC emission profiles of plants. These results indicate that plants experiencing stress from a lack of nutrients may have suppressed emissions. Monson et al. (2004) suggest that this relationship also plays a role in seasonal variations, with the late season decline in emission determined by the depletion of leaf nitrogen during senescence.

Both chilling and heat stress can induce BVOC emissions (Ding et al. 2002, Emmerson et al. 2016, Karl et al. 2008). Many plants have a temperature optimum for photosynthesis around 25°C and are not stressed by temperatures within about 5 to 10°C of this optimum. Lower (e.g., <10 °C) or higher (e.g., >40 °C) temperatures may induce stress BVOC emissions, including monoterpenes and methyl salicylate, with responses more related to temperature changes than absolute temperatures (Karl et al. 2008). Warm climate plants tend to be more susceptible to cold temperature stress, while cool climate plants are more susceptible to high temperatures (Kleist et al. 2012). BVOCs like isoprene may improve heat tolerance during short, high-temperature episodes (Sharkey and Monson 2017). Isoprene and other light-dependent emissions typically increase with temperature up to a maximum level, then decline as the enzymes producing the BVOCs begin to denature (Guenther et al. 1993). The increase to the maximum emission is reproducible, but the behavior at higher temperatures is variable and highly time dependent. The temperature of maximum emission is around 42°C for plants that have been exposed to typical temperate weather conditions but is higher (lower) if the plants have recently been exposed to warmer (cooler) temperatures. Emissions of BVOCs from storage structures can continue to increase with temperature until the compounds are depleted.

Guenther et al. (2006) introduced a simple framework to represent BVOC emission activity responses to drought stress. The approach assigns an initial stress threshold value, where stress begins to influence BVOC emission, and a maximum threshold value, where further stress has no additional impact. Soil moisture was used as the drought indicator, with the initial threshold set at a value $0.06 \text{ m}^3/\text{m}^3$ below the wilting point for a given soil type. The maximum threshold was assumed to be equal to the wilting point. Potosnak et al. (2012) noted that mild drought can indirectly stimulate isoprene emissions through higher leaf temperature, which can be simulated using a leaf energy balance model for calculating leaf temperature. The MEGAN stress-induced emission activity framework was extended to assess the potential importance of other stresses. For example, threshold temperatures of 10° C for chilling stress and 40° C for heat stress were set, with increased emission



activity factors implemented for compound categories sensitive to stress, including some monoterpenes (e.g., ocimene), sesquiterpenes (e.g., farnesene, longifolene), and stress compounds (e.g., linalool). Additional research is required to determine if BVOC emission responses to chilling or heating stress can significantly contribute to total BVOC emissions. If so, the emission response algorithms and parameters need further development. Additional stresses included in the MEGAN framework are severe storms (Kaser et al. 2013), mechanical damage, and biotic stress (Ameye et al. 2018).

4.4.4. Interannual variations

The processes controlling diurnal to seasonal variations and stress events combine with additional processes, such as responses to carbon dioxide and vegetation succession, to control long-term interannual BVOC emission trends. Elevated CO₂ enhances photosynthesis, increasing the availability of carbon within a leaf, which can lead to higher LAI and foliar density, thus increasing foliar BVOC emissions. Conversely, elevated CO₂ can also suppress emissions of isoprene and possibly other BVOCs (Sharkey and Loreto, 1999). Estimates of the impact of CO₂ suppression on global isoprene emission range from about 3% per decade (Heald et al. 2009) to 6% per decade (Young et al. 2009) depending on the observations that are used to develop the response curve algorithm. Niinemets et al. (2021) has shown that the CO₂ inhibition of isoprene varies by more than a factor of two among different tree species. Recent studies have also shown that higher temperatures reduce the isoprene inhibition, with a 5°C increase reducing the effect by ~50% (Sahu et al. 2023) which could eliminate all or most of the inhibition. The relative impact of these processes on past and future emission trends is discussed in **section 4.5.2**.

4.5. EMISSION ESTIMATES

4.5.1. Global rates and regional distributions

The first estimates of global annual monoterpene emissions (Went, 1960; Rasmussen and Went, 1965) were about 150 Teragrams (Tg = 10^{12} g), which is remarkably similar to current estimates. As additional BVOC emissions were discovered and added to this total, especially around 500 Tg of isoprene and 100 Tg of methanol (Guenther et al. 1995), the estimated global total BVOC emission increased to ~1000 Tg (Guenther et al. 2012). This corresponds to an annual BVOC emission rate of approximately 10 g m⁻² averaged over all terrestrial surfaces.

Guenther et al. (1995) estimates of annual BVOC emissions for 57 global biomes ranged from less than 1 g m⁻² for sparsely vegetated landscapes to >30 g m⁻² for ecosystems with dense vegetation cover and year-round growing seasons. Cool climate biomes were about a factor of three to four lower than similar ecosystems with warm climates. **Figure 6** shows that the highest annual BVOC emission rates occur with high LAI and emission capacities, ample light and temperature, and long growing seasons. Increasing LAI above 3 or 4 does not substantially increase isoprene and other light-dependent emissions, which are about half of the global total, due to self-shading of leaves in a canopy. Guenther (2002) estimated maximum hourly total BVOC emissions of about 25 mg m⁻² h⁻¹ and maximum annual emissions of around 100 g m⁻² for landscapes where emissions are sustained throughout the year. Regional emission estimates shown in **Table 1** show that about two thirds of global BVOC emissions are from Latin America and Africa, primarily in their large tropical forest regions. Asia, North America and the European Union (EU) contribute about 13%, 3% and 1%, respectively.



Estimates of annual global anthropogenic VOC emissions range from 110 to 163 Tg (Huang et al. 2017, Duan et al. 2023) which indicates that BVOC are more than 85% of the global total. **Table 1** shows that this percentage varies for different regions with BVOC contributing about 45% in China and the EU, around 75% in North America, India and the rest of Asia and about 90% or more in the rest of the world. These differences are primarily driven by fossil fuel combustion but are also influenced by BVOC emission distributions illustrated in **Figure 6**. Regional scale BVOC and AVOC emissions are compared in **Table 1**.

Table 1Annual emissions (Tg) for 2012 from Huang et al. 2017 for AVOC and
Guenther et al 2012 for BVOC. BVOC percentage of total
(BVOC+AVOC) VOC emissions is also shown

Region	BVOC emission	AVOC Emission	BVOC % of TVOC
European Union	8.7	10	46%
North America	33	11	75%
Latin America	388	20	95%
Africa	265	34	89%
Russia	20	9	91 %
China	24	30	44%
India	24	7	78%
Rest of Asia	68	19	78%
Rest of the world	164	12	93%







Global distributions of the main drivers of BVOC spatial distributions: LAI (A: July, B: January), temperature response activity (C: July, D: January) and emission capacity (E: isoprene emission capacity, F: \Box -pinene emission capacity)

4.5.2. Emission trends

Annual global BVOC emission estimates vary in response to global scale changes in land cover and environmental conditions, as shown in **Figure 7**. Land use and land cover changes influence both LAI and vegetation type, which determine the average BVOC emission capacities. Environmental conditions, including temperature and carbon dioxide, determine emission activity levels. Vegetation type changes can result directly from land-use changes and indirectly from CO₂ and climate change. Interannual BVOC emission variations may include large local changes that have little impact on global emissions due to offsetting increases and decreases in different areas. In contrast, global scale phenomena like climate warming and expanding agriculture can result in substantial global emission trends. The current understanding of global BVOC emission trends for the distant past (interglacial), recent past (pre-industrial), present, and future are discussed below.





Past BVOC emission trends have been investigated using climate and dynamic vegetation models over periods of centuries to millennia. Adams et al. (2001) investigated BVOC changes since the last glacial period, approximately 20,000 years ago, and estimated that current BVOC emissions are about 40% higher due to more global forest cover and an additional ~60% increase due to warmer temperatures. Kaplan et al. (2006) also estimated that BVOC emissions doubled from the last



glacial maximum to the current time and suggested that the lower BVOC emissions during the glacial period increased methane lifetime and concentrations, since the hydroxyl radical is a dominant sink for both BVOC and methane, and could have significantly impacted the climate during this period. However, Arneth et al. (2007) concluded that the inhibition of isoprene emission by rising CO₂ concentrations means that isoprene had only a minimal impact on glacial-interglacial methane changes. However, the change in isoprene emission is highly uncertain due to the limited understanding of isoprene suppression and because the global dynamic vegetation models used in these studies are designed to simulate changes in major plant functional types, such as tropical forest changing to grassland, and do not consider specific plant species, which can have very different emission capacities.

Martin and Guenther (1995) coupled a BVOC emission model to a climate model with a gap-phase forest dynamics model that simulated changes in tree species in northcentral U.S. They found that climate-driven changes in tree species composition over a 100-year period could change BVOC emissions by a factor of 2 to 5, depending on the local forest type. One case study simulated a temperate needleleaf evergreen forest dominated by spruce trees transitioning to a temperate broadleaf deciduous forest dominated by maple trees. PFT-based models would estimate a large increase in isoprene emission for this case, since broadleaf trees tend to have higher isoprene emissions than needleleaf trees. However, this is inaccurate since spruce has much higher isoprene emissions than maple. As discussed in section 3.3, if the fraction of isoprene emitters in a landscape increases with higher temperatures, this could lead to an overall increase in isoprene emissions through higher landscape-average emission capacities. Largescale changes in plant species composition in Earth's past could have dramatically increased BVOC emissions if the dominant species were isoprene emitters. For example, during the Eocene epoch approximately 50 million years ago, a massive bloom of Azolla, a water fern, is hypothesized to have occurred in the Arctic Ocean, which might have significantly reduced atmospheric CO₂ and influenced global climate conditions. If those Azolla emitted isoprene, as modern Azolla species do (Silver and Fall 1995), the resulting increase in isoprene emissions could have substantially impacted the atmospheric oxidation capacity and methane lifetime.

Unger (2013) estimated a 16% decrease in isoprene emissions during the past century, from 1880 to 2000. The estimated direct CO_2 inhibition of isoprene was offset by a stimulation of LAI, resulting in an overall increase of 7% due to the emissions of CO_2 . Anthropogenic land cover change was associated with a 22% decrease in isoprene, while climate change increased isoprene emissions by only 3% (Hantson et al. 2017). Much higher changes occur on regional scales. For example, Schaab et al. (2000) estimated that vegetation changes in southern France over 34 years, as farmlands were abandoned and replaced by regrowing forests, led to an isoprene and monoterpene increase of 100% per decade. Additional studies report large impacts from deforestation and afforestation (e.g., Wiedinmyer et al. 2006).

Turner et al. (1991) made the first estimates of how isoprene emissions will change in the future by considering climate change impacts on short-term temperature response, LAI and vegetation type. They concluded that there would be an increase in isoprene emissions due to an expansion of tropical humid forests that they assumed had relatively high isoprene emission. Weaver et al. (2009) summarized future predictions of U.S. BVOC emissions and their impacts on air quality using five different modeling approaches with different assumptions about changes due to long-term temperature acclimation, solar radiation, plant species composition, and CO₂ inhibition of BVOC emission. All the models predicted a large overall increase in BVOC emissions, but the regional estimates differed by a factor of five, and in some cases did not even agree on the sign of the change. In contrast to these



studies, Hantson et al. (2017) concluded that a future global increase in BVOC emissions is improbable.

The main global drivers of BVOC emission change, illustrated in **Figure 7**, are increasing greenhouse gases and land use/land cover change. BVOC emission trends are primarily driven by changes in CO₂, climate, LAI and vegetation type. Additional impacts include changes in light and water availability and air pollution, but their estimates are highly uncertain. The range of future emission changes estimated for individual processes and the combined total are illustrated in **Figure 8**. One of the processes, the suppression of isoprene emission in response to increasing CO₂, is expected to decrease future BVOC emissions (Arneth et al. 2007, Heald et al. 2009). In contrast, two other processes, CO₂ stimulation of LAI (Heald et al. 2009) and temperature increases (Guenther et al. 2012), are expected to increase future BVOC emissions per decade. Land cover change could either increase or decrease emissions, depending on future trends of afforestation and deforestation. Combining the estimates for these four processes suggests future changes in annual isoprene emissions of about 5% per decade with a range of a decrease of a few percent per decade to an increase of about 14% per decade.





The accurate prediction of future emissions, which are needed to develop regulatory control strategies that will be effective in reducing pollution and maintaining clean air in the future, are one of the greatest challenges for BVOC emission modeling. This will require representative estimates of future land cover and climate conditions including the frequency of extreme events, like heat waves and droughts, and the plant species composition of future urban forests and agricultural lands. The expected increasing frequency of extreme weather events (IPCC 2022) elevates the need for accurately simulating BVOC emission responses to drought, flooding, severe storms, heat waves, and other events. These efforts require collaboration with the scientific community focused on simulating agriculture and urban vegetation responses to future climate, land use and



management. This includes studies characterizing urban heat islands and carbon sequestration. The need for predicting BVOC emission response to future extreme events is also an opportunity for atmospheric scientists to work more closely with plant physiologists and ecologists to quantitatively understand the mechanisms driving BVOC emission responses to stress and develop algorithms with measurable parameters that can be integrated into BVOC emission models.

4.6. BIOGENIC CONTRIBUTION TO URBAN EMISSIONS

Chameides et al. (1988) presented a case study for Atlanta, GA, USA, demonstrating the significant role of BVOCs in ozone production near this urban area. They showed that the estimated BVOC emissions in the forests surrounding Atlanta were about twice as high as the anthropogenic emissions in the 11-county ozone non-attainment region (~9000 km²). BVOCs, interacting with anthropogenic NOx, were responsible for ozone production in the region. However, since AVOC emissions were about 20 times higher in the Atlanta urban core area (~100 km²), BVOCs made only a small contribution to urban total VOC emissions and due to the complexity of estimating BVOC emissions in urban areas, regional to global BVOC emissions models may neglect to assign BVOC emissions in urban areas or simply assign a constant low value to all urban areas.

The steady decrease of anthropogenic VOC emissions, accomplished through emissions controls, along with an increase in biogenic VOC emissions from tree planting efforts and a warming environment, is leading to the dominance of BVOC emissions in some urban areas. Ren et al. (2017) estimated annual BVOC emissions ranging from 6.7 to 11.6 g C m⁻² for Beijing urban green spaces. In comparison, the estimated emission rate for the natural forests surrounding Beijing was 6.5 g C m⁻². They suggested that actual emissions from the urban green spaces were even higher due to the urban heat island effect, increased light availability from a more open canopy, and a greater fraction of high BVOC-emitting trees. Ren et al. also estimated that although urban BVOCs were only 15% of the total BVOCs in the Beijing administrative district, they were responsible for 62% of the total human health impacts due to the higher population density and the higher ozone production in the urban area. They predicted that by 2050, this would increase to 23% of the total BVOC emissions and 74% of the total health impacts due to increasing urbanization and urban greening.

Studies in other cities have shown that BVOC emissions can comprise an even larger fraction of total VOCs. Gu et al. (2021) estimated a BVOC emission rate of ~7 g m⁻² for Los Angeles County, including both urban and surrounding areas, which is higher than the US average emission rate. This is partly due to the warm climate and higher than average BVOC emission capacities. BVOCs accounted for about 41% of the total VOC emissions and were responsible for 63% of the total ozone formation potential (OFP), primarily due to the relatively high OFP of isoprene, which is the dominant BVOC. A recent aircraft flux measurement study confirmed that BVOC emissions are important contributors to total VOC mass, and they dominate the total OH reactivity flux, indicating a strong influence on ozone production. The aircraft flux measurements also indicated that BVOCs, especially monoterpenes and sesquiterpenes, dominate total SOA formation potential.

PTRMS eddy flux measurements of VOCs in the city center of Helsinki, Finland in 2013 and 2014 by Rantala et al. (2016) indicate that the wintertime VOC fluxes are primarily methanol, ethanol, acetone, benzene, toluene and monoterpenes, all of which have both biogenic and anthropogenic sources but presumably are dominated by anthropogenic sources in winter. Summertime fluxes of isoprene, monoterpenes,



methanol, acetone and acetaldehyde were higher than the wintertime values. If this increase is assumed to be biogenic then the summertime BVOC flux is about 25% of the total VOC by mass and is more than a third if weighted by OH reactivity. Peron et al. (2024) report direct VOC flux measurements from an urban (Innsbruck, Austria) location demonstrate that isoprene, methanol and monoterpenes have both biogenic and anthropogenic sources with the biogenic sources dominating in summer and the anthropogenic sources dominating in winter. The total midday summer terpenoid fluxes were ~ 300 mg m⁻² h⁻¹ which is about a factor of four higher than the measured sum of benzene plus toluene fluxes, which are primarily from anthropogenic sources. Since the terpenoid compounds are more reactive, they have an even greater contribution to total reactivity and ozone formation potential.

While BVOC contributions to total urban VOC are becoming dominant in at least some U.S. and European cities, urban areas in developing countries continue to have much smaller BVOC contributions. For example, Cui et al. (2023) estimated annual BVOC emission rates of ~2 g m-2 for the Shenzhen urban area and reported that this was 5.2% of the total VOC emissions in Shenzhen in 2019. This is likely to change in urban areas with active tree planting programs and efforts to reduce anthropogenic VOC emissions.



5. BVOC AND AIR POLLUTION

5.1. AIR QUALITY MODELING

Numerical air quality models simulate atmospheric distributions of pollutants and other constituents by representing the processes that control emission, deposition, chemical production and loss, and transport and dispersion. They are essential tools for investigating the processes that control atmospheric composition and finding effective management strategies for improving air quality. Recent improvements in modeling approaches have been driven by advances such as multi-scale, onlinecoupling frameworks, machine learning methods, and multi-platform data assimilation and bias correction techniques. Innovative machine learning technologies, including deep neural networks for air quality index forecasting (e.g., Le et al. 2022), machine learning methods to downscale and enhance air quality model predictions (e.g., Dinkelacker et al. 2023, 2024) and group-aware graph neural networks, are being utilized to improve air quality predictions. Enhanced data assimilation capabilities, further improved by higher spatial and temporal resolution of geostationary satellites, provide more accurate and comprehensive coverage of relevant measurement wavelengths (Kim et al. 2020). Dense networks of low-cost VOC sensors also offer significant potential data sources (e.g., Kolarik et al. 2023).

Air quality modeling tools include zero-dimensional "box" chemistry models, onedimensional (1D) chemistry and vertical transport models, and three-dimensional (3D) chemistry and transport models. These models include the emission and deposition fluxes of VOCs and other compounds that drive atmospheric composition. Box models, used with complex chemical schemes, can assess the simpler schemes used in 3D models. Similarly, 1D models with complex chemistry and vertical transport schemes can investigate chemistry-transport interactions and the performance of simpler schemes. 3D chemistry and transport models (CTMs) are the primary tool for regulatory air quality predictions of regional ozone and fine particles. Examples include the CMAQ, WRF-Chem, CAMx, and NAQPMS regional air quality models, described and compared by Gao and Zhou (2024), and global models described and compared by Arneth et al. (2011). Some models use online coupling of chemical and meteorological components, allowing calculated chemical composition to impact atmospheric dynamics, which can then modify BVOC and other emissions, simulating interactions including feedbacks. Other models are offline, running weather models, BVOC emission models, and atmospheric chemistry models sequentially, using the outputs of one as inputs to the other. Grid resolution is another consideration, with resolutions ranging from fine grids of a kilometer or less to coarse grids of several hundred kilometers or more. Modeling across scales allows global-scale models like MUSICA (Tang et al. 2023) to achieve spatial resolutions of a few kilometers within portions of their domain, suitable for investigating local to global air pollution issues.

Chemical mechanism schemes are a fundamental component of a CTM. Some air quality modeling frameworks offer multiple choices, depending on the simulation objectives. The number of chemical species and reactions varies considerably depending on the scheme, but most regional air quality simulations use schemes with tens (e.g., CB4 with 33 species and 81 reactions) to hundreds (e.g., SAPRC11 with 174 chemical species and 478 chemical reactions) species. Box models can use more explicit schemes (e.g., GECKO-A, MCM) with millions of chemical species and reactions. For example, Camille Mouchel-Vallon et al. (2020) investigated oxidant and SOA formation downwind of the Manaus urban area in the Amazon by simulating the oxidation of 12 biogenic and 53 anthropogenic VOCs present in the atmosphere.


They reduced the number of chemical species represented in their explicit scheme by assuming low vapor pressure compounds immediately partition into the aerosol phase and by lumping lower-yield, long-chain species with chemically similar compounds based on molecular structure. The resulting scheme contained 23 million chemical reactions involving 4.4 million chemical species. Most chemical schemes include isoprene as a specific species and may include one or a few monoterpenes and sesquiterpenes. Sesquiterpenes are often much more reactive than monoterpenes, e.g., the common sesquiterpene, β -caryophyllene, is much more reactive than the common monoterpene, β -pinene, but there is a wide range of reactivity within both groups, with some sesquiterpenes being less reactive than some monoterpenes. Monoterpenes with similar structures can have ozone formation potentials that differ by a factor of 2 or more (e.g., Gu et al. 2021, Thomsen et al. 2021).

Model approaches for estimating SOA formation from BVOCs range from simply assigning empirical SOA yields to applying mechanistic models with detailed reactions (Mouchel-Vallon et al. 2020). An example of an approach that balances complexity and computational feasibility is the 2-D Volatility Basis Set approach (Donahue et al. 2011) that determines the SOA formation of organic compounds based on their volatility and other chemical properties.

A robust atmospheric dynamics model is also an essential component of a regional air quality model, and needs to accurately predict the dispersion, and transport of pollutants within the atmosphere by simulating the physical processes describing atmospheric motion, including wind patterns, temperature variations, pressure changes, and other meteorological factors. These processes are crucial for controlling BVOC emissions and the deposition processes responsible for removing BVOC and their products from the atmosphere. A key aspect of this is a solar radiation transfer model that simulates solar radiation penetration down to the earth's surface, driving atmospheric dynamics, photochemistry, and the biological production of BVOCs.

5.2. OZONE AND PARTICLES

Photochemical smog is a persistent regional air pollution problem that poses significant human health risks, morbidity and mortality especially in many urban areas and causes negative impacts on the surrounding agricultural and natural ecosystems. Surface-level ozone and fine particles, along with other air pollutants, are a contributing cause of over 6 million deaths annually and exposure to air pollution is considered the third highest risk factor, after high blood pressure and smoking (Azimi and Rahman 2024). Controlling these secondary pollutants is challenging because they are not directly emitted but produced in the atmosphere through precursor emissions and photochemical reactions. Both biogenic and anthropogenic VOCs feed the photochemical formation of ozone and secondary organic aerosol in the presence of nitrogen oxides, sulfur dioxide, and other air pollutants. Reducing photochemically induced secondary pollution is further complicated by the non-linearity of the controlling processes, which can result in regulatory actions that reduce precursor emissions (like AVOC) in one region but have little effect or even cause increases in others, e.g., ozone formation. Net ozone production is highly sensitive to the VOC:NOx ratio. NOx reductions can reduce ozone in regions with a high VOC:NOx ratio (NOx-limited) but increase ozone in regions, such as urban environments, with a low VOC:NOx ratio (VOC-limited). The reduction of anthropogenic NOx emissions in many U.S. cities has decreased ozone sensitivity to VOCs and increased sensitivity to NOx i.e., being NOx-limited (Geddes et al. 2022). Another complication is that since ozone production is dependent on solar radiation, with little ozone produced in the absence of strong



sunlight, the scattering and absorbing of incoming sunlight by high levels of particles can suppress ozone levels.

The scientific community's understanding of the importance of BVOCs for ozone and secondary particle pollution has evolved over decades. Speculation in the 1960s and 1970s (Went 1960, Rasmussen 1972) led to controversy in the 1980s (Altshuller 1983), and eventually to acknowledgement and acceptance in the 1990s (NRC 1991). Including BVOC emissions in regional photochemical model simulations significantly changed ozone pollution management strategies, emphasizing the effectiveness of NOx control (e.g., Russell and Dennis 2000). Integrated regional aircraft, ground observations, and modeling studies, such as the Southeastern Atmospheric Study in 2013 (Carlton et al. 2018) and GOAMAZON from 2014 to 2015 (Martin et al. 2015), confirmed the role of BVOCs in regional ozone and secondary fine particle production and their impacts on air pollution and climate. Cao et al. (2022) conducted long-term simulations from 1981-2018 and found that BVOC emission increase over this period, primarily due to increased leaf biomass, resulted in a 7.4% in ozone and a 39% increase in SOA. Reductions in anthropogenic air pollutants from 1990 to 2010 were estimated to decrease SOA from on-road transport sources by more than a factor of three while SOA from biogenic sources was estimated to increase by 23% due to the combination of increased BVOC emissions and higher SOA formation yields due to lower NOx levels (Skyllakou et al. 2021, Dinkelacker et al. 2023).

Integrated observational and modeling studies of BVOC and air pollution impacts have primarily focused on regional scales, with relatively few efforts investigating urban-scale interactions. The importance of urban tree BVOCs has been recognized for nearly three decades, including the possibility that large-scale urban tree planting could either improve or degrade air quality depending on the BVOC emission capacities of the tree species planted (Benjamin et al. 1996) but at that time BVOC were considered a small contributor to urban scale VOC even though they were significant contributors to regional scale VOC (Chameides et al. 1988). Calfapietra et al. (2013) reviewed 33 studies of urban BVOC impacts on air quality that were primarily located in Europe, U.S. and Asia, and concluded that there were substantial uncertainties regarding both the impact of BVOC emissions on ozone and the effects of ozone on BVOC emissions. They did not find any clear differences associated with the results from the different regions. The importance of urban BVOC for ozone pollution was clarified by the work of Ren et al. (2017) that showed that the urban core of Beijing can be a hotspot of BVOC emissions and that urban BVOCs could be more important than rural BVOCs for overall health impacts since the ozone is formed in densely populated areas. Fitzky et al. (2019) continued this reevaluation of the importance of urban BVOC with a review of interactions between ozone and urban vegetation in Europe and other regions that emphasized the need to develop ozone pollution control strategies that consider the physiological status of trees, including stress and species composition, to determine BVOC emissions and ozone deposition. The steady decrease of anthropogenic VOCs and the increase of urban forests has resulted in some cities having more biogenic VOC than anthropogenic VOC, especially when weighted by reactivity or ozone formation potential (e.g., Gu et al. 2021, Pfannerstill et al. 2024).

Jiang et al. 2019 investigated the effects of two different biogenic emission models, with BVOC emissions that differed by about a factor of three, on modelled summertime ozone and aerosol concentrations in Europe. They found that simulated ozone differed by <10% (about 7 ppb) while the estimated SOA changed by 110%. A study focused on BVOC emissions in Paris found that urban trees typically resulted in a 1% increase in ozone and 5% increase in particle organic matter but during heatwaves there was a 2.4% increase in ozone and a 14% increase in organic matter



(Maison et al. 2024). They note that the organic matter was especially sensitive to monoterpene emissions. Air quality model simulations have also shown that a reduction in isoprene emissions could increase SOA more in Northern Europe, compared to southern Europe, and suggested this could be due to the impact of isoprene on the availability of radicals for monoterpene oxidation (Ciarelli et al. 2024). Liora et al. (2016) investigated European air quality using model simulations and found that removing summertime biogenic emissions from their model decreased SOA by more than 90% while at the same time increasing PM2.5 in central Europe and Eastern Mediterranean due to the BVOC interaction with anthropogenic pollution. Biogenic emissions decrease PM2.5 in central Europe, and other areas with a low contribution of BVOC to total VOC, due to the corresponding decrease in nitrates when biogenic emissions are included. Aksoyoglu et al. (2017) found that a doubling of BVOC in Europe resulted in a doubling of SOA along with a 35% decrease in particulate inorganic nitrate and a smaller decrease in sulfate concentrations. The overall impact will depend on the relative contribution of organics and inorganics to total secondary aerosol. Bartik et al. (2024) used a particle source apportionment approach to show that stationary combustion was the main wintertime PM_{2.5} source in Central Europe while biogenic VOC emissions contributed the most to summertime $PM_{2.5}$.

5.3. OTHER AIR POLLUTION ISSUES

In addition to their impact on urban and regional ozone and fine particle pollution, BVOC have been of interest for other air pollution issues. Some early efforts to develop BVOC emission inventories for regional modeling (e.g., Lamb et al. 1987) were supported by U.S. National Acid Precipitation Assessment Program (NAPAP) efforts to investigate the sources of acid rain. This includes the direct emission of organic acids (acetic acid, formic acid, etc.) and their atmospheric production from oxidation of other VOC.

Unger (2014) summarized the climate impacts of the reduction in BVOC emissions associated with the conversion of forests to cropland from 1850 to 2000. This conversion led to cooling from a reduction in two greenhouse gases, ozone and methane, and warming from a reduction in biogenic SOA. The net impact was a radiative forcing (cooling) of about -0.1 W m⁻², which is of the same order as the estimated radiative forcing from changes in albedo and CO₂ concentration due to agricultural expansion (Unger 2014). This implies that future increases in BVOC emissions due to reforestation could result in warming that might offset the cooling from CO₂ uptake. Predicting the magnitude and even the sign of the net radiative forcing is challenging due to the complex interactions between reforestation, atmospheric chemistry, and climate feedback mechanisms. However, it could result in cooling if the radiative forcing from biogenic SOA cooling outweighs the warming from methane and ozone (Weber et al. 2024).



6. CONTROLLABLE BVOC EMISSIONS

Recognition that BVOCs can interact with anthropogenic pollutants, especially nitrogen oxides, to enhance ozone and SOA formation has driven interest in the impact of BVOCs on air pollution. BVOC influenced ozone and SOA are referred to here as biogenic ozone and biogenic SOA (BSOA). BSOA can be directly associated with BVOCs since the carbon in BSOA can be directly traced to the carbon in BVOC. BVOCs do not directly produce ozone but by impacting ozone sinks they can change ambient ozone concentrations. However, BVOC influence on ozone is complex since they can both increase ozone loss, by reacting with ozone, and decrease ozone loss, by removing ozone sinks, depending on the level of NOx and VOC in the atmosphere.

BVOC impacts on air pollution can be directly and indirectly controlled. Since biogenic ozone and BSOA production are higher in polluted environments compared to pristine conditions, reducing anthropogenic pollution can serve as an indirect control of biogenic ozone and BSOA. The direct control approach involves reducing BVOC emissions into the atmosphere. These approaches are discussed below along with potential strategies for managing BVOC impacts on air pollution.

6.1. INDIRECT CONTROL

Radiocarbon C14 measurements (Lewis et al. 2004) and molecular tracers of BVOC oxidation products (e.g., Kleindienst et al. 2007) in aerosols have shown that the BSOA contribution to total SOA can exceed 50%, especially in summertime, even in urban areas. If all biogenic SOA and ozone are considered natural constituents of the atmosphere, they might be viewed as background components that cannot be regulated. However, Carlton et al. (2010) argue that this assumption can hinder effective air quality management since BVOCs do not increase ozone and SOA production to the same degree in a clean environment. While a fraction can be considered a natural background level, the remainder can be mitigated by controlling anthropogenic emissions.

Although the controllable fraction of biogenic ozone and SOA cannot be directly measured, regional air quality model simulations can estimate this quantity. Carlton et al. (2010) showed this with a series of model simulations in the eastern U.S. and found that more than half of the BSOA can be removed when controllable anthropogenic emissions are eliminated. They reported that this indirectly controllable BSOA was most sensitive to reductions in primary carbonaceous particulates and oxides of nitrogen. Primary particulate matter provides organic material for condensable semi-volatile species, while oxides of nitrogen increase oxidant levels.

While the indirect control of biogenic ozone and BSOA may not be explicitly implemented into regulatory frameworks, it is inherently considered by air quality management efforts that use 3D numerical air quality models, which include accurate estimates of biogenic VOC emissions. This approach involves developing effective air pollution mitigation strategies to meet required ozone and SOA target levels by reducing anthropogenic emissions while accounting for the representative ambient level of BVOCs.

6.2. DIRECT CONTROL

While indirect control of BVOC emissions occurs through air quality management strategies based on the results of numerical models that include BVOC emissions, direct control is not considered as a regulatory strategy. Direct control would be



the active reduction of total BVOC emissions in a region by either reducing the amount of vegetation, replacing high-emitting species with low-emitting ones, or decreasing the emission activity of existing vegetation. Reducing the amount of vegetation is unnecessary and could be counterproductive since vegetation uptake of air pollutants reduces pollution. However, replacing vegetation or modifying emission activity could be considered in managed landscapes, although this approach may be controversial due to the perception that BVOC emissions are natural components of the Earth System and should not be controlled. While this is a valid argument for natural ecosystems, BVOC emissions are already being managed in landscapes in urban and agricultural areas, though not specifically for air quality.

Mature cannabis plants have high BVOC emissions, especially terpenes, and their cultivation has been rapidly expanding, including in some areas that exceed allowable limits of ambient ozone or SOA (Wang et al. 2019, Samburova et al. 2019, MetroVancouver 2023). For example, Wang et al. (2019) showed that the expansion of cannabis cultivation around Denver, Colorado, could increase daytime ozone pollution. These results led air quality agencies to consider the possibility of directly controlling BVOC emissions for air quality purposes (e.g., Public Health Ontario, 2018; Denver Public Health and Environment, 2018; MetroVancouver 2023) and fund studies to quantify cannabis emissions (e.g., Urso et al. 2023). de Ferreyro Monticelli et al. (2022) describe the best available technology, such as carbon scrubbers, that can be used to effectively remove BVOCs from the air within indoor greenhouse cannabis production facilities, but this would not be a solution for outdoor cultivation. An example of efforts to directly control BVOC emissions is the incorporation of BVOC emission characteristics into tree selection guides that describe the benefits and disadvantages of various tree traits (e.g., https://selectree.calpoly.edu/). These traits include pollen allergens, which have been the focus of longstanding efforts to control air quality by managing tree characteristics. Other tree selection considerations include other health concerns, such as falling branches and toxic compounds, as well as infrastructure impacts such as power and water lines and sidewalks. In addition to these considerations of BVOC regulation in North America, there is also a growing interest in BVOC emission regulation by the scientific community in Europe (e.g., Rosenkratz et al. 2015) and Asia (e.g., Zhang et al. 2024a).

Sawers (2019) indicates that increasing awareness has had little impact on pollen emissions, and it is unlikely that merely providing information will significantly reduce urban BVOC emissions. Increasing prices through taxes, fees, or cap-andtrade systems is an approach used to regulate CO_2 emissions (e.g., Rickels et al. 2021). However, Sawers (2019) argues that this would not be the best approach for managing BVOC emissions since tree selection is unlikely to be very price sensitive. Instead, Sawers (2019) concludes that a mandate banning high BVOC-emitting trees is the most appropriate approach. Since governments already restrict the planting of certain tree species based on other undesirable traits, restricting high-emitting trees would be an extension of this practice.

Opportunities for direct control of BVOC emissions also exist in managed landscapes outside of urban areas (e.g., Trail et al. 2015). Liu et al. 2024 demonstrate that, in addition to selecting plant species, management practices can modify BVOC emissions from agricultural landscapes. Since ozone management is complex, with BVOCs potentially increasing ozone in NOx-saturated regions but decreasing ozone in NOx-limited regions, any direct control of BVOC emissions would need to consider the environment where the BVOCs are emitted. Any efforts to control BVOC emissions should also consider the differing abilities of plants to take up pollutants and so reduce air pollution. While BVOC impacts on biogenic SOA are more



straightforward, they are still dependent on characterizing and understanding the current atmospheric composition.

Any efforts to directly control BVOC emissions should based on systematic, highquality measurements of BVOC emission capacities and needs to consider both emissions at standard conditions and under stress. These measurements should be guided by standard operating protocols and quality control and assurance analogous to procedures used for anthropogenic VOC measurements (Simon et al. 2010).



7. UNCERTAINTIES

A quantitative understanding of the uncertainties associated with BVOC emission estimates and their impacts on air quality is necessary for developing optimal air pollution control strategies. This section assesses the uncertainties associated with existing emission model components and discusses efforts to investigate these uncertainties through model intercomparisons. Insights into overall model performance evaluations are provided through comparisons with direct flux measurements and indirect methods using ambient concentrations and inverse models. The impact of these uncertainties on air pollutants are considered through model sensitivity studies. While the focus of this section is on BVOC emission uncertainties, it should be recognized that uncertainties in modeling atmospheric dynamics and chemistry also contribute significantly to overall uncertainties of the impact of BVOCs on air pollution.

7.1. MODEL INTERCOMPARISONS

The differences in BVOC emission model parameters, algorithms, and inputs can provide valuable insights when examining their variations and the resulting impact on emission estimates. For instance, there is nearly a twofold difference between BEIS3.61 and MEGAN2.1 predictions of isoprene emission rates, even though their isoprene emission capacities are based on nearly the same data, and their canopy environment models, and emission activity algorithms are similar. An inspection of each model component showed that the major difference lies in the specific leaf area (SLA) used to convert reported leaf mass emission capacity factors to leaf area emission capacities. MEGAN2.1 used a broadleaf tree SLA of 80 cm^2/g compared to the BEIS3 broadleaf tree SLA of 133 cm²/g. After accounting for this 66% difference in SLA, the MEGAN2.1 and BEIS3 isoprene emission factors agree within 13%. SLA varies by more than 60% for different North American broadleaf isoprene-emitting genera (Berner and Law, 2016; Geron et al., 2001; He et al., 2000; Winters et al., 2009; Harley et al., 1996, 1997; Eller et al., 2012; Ortega et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2024). These studies indicate that Quercus, Eucalyptus, and Salix tend to have lower SLA, similar to the MEGAN2.1 value, while other isoprene-emitting genera tend to have higher SLA values, similar to the BEIS3 values. Also, the MEGAN2.1 SLA are more representative of the sun leaf values at the top of the canopy while the BEIS3 values are more representative of shade leaf values in the lower canopy (Harley et al., 1996, 1997). By reconciling area-based and mass-based emissions data MEGAN and BEIS isoprene emission estimates tend to be within about 20%.

Arneth et al. (2011) designed a study to investigate the variation within and between isoprene emission models by comparing results from three different global BVOC emission models (LPJ, MEGAN, and BVOCEM), using three different climate data sets (CRU for LPJ, NCEP for MEGAN, UM for BVOCEM) and three different vegetation cover data sets (LPJV for LPJ, MEGANV for MEGAN, and SDGVM for BVOCEM). The annual global isoprene emissions estimated by the three models, when each used their own set of climate and vegetation variables, was 446 Tg with a standard deviation of 61 Tg (13%). The impact of swapping climate and vegetation data varied for the different models and was sensitive to the combination of climate and land cover. For example, replacing CRU with NCEP climate in LPJ increased emissions by 28% when vegetation was fixed but only by 3% when using LPJ dynamic vegetation. In contrast, replacing CRU with NCEP decreased MEGAN isoprene emissions by 11% when used with MEGAN vegetation but increased isoprene emissions by 8% when used with LPJ vegetation. Swapping LPJ fixed vegetation for MEGAN vegetation increased isoprene emissions by 67% for LPJ with NCEP climate and 26% for MEGAN with NCEP climate. The change resulting from switching from



NCEP to CRU climate ranged from a 30% increase to a 10% decrease, depending on the model and land cover data used. The different responses to changing climate and vegetation data appear to be due to interactions between emission capacity distributions and the regional patterns of vegetation and climate. Arneth et al. (2011) also found that changes in climate and land cover inputs modified seasonal latitudinal patterns in unexpected ways and concluded that incorporating isoprene emission modules into coupled chemistry-climate models requires careful checking of annual totals, spatial patterns, and seasonal emission patterns. **Figure 9** shows that the Arneth et al. (2011) key finding, that the emission estimate differences associated with input datasets are similar or greater than the differences from the model used, can be extended to other global models and to other compounds including total monoterpenes, acetone, methanol. This means that it is necessary to indicate not only what model was used to estimate BVOC emissions but also what input datasets were used.



Figure 9

Annual global emissions of isoprene, total monoterpenes, acetone and methanol estimated by various global models and input variables. The different colored bars illustrate results reported by different investigators using the same model but different input data

Most BVOC emission models have a time step of around an hour, but some have much longer ones. Ashworth et al. (2010) demonstrated the need to use hourly time resolution due to the non-linearity of BVOC temperature and light response. Their estimated total global annual emission of isoprene was increased to 766 Tg y⁻¹ when using hourly input data compared to 746 Tg y⁻¹ for daily average input data and 711 Tg y⁻¹ for monthly average input data. They also showed that the impact on a local scale can be more significant, with increases of up to 55% at some locations when using hourly average data compared with monthly data. In comparison to daily and monthly average temperature data used without the imposition of a diurnal cycle, global emission estimates based on hourly data are 43% higher and local annual emissions by up to 56%. These results demonstrate that BVOC emission models should be driven by temperature and solar radiation data resolved to one hour or less.



The choice of canopy environment model can significantly impact estimated BVOC emissions due to BVOC emission responses to light and temperature, which can deviate from ambient values. Guenther et al. (1994) compared leaf-level and branch-level isoprene emissions for the same environmental conditions and found branch-level emissions were 43% lower due to self-shading, which results in lower light and temperature on shaded leaves. Canopy environment models estimate leaf light and temperature conditions for sun and shade leaves at various canopy depths. For example, the MEGAN2.1 canopy environment model predicts canopy average isoprene emissions that are 64% lower than the emissions expected for abovecanopy conditions. This result is based on a weighted average of 28.2% sun leaves, which are 20% lower than for above canopy conditions, and 71.8% shade leaves, which are 81.5% lower than for above canopy conditions. The average sun leaf emission is lower than a leaf perpendicular to direct beam sunlight because it is assumed that they are at an average angle of 60° to the sun's direct beam. In comparison to MEGAN2.1, the CLM4 and BEIS4 canopy environment models calculate light and temperature conditions that result in isoprene emissions that are 16% higher for CLM4 and 16% lower for BEIS4. Bash et al. (2016) compared the MEGAN2.1 and BEIS3.61 leaf temperature estimates with observations and found that the canopy top temperature estimated by BEIS3.61 and MEGAN2.1 compared well with observations.

Considering the significant uncertainties associated with isoprene emission estimates, Arneth et al. (2008) highlighted a notable consistency among 15 annual global isoprene emission estimates published from 1995 to 2007, with a standard deviation of only 11% of the mean value. They concluded that this convergence was not the result of an accurate understanding of isoprene emissions but indicated that emission capacities are unknown for most global biomes, and these global modeling studies all followed the same approach by assigning the emission capacities reported by Guenther et al. (1995). However, if the models all used the same emission capacities, then the emissions should differ due to different climate and land cover data as shown by Arneth et al. (2011). The consistency in estimated annual global emissions indicates that emission capacities may have been adjusted to get the same annual global total.

7.2. EMISSION MODEL UNCERTAINTIES

Lamb et al. (1987) used propagation of uncertainties from individual model components to estimate the total uncertainty of their U.S. annual BVOC emission estimate. The individual components included emission rate measurements, the emission activity algorithm used to account for variations in environmental conditions throughout the year, and the biomass densities and land use distributions used to extrapolate the emissions. They concluded that the dominant error was associated with the emission activity model, which only considered temperature and had a scatter of about a factor of three. The other individual uncertainties were smaller, resulting in a total uncertainty of about a factor of three, which corresponds with a total uncertainty range of about an order of magnitude. Other regional BVOC emission modelers have suggested uncertainties of a factor of four for Great Britain (Stewart et al. 2003) and a factor of three to five for Europe (Simpson et al. 1999). Guenther et al. (1995) assessed the uncertainties of relatively well-studied BVOCs, such as isoprene and monoterpenes, in well-studied landscapes like temperate forests in the U.S. and Europe, to be at least a factor of three, but higher for other BVOCs and landscapes like tropical forests. Guenther et al. (1999) estimated BVOC emission uncertainties of a factor of two for regions where ground measurements of model inputs are available and more than a factor of five for locations without available ground measurements.



Most assessments of BVOC emission model uncertainties are qualitative estimates, generally falling in the range of a factor of three to five for regional totals. Several studies have conducted more quantitative assessments using Monte Carlo approaches, which quantify the uncertainties related to each model parameter and then propagate them while running the model. For example, Smiatek and Bogacki (2005) assessed BVOC emission model estimates driven by land cover, temperature, light intensity, foliar biomass, LAI, and plant-specific emission factors. They created a probability distribution function for each of these driving variables. They estimated BVOC emission uncertainties of -71% to +73% for isoprene, -57% to +140% for monoterpenes, and -55% to +57% for other VOCs when averaged over the entire domain and modeling period. Uncertainties were higher for specific locations and times, such as for daily estimates, due to the lack of averaging. They found that the largest individual uncertainty was associated with emission factors, followed by individual uncertainties for temperature and foliar biomass. They pointed out that these are only the known uncertainties and do not include all possible variables and factors, thus underestimating the total uncertainty. Hanna et al. (2005) used a similar Monte Carlo probabilistic approach and determined uncertainties of a factor of three for isoprene, but only $\pm 20\%$ for monoterpenes and other VOCs. The lower uncertainty estimates for monoterpenes and other VOCs are unexpected given the greater certainty of isoprene emissions compared to monoterpenes and other VOCs but can be understood as the result of a lack of robust estimates of uncertainty associated with each model component. The results are a reminder that this uncertainty estimation approach can only account for uncertainties in the known driving variables. A large part of the total uncertainty is associated with knowledge gaps that cannot be quantified since they are still unknown.

7.3. MODEL PERFORMANCE

Model intercomparisons and sensitivity studies are valuable for their insights into BVOC emission model uncertainties, but model performance assessments require observations to determine the accuracy of landscape-scale BVOC emission estimates. The flux measurement techniques described in **section 2.3** provide a means of directly quantifying the accuracy of BVOC emission estimates. Since these measurements are available for relatively few locations, assessing BVOC emission models for most of the world requires the use of indirect approaches that use measurements of the distributions of atmospheric concentrations of BVOC or the products of BVOC oxidation. These ambient concentrations are related to BVOC emissions through inverse modeling approaches that require a quantitative understanding of atmospheric chemistry and dynamics processes.

These observations demonstrate that there is a large amount of variability that cannot be explained but it tends to balance out and averages tend to agree. In this section we summarize efforts that have been made to assess BVOC emission estimates using these approaches.

7.3.1. Eddy flux measurements

The eddy flux sampling platforms described in **section 2.2** include tower and aircraft-based systems. Aircraft flux systems have characterized BVOC fluxes along flight paths that together total tens of thousands of kilometers while tower flux systems have monitored canopy-scale BVOC emission variations over tens of thousands of hours. The techniques are described in **section 2.3** and the results, and their application for quantifying model performance, are summarized in this section.



Eight airborne BVOC eddy flux measurement studies have been conducted in Africa, Europe and North America in urban, agricultural and rural landscapes and the results are summarized in Table 2. Two studies were completed in 1996 using the REA approach and six studies were conducted from 2011 to 2021, using the PTRMS eddy covariance technique. The eight studies were conducted using seven different research aircraft including four from the US and one each from Canada, France and the UK. This demonstrates that BVOC eddy flux measurements can be made on a wide range of research aircraft (De Havilland Twin Otter, Fokker 27, Douglas DC 8, Lockheed C-130, Dornier 228, Gulfstream 1) but also shows that the successful demonstration of a BVOC eddy flux measurement capability does not ensure that a research aircraft will continue to take advantage of the new capability since only one aircraft was used for two studies and the rest were used for only one study. Five of the aircraft flux efforts were part of integrated regional studies (BOREAS, EXPRESSO, SAS, GOAMAZON) that combined multi-scale measurements and modeling by international teams of investigators targeting a wide range of scientific questions. In each case, the BVOC eddy flux aircraft was a facility funded by the agency that also funded the integrated regional study. The other three studies were conducted for the purpose of assessing landscape scale VOC and NOx emissions. Both integrated regional studies and targeted emission assessment studies have the potential to extend the currently limited amount of aircraft flux data available for evaluating BVOC emission model performance. While earlier studies could only measure isoprene fluxes, and in some cases total monoterpenes, Pfannerstill et al. (2023a) demonstrated that the latest generation of PTRMS systems can measure airborne fluxes of a wide range of biogenic and anthropogenic VOC which greatly expands the utility of these measurements. In addition, the utilization of these data for model performance evaluation would be greatly enhanced if these data were more easily accessible by the BVOC emission modeling community.

Continent	Ecosystem	Compounds	Flux (mg m ⁻² h ⁻¹)	Approach	Reference
N. America	Boreal aspen forest	isoprene	3.3	REA	Zhu et al. 1999
N. America	Boreal black spruce forest	isoprene	1.3	REA	Zhu et al. 1999
Africa	Tropical semideciduous forest	isoprene	0.89	REA	Greenberg et al. 1999
Africa	Tropical degraded woodland	isoprene	0.57	REA	Greenberg et al. 1999
N. America	30 Temperate and Medit. ecosystems	isoprene	< 1 to 15	PTRMS eddy covariance	Misztal et al. 2014, 2016
N. America	Temperate deciduous forest	Isoprene	8	PTRMS eddy covariance	Wolfe et al. 2015
N. America	14 Temperate forest and agricultural landscapes	Isoprene	2.3 to 7.9	PTRMS eddy covariance	Yu et al. 2017

Table 2 Airborne BVOC flux measurements



N. America	14 Temperate forest and agricultural landscapes	Total monoterpenes	0.45 to 1.3	PTRMS eddy covariance	Yu et al. 2017
S. America	Tropical forest	Isoprene	6.2 to 12.9	PTRMS eddy covariance	Gu et al. 2017
Europe	Urban forest	Isoprene	0.48 to 0.74	PTRMS eddy covariance	Vaughn et al. 2017
Europe	Urban forest	Total monoterpenes	0.12 to 0.16	PTRMS eddy covariance	Vaughn et al. 2017
N. America	Urban	isoprene	0.7	PTRTOFMS eddy covariance	Pfannerstill et al. 2023a
N. America	Oak woodlands	Isoprene	0.73	PTRTOFMS eddy covariance	Pfannerstill et al. 2023b
N. America	Urban	Total monoterpene	0.8	PTRTOFMS eddy covariance	Pfannerstill et al. 2023a
N. America	Oak woodlands	Total monoterpene	0.24	PTRTOFMS eddy covariance	Pfannerstill et al. 2023a

Zhu et al. (1999) results for two Canadian Boreal Forest ecosystems are within a factor of two of MEGAN2.1 estimates for these locations, and they confirmed the model predictions that aspen stands have higher isoprene emissions than black spruce. Aircraft REA flux measurements in two African landscapes (Greenberg et al. 1999) were also within about a factor of two agreement with an earlier version of MEGAN (Guenther et al. 1999). Misztal et al. (2014, 2016) measured isoprene fluxes over about 30 different Californian ecosystems along ~10,000 km of flight paths and found the observed fluxes were within $\sim 20\%$ of MEGAN2.1 predictions in most ecosystems but the differences for some landscapes were much higher. Isoprene fluxes measured over a U.S. temperate deciduous forest by Wolfe et al. (2015) were ~40% lower than the predictions of the GEOS-Chem-MEGAN BVOC emission model. Yu et al. (2017) used PTRMS eddy covariance to measure isoprene and total monoterpene fluxes from fourteen forest and agricultural landscapes in the Southeastern U.S. and found that the observed isoprene emissions were within 20% of MEGAN2.1 for the high isoprene landscapes dominated by oaks but were about a factor of two lower for pine plantations where the isoprene emitting species are in the shaded understory. Their observed monoterpene emissions agreed with MEGAN2.1 in landscapes dominated by pine plantations, which are relatively high monoterpene emitters, but were more than a factor of three higher than model estimates for landscapes dominated by oaks and other broadleaf trees that are considered relatively low monoterpene emitting trees. Gu et al. 2017 aircraft isoprene fluxes measured over Amazonian tropical forest landscapes were about a factor of two higher in the dry season than in the wet season and were also about a factor of two higher for upland forests compared to lowland forests. The observed emissions were about 35% higher than MEGAN2.1 model predictions. Airborne PTRMS eddy covariance measurements conducted over an urban forest near London confirmed that isoprene and total monoterpene emissions were lower with cooler and cloudier conditions (Vaughn et al. 2017). They also compared their measurements with predictions of the UK regional application of the European Monitoring and Evaluation Programme model (EMEP4UK) and found that the model underpredicted the observed emissions by about 50%. Pfannerstill et al. (2023a, b) measured fluxes of a much wider range of VOC emitted from woodlands, croplands and urban landscapes. They compared BVOC fluxes with BEIS and MEGAN, using



updated landcover, and found that the isoprene emissions from oak woodlands were similar to the estimates of BEIS and MEGAN, in agreement with the previous aircraft flux study by Misztal et al. (2014, 2016). Both models overestimated isoprene and sesquiterpenes from croplands by a factor of three or more. Modeled monoterpene emissions were within a factor of 2 but were overestimated for croplands and underestimated for citrus plantations. Both models overestimated isoprene by less than a factor of two in the urban area and underestimated monoterpene and sesquiterpene emissions by a factor of three or more. Overall, these eight regional aircraft BVOC flux studies suggest that emission models can estimate isoprene fluxes within a factor of two but uncertainties in monoterpenes and sesquiterpenes are a factor of three or more.

Tower-based eddy covariance systems have been used to assess model simulations of diurnal (e.g., Loubet et al. 2022), daily (e.g., Fares et al. 2013), seasonal (e.g., Seco et al. 2022) and interannual (Presseley et al. 2006, Seco et al. 2015) BVOC emission variations. Most of these studies show that the model short-term light and temperature response algorithms can simulate diurnal variations in isoprene and monoterpene emissions although there is some evidence that circadian rhythms should also be accounted for (Hewitt et al. 2012). Daily variations are typically better simulated when longer-term (one to 10 days) light and temperature response algorithms are included in the model (e.g., Fares et al. 2013). Seasonal variations are not fully captured by light and temperature algorithms and other factors, such as phenology, need to be considered and likely differ among biomes (Alves et al. 2023). The limited observations of interannual variations indicate that there are long-term processes that are not represented in BVOC emission models (e.g., Presseley et al. 2006, Seco et al. 2013).

Tower flux studies using eddy covariance and REA have also been used to measure ecosystem average emissions of isoprene, monoterpenes, methanol and other BVOC and used to assess bottom-up emission model estimates, based on leaf enclosure surveys and landcover distributions, including both regional to global model default values and estimates using site specific observations (e.g., Wohlfahrt et al. 2015, Sarkar et al. 2020). These tower flux data have also been used to parameterize the emission capacities used in models (e.g., Unger et al. 2013, Langford et al. 2017)

7.3.2. In situ concentration measurements of BVOC and their products

Ambient concentration measurements of BVOC and their oxidation products are useful for constraining BVOC emission estimates, but it is important to recognize that they are a function of all the relevant controlling processes including emissions and deposition, chemical production and losses, transport and dispersion. They can be used to assess the BVOC emissions only if the chemical and dynamical processes are relatively well constrained. This is often not the case and these studies are limited to placing total constraints on an emission, chemistry and transport model that is still useful for identifying overall discrepancies and providing insights into the sum of all the controlling factors. The concept that ambient BVOC concentrations can be used to characterize BVOC emissions and impacts on air pollution was presented by Dimitriades (1981) more than four decades ago. At that time, discrepancies between high emissions data and low ambient concentration measurements led some researchers to conclude that BVOC emission estimates are inaccurate, and these emissions were too low to contribute significantly to photochemical air pollution. However, comparisons of model and observed surface layer BVOC concentrations are difficult to interpret because of subgrid scale emission heterogeneity and because models may not accurately simulate transport from the surface to the above atmosphere resulting in high uncertainties in surface layer concentrations (Wiedinmyer et al. 2005). Mixed layer BVOC concentrations,



sampled from tall towers, tethered balloons, drones and aircraft at hundreds of meters above the surface, are less susceptible to errors in dynamical processes and source heterogeneity (Guenther et al. 1996).

Global budget studies can be used to estimate emissions of longer-lived BVOC such as methanol and acetone. Sensitivity studies can be used to identify the factors that contribute the most to the uncertainties in global BVOC budgets and determine whether emissions are the dominant uncertainty. For example, Brewer et al (2017) found that the uncertainty associated with direct emissions of acetone from the terrestrial biosphere is the most important factor in the global acetone budget and Tsigaridis and Kanakidou (2007) identified BVOC emissions uncertainties as a major contributor to the overall uncertainty in the global SOA production budget. These sensitivity studies of budgets can identify major uncertainties and target sources, sinks and processes that need further investigation.

Yu et al. (2023) compared CMAQ/MEGAN simulated BVOC concentrations with ground and NASA DC8 aircraft observations for S. Korea and found that while the results appeared reasonable for isoprene, monoterpenes were underestimated by about a factor of four. They also noted that the first generation isoprene products were underestimated even though isoprene concentrations were reasonably well simulated, suggesting uncertainties in the chemical mechanism.

7.3.3. Satellite measurements of BVOC concentration distributions and products

Space-based measurements of formaldehyde column distributions, which began more than twenty years ago with the Global Ozone Monitoring Experiment (GOME) satellite sensor, enabled an important new capability for mapping seasonal to interannual variations in isoprene emissions (Abbot et al. 2003). Formaldehyde is a major product of isoprene oxidation and can serve as a proxy for isoprene emission in regions dominated by isoprene by estimating the emission required to produce the observed formaldehyde concentration (Mueller et al. 2024). Initial studies (e.g., Palmer et al. 2003) suggested that the GOME isoprene estimates were about 20% lower than the Guenther et al. (1995) model estimates and about 35% higher than BEIS isoprene emission model estimates. Other studies using GOME to constrain isoprene emissions reported varying results that were due largely to the differences in the retrieval approaches (Mueller et al. 2024). The next generation, and higher resolution, Ozone Monitoring Instrument (OMI) formaldehvde data produced more consistent and accurate results for characterizing regional isoprene emission spatial distributions (e.g., Gu et al. 2017) and responses to landcover (e.g., Opacka et al. 2021b), drought (e.g., Opacka et al. 2021a, Wang et al. 2022) and temperature trends (e.g., Bauwens et al. 2016) in regions where there are few or no other available measurements. The recent synthesis of the Ozone Monitoring Instrument formaldehyde data with aircraft and ground based FTIR measurements has now produced a more reliable bias-corrected dataset that differs considerably from earlier versions and is now more in agreement with MEGAN and other BVOC emission model estimates (Mueller et al. 2024). In addition to assessing model output, satellite data are also being used to optimize isoprene emission model parameters (e.g., DiMaria et al. 2023). Fu et al. (2019) describe a more direct approach for quantifying isoprene emissions with satellite-based sensors by using the CrIS infrared sensor for direct retrieval of isoprene columns. Improvements in the spatial and temporal resolution and retrieval accuracy of the CrIS isoprene indicate that these data can provide valuable constraints on daily isoprene emission estimates (Wells et al. 2022). The combination of isoprene data with space-based formaldehyde, ozone and oxides of nitrogen estimate, that are now available at higher spatial resolution from the TROPOMI satellite platform (Oomen et al. 2023),

could be especially effective at characterizing isoprene emission. These capabilities are poised to improve even further with the hourly, <10 km spatial resolution of geostationary satellites monitoring atmospheric composition over Asia, North America and Europe (e.g., Lee et al. 2024).

Stavrakou et al. (2011) extended satellite BVOC measurements to methanol, the second largest BVOC emissions with a flux of about 25% of isoprene, which can be directly measured using the Tropospheric Emission Spectrometer (TES) sensor. Comparisons with MEGAN2.1 suggest the model underpredicts methanol emissions by about 40% (Wells et al. 2013). The production of large quantities of another BVOC, formic acid, from boreal and tropical forests was discovered by Stavrakou et al. (2012) using IASI satellite measurements but it is difficult to determine the relative contributions of direct emissions and secondary production from the atmospheric oxidation of BVOC. Franco et al. (2020) used IASI satellite data to demonstrate that forests are also a source of acetic acid, which is also both a primary emission from vegetation and has a secondary source from atmospheric oxidation.

7.4. MODEL SENSITIVITY STUDIES

Model sensitivity analyses show the impact of uncertainties associated with individual model inputs by examining how changes in inputs impact model outputs. This can be done by increasing or decreasing an input variable by a specified amount or by using alternative sets of inputs. For example, Guenther et al. (2012) compiled a table of global annual emissions for selected BVOC classes (isoprene, total monoterpenes, β -pinene, methanol, acetaldehyde, and acetone) estimated using combinations of 10 different models, 10 weather datasets, 13 LAI datasets, 11 vegetation type datasets, and 7 emission factor datasets. The results demonstrate that the choice of input data can lead to variations in emissions of about ±50% for land cover data and ±35% for weather data, which is similar or more than the variations associated with the choice of the model.

The highly sensitive light and temperature responses of BVOC emissions require accurate estimates of light and temperature, starting with above-canopy conditions. Weather model predictions often have temperature biases of a few degrees Celsius, which result in a ~30% or more BVOC emission error. While weather model temperatures can be biased high or low, sunlight tends to be biased high due to a lack of accounting for clouds and aerosols. Isoprene and other light-dependent BVOC emissions are sensitive to biases in sunlight conditions but only at low light levels since the isoprene emission increase with light is linear at low light levels but saturates, and stops increasing, at high light levels.

BVOC emissions are also highly sensitive to land cover. Messina et al. (2016) found that global average LAI in the ORCHIDEE dynamic vegetation model is $1.5-2 \text{ m}^2/\text{m}^2$ higher than MODIS LAI measurements, which is a difference of about a factor of 2. While the global averages followed a similar seasonal pattern, there were regional differences. They found a 50% decrease in LAI resulted in a 21% decrease in isoprene and a 43% decrease in monoterpenes for ORCHIDEE, while a 50% LAI increase resulted in an 8% increase in isoprene and a 40% increase in monoterpenes. This non-linear response is because sun leaves have much higher emissions than shade leaves so adding more shade leaves to a canopy has only a small impact on emissions. Ma et al. (2023) investigated the impacts of LAI and vegetation in China and found that changing land cover inputs had a larger impact on BVOC emission estimates than using different LAI datasets. Another land cover sensitivity study by Yu et al. (2023) examined the results from three different vegetation cover



distributions for South Korea and found an emission difference of about a factor of two for isoprene and only ~20% for monoterpenes.

The model uncertainty and sensitivity studies described in this section provide insights on the level of accuracy needed for BVOC emission inputs to air quality model simulations under various conditions. The results show that, while there are also significant uncertainties associated with the chemistry and transport processes, BVOC emission estimate uncertainty is a major contributor to overall air quality model uncertainties and this uncertainty must be significantly reduced, especially in regions where ozone is VOC-sensitive, in order to improve the accuracy of air quality model predictions. Air quality model performance evaluations also highlight the difficulties in simulating trends in ozone and particles, including their responses to changes in VOC and NOx emissions (Wu et al. 2023). This underscores the importance of improving quantitative BVOC emission estimates at the scales and locations required for air quality model simulations. Comparisons of different landcover and emission factors for estimating BVOC emissions in Europe have shown that there are differences of about a factor of three difference in emission estimates (e.g., Luttkus et al. 2022).

7.5. KNOWLEDGE GAPS AND LIMITATIONS

More than fifty years after Rei Rasmussen asked, "What do the hydrocarbons from trees contribute to air pollution?" (Rasmussen 1972), over 3000 peer-reviewed journal articles on BVOC emissions research have been published (see Cai et al. 2021). Yet, persistent knowledge gaps and limitations continue to impede progress toward accurate predictions of BVOC emissions and the development of effective photochemical air pollution control strategies. These knowledge gaps include a lack of quantitative understanding of some BVOC emission-controlling processes and their driving variables, as well as potential unknown compounds, sources, and controlling processes. Significant limitations include barriers to obtaining essential observations and the inherent complexity of BVOC sources, compounds, and processes.

While short-term (tens of minutes to hours) responses to light and temperature, which are major factors controlling BVOC emission variations, can often be accurately simulated, other emission activity processes are difficult to represent in models due to high variability among and within plant species. Some of these processes, including longer-term responses (days to years) to light, temperature, soil moisture, CO₂, and leaf age, are included in some BVOC emission models. However, they are based on limited measurements, and substantial differences are seen by various studies. Major knowledge gaps are associated with processes, including many stress responses, which have been demonstrated to be important contributors to BVOC emissions in specific locations and times. The current limited knowledge prevents the development of algorithms that can be applied in a global model. Additionally, unknown knowledge gaps may exist related to sources, compounds, and processes that have not yet been identified as important.

Model comparison and sensitivity studies suggest that differences in model inputs, primarily land cover and weather data, influence BVOC emission model results more than differences in model algorithms and parameters (e.g., emission factors and algorithm coefficients). This is at least partly because BVOC emission models use similar algorithms and parameters. Characterizing land cover and weather conditions is crucial for many Earth System modeling efforts (e.g., biogeochemistry, climate, carbon, energy, and water cycles), but BVOC emissions are even more sensitive to these inputs. For example, temperature sensitivities can result in more than a 15% change per degree K, and emission amount and diversity can vary over



orders of magnitude for different species within the same genus, which is more variable than for other biogeochemical cycles.

BVOC emission capacity measurements, which form the foundation of BVOC emission models, are often not representative of the typical conditions assumed for emission capacities, and there is no robust approach for assessing and synthesizing existing data. This limitation for BVOC emission model development could be mitigated by implementing standardized protocols and quality assurance (e.g., Niinemets et al. 2011), but this will not improve the quality of the existing available data. In recent years, there have been relatively few emission factor studies so most available data is from past decades.

Quantifying BVOC emissions is further complicated by the vast diversity of hundreds of thousands of plant species, thousands of BVOC chemical compounds, and dozens of emission source components (e.g., foliage, stems, roots, microbes) within an ecosystem, each with its own controlling processes. BVOC emission models must balance the explicit representation of each organism, compound, and mechanistic process with necessary simplifications. These simplifications involve lumping chemical species, averaging vegetation (e.g., species, genera, and even broad vegetation types), applying empirical or semi-empirical emission response algorithms, and omitting factors that are either non-essential or lack existing inputs or parameters. Studies have shown that these simplifications can result in large model errors and biases at specific times and locations. Other studies have shown good model performance for specific times and locations, but this does not ensure that the model always performs accurately everywhere and at all times.

All BVOC emission model uncertainties, simplifications, and missing processes need to be rigorously assessed to determine their impact on total mass emission, and more importantly, the total ozone formation potential and SOA production. This can be accomplished through approaches that constrain their total impact, such as landscape-scale tower and aircraft direct eddy flux measurements (see section 2.3). These measurements serve as overall constraints on the sum of individual sources (e.g., foliage, flowers, stems, trunks, roots, soil and leaf microbes, minor vegetation species, etc.) that comprise the total flux, including any missing sources. Total OH reactivity, ozone reactivity, and potential aerosol mass measurement techniques (see section 2.1) can also be used to assess whether there are missing (unidentified) BVOC compounds or sources that could significantly impact ozone or fine particle production. This could be accomplished through a systematic approach that integrates satellite observations and VOC flux sites, building on the FLUXNET network for the carbon, water, and energy flux research community. This network requires the development of simple, stable, and affordable BVOC landscape-scale flux capabilities as advocated by Rinne et al. (2016) and NASEM (2016).



8. CONCLUSIONS

8.1. BVOC EMISSION ESTIMATES

- Current global annual BVOC emissions are estimated to be about 1000 ± 500 Tg. Isoprene is about half of the total emission and, along with monoterpenes and sesquiterpenes, terpenoids contribute about two thirds of the total emission. The remaining third is dominated by methanol and other light oxygenated VOC (organic acids, aldehydes, alcohols) and stress compounds that can dominate local BVOC emissions at specific locations and times.
- Biogenic sources dominate globally comprising over 85% of total VOC emissions with regional contributions ranging from about 45% in China and Europe to about 90% in Africa and South America. The relative contribution of biogenic sources to total VOC in many urban areas has increased from a few percent in the 1990s to about half of the total at present. BVOC emissions now dominate the OH reactivity, ozone formation potential and SOA yield in some European and North American cities.
- BVOC emission future trends are uncertain, but the current evidence suggests that global isoprene emissions will increase by about 5% per decade and even more in some locations.

8.2. BVOC IMPACTS ON AIR POLLUTION

- Under polluted conditions, model simulations predict increased BVOC emissions can increase ozone by 1 to 10% and fine particles by 5 to 110% can increase ozone and fine particles.
- Given the potential impact of BVOC emissions on air pollution, enhancing the accuracy of BVOC emission simulations is crucial for refining air quality model predictions.

8.3. FUTURE CHALLENGES

- Global input data are not suitable for modeling urban BVOC emissions. Representative inputs require locally specific inputs based on data and tools that are widely available.
- Accurate representation of BVOC emission responses to extreme climate events and land use change are needed to account for expected future changes in emissions. This requires a more mechanistic understanding of BVOC emissions.
- A quantitative understanding of the factors controlling BVOC emissions, including disturbance and other stresses, is needed to characterize BVOC emission factors

8.4. **OPPORTUNITIES**

• Advances in satellite observations and aircraft eddy -flux techniques provide exceptional capabilities for investigating regional to global and long-term variations.



- Improved methods for measuring total OH reactivity, ozone reactivity, and potential aerosol may enable constraints for identifying missing BVOC and lower cost approaches for widespread comprehensive VOC characterization.
- BVOC emission reductions in managed landscapes could be a component of air quality management strategies. This should be accomplished by maintaining or increasing the total vegetation cover fraction while reducing the average emission rate.
- Regulatory agency interest in reliable BVOC emission factors and algorithms could initiate high quality, systematic measurements using standard operating procedures and quality control.
- The existing global flux tower network for carbon, water and energy fluxes could be extended to include long-term BVOC emission measurements.



9. ACRONYMS

 $\boldsymbol{\epsilon}$ is the emission capacity at a certain set of conditions γ is the emission activity factor ATTO: Amazon Tall Tower Observatory AVOC: anthropogenic volatile organic compound **BEIS: Biogenic Emission Inventory System** BEIS3.61: Biogenic Emission Inventory System version 3.61 BOREAS: Boreal Ecosystem-Atmosphere Study BSOA: Biogenic secondary organic aerosol BVOC: biogenic volatile organic compound BVOCEM: biogenic volatile organic compound emission model C2: hydrocarbon with 2 carbons C3: hydrocarbon with 3 carbons C4: hydrocarbon with 4 carbons C14: radioactive carbon isotope CAMx: comprehensive air quality model with extensions CARB: California Air Resources Board CB4: Carbon bond mechanism version 4 CB05: Carbon bond mechanism version 5 CB6: Carbon bond mechanism version 6 CESM: Community Earth System Model CGLS: Copernicus Global Land Service **CIMS: Chemical Ionization Mass Spectrometer** CLM4: Community Land Model version 4 CMAQ: Community Multiscale Air quality modeling system CO₂: carbon dioxide CrIS: Cross-track Infrared Sounder CRU: climatic research unit CTM: chemistry and transport models CWE: carbon, water and energy DC8: Douglas DC-8 aircraft



EC: eddy covariance

EMEP4UK: European Monitoring and Evaluation Programme model applied to the UK

ESAWC: European Space Agency World Cover

EXPRESSO: Experiment for regional sources and sinks of oxidants

FID: flame ionization detector

FIS: Fast isoprene sensor

FLUXNET: Flux tower network

FT-IR: Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy

GC: gas chromatograph

GECKO-A: Generator for Explicit Chemistry and Kinetics of Organics in the Atmosphere

GEIA: Global Emissions Inventory Activity

GEMS: Global Environmental Monitoring System

GEOS-Chem: Goddard Earth Observing System chemistry model

GOAMAZON: Green Ocean Amazon field study

GOME: Global Ozone Monitoring Experiment

LAI: leaf area index, m² m⁻²

LPJ: Lund-Potsdam-Jena model

LPJV: Lund-Potsdam-Jena model vegetation

MCM: Master Chemical Mechanism

MEGAN2.1: Model of Emissions of Gases and Aerosol from Nature version 2.1

MEGANV: Model of Emissions of Gases and Aerosol from Nature version 2.1 vegetation

MODIS: Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer

MS: Mass spectrometry

MUSICA: Multi-Scale Infrastructure for Chemistry Modeling

NAPAP: National Acid Precipitation Assessment Program

NAQPMS: Nested Air Quality Prediction Modeling System

NASA: National Aeronautics and Space Administration

NCEP: National centers for environmental prediction

NOx: Oxides of nitrogen (NO plus NO2)

NRC: National Research Council

OFP: ozone formation potential



OH: hydroxyl radical

OMI: Ozone Monitoring Instrument

ORCHIDEE: Organising Carbon and Hydrology In Dynamic Ecosystems model

PFT: Plant Functional Type

PhD: Doctor of Philosophy

PID: photo ionization detector

ppb: parts per billion

PTRMS: Proton Transfer Reaction Mass Spectrometer

PTR-QMS: Proton Transfer Reaction- Quadrupole Mass Spectrometer

PTR-TOFMS: Proton Transfer Reaction -Time of Flight Mass Spectrometer

Q: Amount of foliage

RACM: regional atmospheric chemistry mechanism

REA: relaxed eddy accumulation

SAPRC07: California Statewide Air Pollution Research Center mechanism version 2007

SAPRC11: California Statewide Air Pollution Research Center mechanism version 2011

SDGVM: Sheffield Dynamic Global Vegetation Model

seBVOC: semi empirical biogenic volatile organic compound

SLA: specific leaf area

SOA: secondary organic aerosol

SOAP: secondary organic aerosol production

TOFMS: Time-of-flight mass spectrometry

TROPOMI: TROPOspheric Monitoring Instrument

UAV: unmanned aerial vehicles

UM: Unified Model

USEPA: United States Environmental Protection Agency

VOC: volatile organic compound

WRF-chem: Weather research and forecasting with chemistry



10. **REFERENCES**

Abbot, Dorian S., Paul I. Palmer, Randall V. Martin, Kelly V. Chance, Daniel J. Jacob, and Alex Guenther. "Seasonal and Interannual Variability of North American Isoprene Emissions as Determined by Formaldehyde Column Measurements from Space." Geophys. Res. Lett. 30 (17). doi:10.1029/2003gl017336, 2003.

Adams, J.M., Constable, J.V., Guenther, A.B., & Zimmerman, P.R. An estimate of natural volatile organic compound emissions from vegetation since the last glacial maximum. *Chemosphere - Global Change Science*, *3*, 73-91, 2001.

Aksoyoglu, S., Ciarelli, G., El-Haddad, I., Baltensperger, U., and Prévôt, A. S. H.: Secondary inorganic aerosols in Europe: sources and the significant influence of biogenic VOC emissions, especially on ammonium nitrate, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 17, 7757-7773, doi: 10.5194/acp-17-7757-2017, 2017.

Altshuller A. and Aubrey, P., Review: Natural volatile organic substances and their effect on air quality in the United States. Atmospheric Environment 17, 2131-2165, 1983.

Alves, E., Aquino Santana, R., Quaresma Dias-Júnior, C., Botía, S., Taylor, T., Yáñez-Serrano, A. M., Kesselmeier, J., Bourtsoukidis, E., Williams, J., Lembo Silveira de Assis, P. I., Martins, G., de Souza, R., Duvoisin Júnior, S., Guenther, A., Gu, D., Tsokankunku, A., Sörgel, M., Nelson, B., Pinto, D., Komiya, S., Martins Rosa, D., Weber, B., Barbosa, C., Robin, M., Feeley, K. J., Duque, A., Londoño Lemos, V., Contreras, M. P., Idarraga, A., López, N., Husby, C., Jestrow, B., and Cely Toro, I. M.: Intra- and interannual changes in isoprene emission from central Amazonia, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 23, 8149-8168, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-23-8149-2023, 2023.

Ameye M, Allmann S, Verwaeren J, Smagghe G, Haesaert G, Schuurink R C and Audenaert K. Green leaf volatile production by plants: a meta-analysis New Phytol. 220 666-83, 2018.

Andreae, M. O., Acevedo, O. C., Araùjo, A., Artaxo, P., Barbosa, C. G. G., Barbosa, H. M. J., Brito, J., Carbone, S., Chi, X., Cintra, B. B. L., da Silva, N. F., Dias, N. L., Dias-Júnior, C. Q., Ditas, F., Ditz, R., Godoi, A. F. L., Godoi, R. H. M., Heimann, M., Hoffmann, T., Kesselmeier, J., Könemann, T., Krüger, M. L., Lavric, J. V., Manzi, A. O., Lopes, A. P., Martins, D. L., Mikhailov, E. F., Moran-Zuloaga, D., Nelson, B. W., Nölscher, A. C., Santos Nogueira, D., Piedade, M. T. F., Pöhlker, C., Pöschl, U., Quesada, C. A., Rizzo, L. V., Ro, C.-U., Ruckteschler, N., Sá, L. D. A., de Oliveira Sá, M., Sales, C. B., dos Santos, R. M. N., Saturno, J., Schöngart, J., Sörgel, M., de Souza, C. M., de Souza, R. A. F., Su, H., Targhetta, N., Tóta, J., Trebs, I., Trumbore, S., van Eijck, A., Walter, D., Wang, Z., Weber, B., Williams, J., Winderlich, J., Wittmann, F., Wolff, S., and Yáñez-Serrano, A. M.: The Amazon Tall Tower Observatory (ATTO): overview of pilot measurements on ecosystem ecology, meteorology, trace gases, and aerosols, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 15, 10723-10776, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-15-10723-2015, 2015.

Appel, K. W., Bash, J. O., Fahey, K. M., Foley, K. M., Gilliam, R. C., Hogrefe, C., Hutzell, W. T., Kang, D., Mathur, R., Murphy, B. N., Napelenok, S. L., Nolte, C. G., Pleim, J. E., Pouliot, G. A., Pye, H. O. T., Ran, L., Roselle, S. J., Sarwar, G., Schwede, D. B., Sidi, F. I., Spero, T. L., and Wong, D. C.: The Community Multiscale Air Quality (CMAQ) model versions 5.3 and 5.3.1: system updates and evaluation, Geosci. Model Dev., 14, 2867-2897, https://doi.org/10.5194/gmd-14-2867-2021, 2021.

Arey, J., S. Corchnoy, R. Atkinson, Emission of linalool from Valencia orange blossoms and its observation in ambient air, Atmospheric Environment. Part A. General Topics, Volume 25, Issue 7, Pages 1377-1381, ISSN 0960-1686, doi: 10.1016/0960-1686(91)90246-4, 1991.

Arneth, A., P. A. Miller, M. Scholze, T. Hickler, G. Schurgers, B. Smith, and I. C. Prentice, CO₂ inhibition of global terrestrial isoprene emissions: Potential implications for atmospheric chemistry, Geophys. Res. Lett., 34, L18813, doi:10.1029/2007GL030615, 2007.

Arneth, A., Monson, R. K., Schurgers, G., Niinemets, Ü., and Palmer, P. I.: Why are estimates of



global terrestrial isoprene emissions so similar (and why is this not so for monoterpenes)?, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 8, 4605-4620, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-8-4605-2008, 2008.

Arneth, A., Schurgers, G., Lathiere, J., Duhl, T., Beerling, D. J., Hewitt, C. N., Martin, M., and Guenther, A.: Global terrestrial isoprene emission models: sensitivity to variability in climate and vegetation, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 11, 8037-8052, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-11-8037-2011, 2011.

Arnts, R. R., Petersen, W. B., Seila, R. L., and Gay, B. W.: Estimates of Alpha-Pinene Emissions from a Loblolly-Pine Forest Using an Atmospheric Diffusion-Model, Atmospheric Environment, 16, 2127-2137, 1982.

Azimi, M.N., Rahman, M.M. Unveiling the health consequences of air pollution in the world's most polluted nations. Sci Rep 14, 9856, doi: 10.1038/s41598-024-60786-0, 2024.

Bäck, J., Aalto, J., Henriksson, M., Hakola, H., He, Q., and Boy, M.: Chemodiversity of a Scots pine stand and implications for terpene air concentrations, Biogeosciences, 9, 689-702, 10.5194/bg-9-689-2012, 2012.

Bai, J., and Duhl, T.: A primary generalized empirical model of BVOC emissions for some typical forests in China, Atmospheric Pollution Research, 12, 101126, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apr.2021.101126, 2021.

Baldocchi, D., and Coauthors, 2001: FLUXNET: A New Tool to Study the Temporal and Spatial Variability of Ecosystem-Scale Carbon Dioxide, Water Vapor, and Energy Flux Densities. Bull. Amer. Meteor. Soc., 82, 2415-2434, <u>https://doi.org/10.1175/1520-0477(2001)082<2415:FANTTS>2.3.CO;2.</u>

Bartík, L., Huszár, P., Karlický, J., Vlček, O., and Eben, K.: Modeling the drivers of fine PM pollution over Central Europe: impacts and contributions of emissions from different sources, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 24, 4347-4387, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-24-4347-2024, 2024.

Bash, J. O., Baker, K. R., and Beaver, M. R.: Evaluation of improved land use and canopy representation in BEIS v3.61 with biogenic VOC measurements in California, Geosci. Model Dev., 9, 2191-2207, 10.5194/gmd-9-2191-2016, 2016.

Bauwens, M., Stavrakou, T., Müller, J.-F., De Smedt, I., Van Roozendael, M., van der Werf, G. R., Wiedinmyer, C., Kaiser, J. W., Sindelarova, K., and Guenther, A.: Nine years of global hydrocarbon emissions based on source inversion of OMI formaldehyde observations, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 16, 10133-10158, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-16-10133-2016, 2016.

Benjamin, Michael T., Mark Sudol, Laura Bloch, Arthur M. Winer, Low-emitting urban forests: A taxonomic methodology for assigning isoprene and monoterpene emission rates, Atmospheric Environment, Volume 30, Issue 9, 1996, Pages 1437-1452, ISSN 1352-2310, https://doi.org/10.1016/1352-2310(95)00439-4.

Berner, L. T., and Law, B. E.: Plant traits, productivity, biomass and soil properties from forest sites in the Pacific Northwest, 1999 to 2014, Scientific Data, 3, 160002, 10.1038/sdata.2016.2, 2016.

Bonn, B., Magh, R.-K., Rombach, J., and Kreuzwieser, J.: Biogenic isoprenoid emissions under drought stress: different responses for isoprene and terpenes, Biogeosciences, 16, 4627-4645, https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-16-4627-2019, 2019.

Box, E., Foliar biomass: Data base of the international biological program and other sources, in Atmospheric Biogenic Hydrocarbons, edited by J. Bufalini and R. Arnts, Butterworth, Stoneham, Mass., 1981.

Brewer, J. F., M. Bishop, M. Kelp, C. A. Keller, A. R. Ravishankara, and E. V. Fischer (2017), A sensitivity analysis of key natural factors in the modeled global acetone budget, J. Geophys. Res. Atmos., 122, 2043-2058, doi:10.1002/2016JD025935.

Byron, J., Kreuzwieser, J., Purser, G. et al. Chiral monoterpenes reveal forest emission mechanisms and drought responses. Nature 609, 307-312. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-022-05020-5</u>, 2022.

Cagliero, C.; Mastellone, G.; Marengo, A.; Bicchi, C.; Sgorbini, B.; Rubiolo, P. Analytical strategies for in-vivo evaluation of plant volatile emissions—A review. Anal. Chim. Acta, 1147, 240-25, 20218

Calfapietra C, Fares S, Manes F, Morani A, Sgrigna G, Loreto F. Role of Biogenic Volatile Organic Compounds (BVOC) emitted by urban trees on ozone concentration in cities: a review. Environ Pollut. 2013 Dec;183:71-80. doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2013.03.012. Epub 2013 Apr 15. PMID: 23597803.

Carlton, A.G., Gouw, J.D., Jimenez, J.L., Ambrose, J., Attwood, A.R., Brown, S.S., Baker, K.R., Brock, C.A., Cohen, R.C., Edgerton, S.A., Farkas, C.M., Farmer, D.K., Goldstein, A.H., Gratz, L.E., Guenther, A.B., Hunt, S.W., Jaeglé, L., Jaffe, D.A., Mak, J.E., McClure, C.D., Nenes, A., Nguyen, T.K., Pierce, J.R., Sá, S.S., Selin, N.E., Shah, V., Shaw, S., Shepson, P.B., Song, S., Stutz, J., Surratt, J.D., Turpin, B.J., Warneke, C., Washenfelder, R.A., Wennberg, P.O., & Zhou, X. (2018). SYNTHESIS OF THE SOUTHEAST ATMOSPHERE STUDIES: Investigating Fundamental Atmospheric Chemistry Questions. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society, 99, 547-567.

Caser, M., Chitarra, W., D'Angiolillo, F., Perrone, I., Demasi, S., Lovisolo, C., Pistelli, L., Pistelli, L., & Scariot, V. (2019). Drought stress adaptation modulates plant secondary metabolite production in Salvia dolomitica Codd. Industrial Crops and Products, 129, 85-96.

Cao, J., Situ, S., Hao, Y., Xie, S., and Li, L.: Enhanced summertime ozone and SOA from biogenic volatile organic compound (BVOC) emissions due to vegetation biomass variability during 1981-2018 in China, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 22, 2351-2364, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-22-2351-2022, 2022.

Chameides W., R. Lindsay, J. Richardson, and C. S. Kiang, The Role of Biogenic Hydrocarbons in Urban Photochemical Smog: Atlanta as a Case Study. Science 241,1473-1475, DOI:10.1126/science.3420404, 1988.

Chen, W., Guenther, A., Wang, X., Chen, Y., Gu, D., Chang, M., Zhou, S., Wu, L.L., & Zhang, Y.Q. (2018). Regional to Global Biogenic Isoprene Emission Responses to Changes in Vegetation From 2000 to 2015. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 123*, 3757 - 3771.

Churkina, G., Kuik, F., Bonn, B., Lauer, A., Grote, R., Tomiak, K., and Butler, T. M.: Effect of VOC emissions from vegetation on air quality in Berlin during a heatwave, Environmental science & technology, 51, 6120-6130, 2017.

Ciccioli, P. C. Silibello, S. Finardi, N. Pepe, P. Ciccioli, F. Rapparini, L. Neri, S. Fares, F. Brilli, M. Mircea, E. Magliulo, R. Baraldi, The potential impact of biogenic volatile organic compounds (BVOCs) from terrestrial vegetation on a Mediterranean area using two different emission models, Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, Vol. 328, 109255, doi:10.1016/j.agrformet.2022.109255, 2023.

Croteau, R. Effect of irrigation method on essential oil yield rate and rate of oil evaporation in mint grown under controlled conditions. HortScience 12, 563-565, 1977.

Cui, B., Xian, C., Han, B., Shu, C., Qian, Y., Ouyang, Z., & Wang, X. (2023). High-resolution emission inventory of biogenic volatile organic compounds for rapidly urbanizing areas: A case of Shenzhen megacity, China. Journal of environmental management, 351, 119754.

de Ferreyro Monticelli, D., Bhandari, S., Eykelbosh, A., Henderson, S. B., Giang, A., and Zimmerman, N.: Cannabis Cultivation Facilities: A Review of Their Air Quality Impacts from the Occupational to Community Scale, Environmental Science & Technology, 56, 2880-2896, 10.1021/acs.est.1c06372, 2022.

Demetillo MAG, Anderson JF, Geddes JA, Yang X, Najacht EY, Herrera SA, Kabasares KM, Kotsakis



AE, Lerdau MT, Pusede SE. Observing Severe Drought Influences on Ozone Air Pollution in California. Environ Sci Technol. 53(9):4695-4706, doi: 10.1021/acs.est.8b04852, 2019.

DiMaria, C. A., Jones, D. B. A., Worden, H., Bloom, A. A., Bowman, K., Stavrakou, T., et al. (2023). Optimizing the isoprene emission model MEGAN with satellite and ground-based observational constraints. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 128, e2022JD037822. https://doi.org/10.1029/2022JD037822.

Dinkelacker, B., P. Rivera, J. Marshall, P. Adams, S. Pandis, High-resolution downscaling of source resolved PM2.5 predictions using machine learning models, Atmospheric Environment, 310, 119967, ISSN 1352-2310, doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2023.119967, 2023.

Dinkelacker, B., P. Rivera, K. Skyllakou, J. Marshall, P. Adams, S. Pandis, Predicted and observed changes in summertime biogenic and total organic aerosol in the southeast United States from 2001 to 2010, Atmospheric Environment, 316, 120186, ISSN 1352-2310, doi:10.1016/j.atmosenv.2023.120186, 2024.

Duan, C., Zuo, S., Wu, Z., Qiu, Y., Wang, J., Lei, Y., Liao, H., & Ren, Y. A review of research hotspots and trends in biogenic volatile organic compounds (BVOCs) emissions combining bibliometrics with evolution tree methods. Environmental Research Letters, 013003, 2021.

Duan, C., H. Liao, K. Wang, and Y. Ren, The research hotspots and trends of volatile organic compound emissions from anthropogenic and natural sources: A systematic quantitative review, Environmental Research, Volume 216, 114386, doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2022.114386, 2023.

Donahue, N.M., Kroll, J.H., Pandis, S.N., & Robinson, A.L. A two-dimensional volatility basis set - Part 2: Diagnostics of organic-aerosol evolution. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 12, 615-634, 2011.

Eller, A. S. D., de Gouw, J., Graus, M., and Monson, R. K.: Variation among different genotypes of hybrid poplar with regard to leaf volatile organic compound emissions, Ecological Applications, 22, 1865-1875, 2012.

Emad, A., and Siebicke, L.: True eddy accumulation - Part 2: Theory and experiment of the short-time eddy accumulation method, Atmos. Meas. Tech., 16, 41-55, 10.5194/amt-16-41-2023, 2023.

Emmerson, K. M., Galbally, I. E., Guenther, A. B., Paton-Walsh, C., Guerette, E.-A., Cope, M. E., Keywood, M. D., Lawson, S. J., Molloy, S. B., Dunne, E., Thatcher, M., Karl, T., and Maleknia, S. D.: Current estimates of biogenic emissions from eucalypts uncertain for southeast Australia, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 16, 6997-7011, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-16-6997-2016, 2016.

Faiola, C., D. Taipale, Impact of insect herbivory on plant stress volatile emissions from trees: A synthesis of quantitative measurements and recommendations for future research, Atmospheric Environment: X, Volume 5, 2020, 100060, ISSN 2590-1621, doi: 10.1016/j.aeaoa.2019.100060.

Fall, R., and Benson, A. A.: Leaf methanol - The simplest natural product from plants, Trends Plant Sci, 1, 296-301, Doi 10.1016/S1360-1385(96)88175-0, 1996.

Fares, Silvano, Ralf Schnitzhofer, Xiaoyan Jiang, Alex B. Guenther, Armin Hansel and Francesco Loreto. "Observations of diurnal to weekly variations of monoterpene-dominated fluxes of volatile organic compounds from mediterranean forests: implications for regional modeling." Environmental science & technology 47 19: 11073-8, 2013.

Farmer, D. K., and Riches, M.: Measuring Biosphere-Atmosphere Exchange of Short-Lived Climate Forcers and Their Precursors, Accounts of Chemical Research, 53, 1427-1435, 10.1021/acs.accounts.0c00203, 2020.

Feng, Z., Yuan, X., Fares, S., Loreto, F., Li, P., Hoshika, Y., & Paoletti, E. (2019). Isoprene is more affected by climate drivers than monoterpenes: A meta-analytic review on plant isoprenoid emissions. Plant, Cell & Environment, 42, 1939-1949.



Ferracci, V., Weber, J., Bolas, C.G. et al. Atmospheric isoprene measurements reveal largerthan-expected Southern Ocean emissions. Nat Commun 15, 2571, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-024-46744-4</u>, 2024.

Fitzky AC, Sandén H, Karl T, Fares S, Calfapietra C, Grote R, Saunier A and Rewald B (2019) The Interplay Between Ozone and Urban Vegetation—BVOC Emissions, Ozone Deposition, and Tree Ecophysiology. Front. For. Glob. Change 2:50. doi: 10.3389/ffgc.2019.00050

Franco, B., Clarisse, L., Stavrakou, T., Müller, J.-F., Pozzer, A., Hadji-Lazaro, J., Hurtmans, D., Clerbaux, C., and Coheur, P. F.: Acetone Atmospheric Distribution Retrieved From Space, Geophysical Research Letters, 46, 2884 - 2893, 2019.

Franco, B., Clarisse, L., Stavrakou, T., Müller, J.-F., Taraborrelli, D., Hadji-Lazaro, J., et al. Spaceborne measurements of formic and acetic acids: A global view of the regional sources. Geophysical Research Letters, 47, e2019GL086239. https://doi.org/10.1029/2019GL086239, 2020.

Fu, D., Millet, D.B., Wells, K.C. *et al.* Direct retrieval of isoprene from satellite-based infrared measurements. *Nat Commun* **10**, 3811 (2019). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-11835-0</u>

Funk, J. L., Jones, C. G., Baker, C. J., Fuller, H. M., Giardina, C. P., & Lerdau, M. T. (2003). Diurnal variation in the basal emission rate of isoprene. Ecological Applications, 13, 269-278, https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761(2003)013[0269:DVITBE]2.0.CO;2.

Geddes, J.A., Heald, C.L., Silva, S.J., & Martin, R.V. Land cover change impacts on atmospheric chemistry: simulating projected large-scale tree mortality in the United States. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 16, 2323-2340, 2016.

Geddes, J. A., Pusede, S. E., & Wong, A. Y. H. Changes in the relative importance of biogenic isoprene and soil NOx emissions on ozone concentrations in nonattainment areas of the United States. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, 127, e2021JD036361. doi: 10.1029/2021JD036361, 2022.

Geron, C., A. Guenther, and T. Pierce, An improved model for estimating biogenic volatile organic compound emissions from forests in the eastern United States, J. Geophysical Research, 99, 12773-12792, 1994.

Geron, C., T. Pierce, and A. Guenther, Reassessment of biogenic volatile organic compound emissions in the Atlanta area, Atmospheric Environment, 29, 1569-1578, 1995.

Geron, C., Harley, P., and Guenther, A., Isoprene emission capacity for US tree species, Atmospheric Environment, 35, 3341-3352, 2001.

Gershenzon, J., & Dudareva, N. (2007). The function of terpene natural products in the natural world. Nature chemical biology, 3 7, 408-14.

Ghirardo, A., Koch, K., Taipale, R., Zimmer, I., Schnitzler, J.-P., and Rinne, J.: Determination of de novo and pool emissions of terpenes from four common boreal/alpine trees by 13CO₂ labelling and PTR-MS analysis, Plant, Cell & Environment, 33, 781-792, 2010.

Ghirardo, A., Xie, J., Zheng, X., Wang, Y., Grote, R., Block, K., Wildt, J., Mentel, T., Kiendler-Scharr, A., Hallquist, M., Butterbach-Bahl, K., and Schnitzler, J.-P.: Urban stress-induced biogenic VOC emissions and SOA-forming potentials in Beijing, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 16, 2901-2920, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-16-2901-2016, 2016.

Goldstein, A. H., McKay, M., Kurpius, M. R., Schade, G. W., Lee, A., Holzinger, R., and Rasmussen, R. A.: Forest thinning experiment confirms ozone deposition to forest canopy is dominated by reaction with biogenic VOCs, Geophysical Research Letters, 31, https://doi.org/10.1029/2004GL021259, 2004.

Greenberg, J., Guenther, A.B., Madronich, S., Baugh, W.M., Ginoux, P.A., Druilhet, A., Delmas, R.J., & Delon, C. (1999). Biogenic volatile organic compound emissions in central Africa during



the Experiment for the Regional Sources and Sinks of Oxidants (EXPRESSO) biomass burning season. Journal of Geophysical Research, 104, 30659-30671.

Greenberg, J. P., Penuelas, J., Guenther, A., Seco, R., Turnipseed, A., Jiang, X., Filella, I., Estiarte, M., Sardans, J., Ogaya, R., Llusia, J., and Rapparini, F.: A tethered-balloon PTRMS sampling approach for surveying of landscape-scale biogenic VOC fluxes, Atmos Meas Tech, 7, 2263-2271, DOI 10.5194/amt-7-2263-2014, 2014.

Grell, G., Peckham, S. E., Schmitz, R., McKeen, S. A., Frost, G. J., Skamarock, W. C., ... & Eder, B. K. (2005). Fully coupled "online" chemistry within the wrf model. Atmospheric Environment, 39(37), 6957-6975. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2005.04.027

Grinspoon, J. A. (1991). A study of isoprene emission from Azolla sp., Mucuna sp. and other plant species (Doctoral dissertation, University of Colorado).

Gu, D., Guenther, A., Shilling, J. *et al.* Airborne observations reveal elevational gradient in tropical forest isoprene emissions. *Nat Commun* **8**, 15541 (2017).

Gu, Shan, Alex Guenther, and Celia Faiola Effects of Anthropogenic and Biogenic Volatile Organic Compounds on Los Angeles Air Quality, Environmental Science & Technology 2021 55 (18), 12191-12201, DOI: 10.1021/acs.est.1c01481

Guenther, A.B., Zimmerman, P.R., & Wildermuth, M.C. (1994). Natural volatile organic compound emission rate estimates for U.S. woodland landscapes. Atmospheric Environment, 28, 1197-1210.

Guenther, A., Baugh, W., Davis, K., Hampton, G., Harley, P., Klinger, L., Vierling, L., Zimmerman, P., Allwine, E., Dilts, S., Lamb, B., Westberg, H., Baldocchi, D., Geron, C., and Pierce, T.: Isoprene fluxes measured by enclosure, relaxed eddy accumulation, surface layer gradient, mixed layer gradient, and mixed layer mass balance techniques, J Geophys Res-Atmos, 101, 18555-18567, 1996.

Guenther, A., B. Baugh, G. Brasseur, J. Greenberg, P. Harley, L. Klinger, D. Serça, and L. Vierling (1999), Isoprene emission estimates and uncertainties for the central African EXPRESSO study domain, J. Geophys. Res., 104(D23), 30625-30639, doi:10.1029/1999JD900391.

Guenther, A. B., and Hills, A. J.: Eddy covariance measurement of isoprene fluxes, Journal of geophysical research, 103, 13145-13152, 1998.

Guenther A., Trace gas emission measurements, in Environmental Monitoring Handbook, F. Burden, I. McKelvie, U. Forstner, and A. Guenther, editors, McGraw-Hill, 2002

Guenther, A. B., Jiang, X., Heald, C. L., Sakulyanontvittaya, T., Duhl, T., Emmons, L. K., and Wang, X.: The Model of Emissions of Gases and Aerosols from Nature version 2.1 (MEGAN2.1): an extended and updated framework for modeling biogenic emissions, Geosci. Model Dev., 5, 1471-1492, https://doi.org/10.5194/gmd-5-1471-2012, 2012.

Haagen-Smit, A., The chemistry and physiology of Los Angeles Smog, Industrial and engineering chemistry, 44:6, 1952.

Hanna, S. R., A. G. Russell, J. G. Wilkinson, J. Vukovich, and D. A. Hansen (2005), Monte Carlo estimation of uncertainties in BEIS3 emission outputs and their effects on uncertainties in chemical transport model predictions, J. Geophys. Res., 110, D01302, doi:10.1029/2004JD004986.

Hansen, R., Griffith, S., Dusanter, S., Gilman, J., Graus, M., Kuster, W., Veres, P., deGouw, J., Warneke, C., Washenfelder, R., et al.: Measurements of Total OH Reactivity During Cal Nex-LA, Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 126, e2020JD032988, 2021.

Hantson, Stijn, Wolfgang Knorr, Guy Schurgers, Thomas A. M. Pugh and Almut Arneth. "Global isoprene and monoterpene emissions under changing climate, vegetation, CO 2 and land use." Atmospheric Environment 155 (2017): 35-45.



Harley, P., Guenther, A., and Zimmerman, P.: Effects of light, temperature and canopy position on net photosynthesis and isoprene emission from sweetgum (Liquidambar styraciflua) leaves, Tree Physiology, 16, 25-32, 1996.

Harley, P., Guenther, A., and Zimmerman, P.: Environmental controls over isoprene emission in deciduous oak canopies, Tree Physiology, 17, 705-714, 1997.

Harley, Peter C., Jim P. Greenberg, Ülo Niinemets and Alex B. Guenther. "Environmental controls over methanol emission from leaves." Biogeosciences 4, 1083-1099, 2007.

He, Congrong, Frank B. Murray and Tom Lyons. "Monoterpene and isoprene emissions from 15 Eucalyptus species in Australia." Atmospheric Environment 34, 645-655, 2000.

Heald, C. L., M. J. Wilkinson, R. K. Monson, C. A. Alo, G. L. Wang, and A. Guenther (2009), Response of isoprene emission to ambient CO_2 changes and implications for global budgets, Global Change Biol., 15(5), 1127-1140.

Helmig, Detlev, Alex B. Guenther, Jacques Hueber, Ryan Daly, Jeong-Hoo Park, Anssi Liikanen and Arnaud P. Praplan. "Ozone Reactivity Measurement of Biogenic Volatile Organic Compound Emissions." Atmospheric Measurement Techniques, 15, 5439-5454, 10.5194/amt-15-5439-2022, 2022.

Hewitt, C.N., Ashworth, K., Boynard, A., Guenther, A.B., Langford, B., Mackenzie, A., Misztal, P.K., Nemitz, E., Owen, S.M., Possell, M., Pugh, T.A., Ryan, A.C., & Wild, O. (2011). Ground-level ozone influenced by circadian control of isoprene emissions. Nature Geoscience, 4, 671-674.

Hewitt, C., Ashworth, K., Boynard, A. et al. Reply to 'Circadian control of global isoprene emissions'. Nature Geosci 5, 435-436 (2012). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ngeo1504</u>

Huang, G., Brook, R., Crippa, M., Janssens-Maenhout, G., Schieberle, C., Dore, C., Guizzardi, D., Muntean, M., Schaaf, E., and Friedrich, R.: Speciation of anthropogenic emissions of nonmethane volatile organic compounds: a global gridded data set for 1970-2012, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 17, 7683-7701, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-17-7683-2017, 2017.

Hollaway, M. J., Arnold, S. R., Collins, W. J., Folberth, G., & Rap, A. (2016). Sensitivity of mid-19th century tropospheric ozone to atmospheric chemistry-vegetation interactions. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 122, 2452-2473.

Hörtnagl, L., Bamberger, I., Graus, M., Ruuskanen, T. M., Schnitzhofer, R., Müller, M., Hansel, A., and Wohlfahrt, G.: Biotic, abiotic, and management controls on methanol exchange above a temperate mountain grassland, J. Geophys. Res., 116, G03021, doi:10.1029/2011jg001641, 2011.

Hoshika, Y., Brilli, F., Baraldi, R., Fares, S., Carrari, E., Zhang, L., Badea, O., & Paoletti, E. (2020). Ozone impairs the response of isoprene emission to foliar nitrogen and phosphorus in poplar. Environmental pollution, 267, 115679.

IPCC, 2022: Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [H.-O. Pörtner, D.C. Roberts, M. Tignor, E.S. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, A. Alegría, M. Craig, S. Langsdorf, S. Löschke, V. Möller, A. Okem, B. Rama (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA, 3056 pp., doi:10.1017/9781009325844, 2022.

Jaakkola, E., Hellén, H., Olin, S., Pleijel, H., Tykkä, T., & Holst, T. Ozone stress response of leaf BVOC emission and photosynthesis in mountain birch (Betula pubescens spp. czerepanovii) depends on leaf age. Plant-Environment Interactions, 5, e10134. DOI: 10.1002/pei3.10134, 2024.

Janson, R. W.: Monoterpene Emissions from Scots Pine and Norwegian Spruce, J Geophys Res-Atmos, 98, 2839-2850, 1993.



Jiang, J., Aksoyoglu, S., Ciarelli, G., Oikonomakis, E., El-Haddad, I., Canonaco, F., O'Dowd, C., Ovadnevaite, J., Minguillón, M. C., Baltensperger, U., and Prévôt, A. S. H.: Effects of two different biogenic emission models on modelled ozone and aerosol concentrations in Europe, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 19, 3747-3768, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-19-3747-2019, 2019.

Jud, W., Fischer, L., Canaval, E., Wohlfahrt, G., Tissier, A., and Hansel, A.: Plant surface reactions: an opportunistic ozone defence mechanism impacting atmospheric chemistry, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 16, 277-292, 10.5194/acp-16-277-2016, 2016.

Juuti, S., Arey, J., & Atkinson, R. (1990). Monoterpene emission rate measurements from a Monterey pine. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 95(D6), 7515-7519.

Kaplan, J.O., Folberth, G.A., & Hauglustaine, D. (2006). Role of methane and biogenic volatile organic compound sources in late glacial and Holocene fluctuations of atmospheric methane concentrations. Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 20.

Karl, T., Guenther, A., Jordan, A., Fall, R., and Lindinger, W.: Eddy covariance measurement of biogenic oxygenated VOC emissions from hay harvesting, Atmospheric Environment, 35, 491-495, 2001.

Karl, T., Guenther, A., Turnipseed, A., Patton, E.G., & Jardine, K. (2008). Chemical sensing of plant stress at the ecosystem scale. Biogeosciences, 5, 1287-1294. https://bg.copernicus.org/articles/5/1287/2008/

Karl, T., A. Guenther, R. J. Yokelson, J. Greenberg, M. Potosnak, D. R. Blake, and P. Artaxo, The tropical forest and fire emissions experiment: Emission, chemistry, and transport of biogenic volatile organic compounds in the lower atmosphere over Amazonia, J. Geophys. Res., 112, D18302, doi:10.1029/2007JD008539, 2007.

Kleindienst, Tadeusz E., Mohammed Jaoui, Michael Lewandowski, John H. Offenberg, Charles W. Lewis, Prakash V. Bhave and Edward O. Edney. "Estimates of the contributions of biogenic and anthropogenic hydrocarbons to secondary organic aerosol at a southeastern US location." Atmospheric Environment 41, 8288-8300, DOI:10.1016/J.ATMOSENV.2007.06.045, 2007.

Kesselmeier, J., Schäfer, L., Ciccioli, P., Brancaleoni, E., Cecinato, A., Frattoni, M., Foster, P., Jacob, V., Denis, J., Fugit, J.L., Dutaur, L., & Torres, L. (1996). Emission of monoterpenes and isoprene from a Mediterranean oak species Quercus ilex L. measured within the BEMA (Biogenic Emissions in the Mediterranean Area) project. *Atmospheric Environment*, *30*, 1841-1850.

Kim, J., K. Kim, D. Kim, J. Han, 2005. Seasonal variations of monoterpene emissions form coniferous trees of different ages in Korea. Chemosphere 59 (11), 1685-1696.

Kim, J., Jeong, U., Ahn, M. H., Kim, J. H., Park, R. J., Lee, H., Song, C. H., Choi, Y. S., Lee, K. H., Yoo, J. M., Jeong, M. J., Park, S. K., Lee, K. M., Song, C. K., Kim, S. W., Kim, Y. J., Kim, S. W., Kim, M., Go, S., Liu, X., Chance, K., Miller, C. C., Al-Saadi, J., Veihelmann, B., Bhartia, P. K., Torres, O., Abad, G. G., Haffner, D. P., Ko, D. H., Lee, S. H., Woo, J. H., Chong, H., Park, S. S., Nicks, D., Choi, W. J., Moon, K. J., Cho, A., Yoon, J., Kim, S. kyun, Hong, H., Lee, K., Lee, H., Lee, S., Choi, M., Veefkind, P., Levelt, P. F., Edwards, D. P., Kang, M., Eo, M., Bak, J., Baek, K., Kwon, H. A., Yang, J., Park, J., Han, K. M., Kim, B. R., Shin, H. W., Choi, H., Lee, E., Chong, J., Cha, Y., Koo, J. H., Irie, H., Hayashida, S., Kasai, Y., Kanaya, Y., Liu, C., Lin, J., Crawford, J. H., Kurosu, T. P., Jaross, G., Ahlers, B., Dobber, M., McElroy, C. T., and Choi, Y.: New era of air quality monitoring from space: Geostationary environment monitoring spectrometer (GEMS), B. Am. Meteor. Soc., 101, E1-E22, https://doi.org/10.1175/BAMS-D-18-0013.1, 2020.

Klinger, L. F., J. Greenburg, A. Guenther, G. Tyndall, P. Zimmerman, M. M'Bangui, J.-M. Moutsamboté, and D. Kenfack (1998), Patterns in volatile organic compound emissions along a savanna-rainforest gradient in central Africa, J. Geophys. Res., 103(D1), 1443-1454, doi:10.1029/97JD02928.

Köksal, M., Hu, H., Coates, R.M., Peters, R.J., & Christianson, D.W. (2011). Structure and

Mechanism of the Diterpene Cyclase ent-Copalyl Diphosphate Synthase. Nature chemical biology, 7, 431 - 433.

Kolarik J, Lyng NL, Bossi R, Li R, Witterseh T, Smith KM, Wargocki P. Application of Cluster Analysis to Examine the Performance of Low-Cost Volatile Organic Compound Sensors. Buildings. 13(8):2070. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/buildings13082070</u>, 2023.

Kuzma, Jennifer and R. Ray Fall. "Leaf Isoprene Emission Rate Is Dependent on Leaf Development and the Level of Isoprene Synthase." Plant Physiology, 101, 435-440, 1993.

Lamb, B.K., Westberg, H.H., Allwine, G., & Quarles, T. (1985). Biogenic hydrocarbon emissions from deciduous and coniferous trees in the United States. Journal of Geophysical Research, 90, 2380-2390.

Langford, B., Cash, J., Acton, W. J. F., Valach, A. C., Hewitt, C. N., Fares, S., Goded, I., Gruening, C., House, E., Kalogridis, A.-C., Gros, V., Schafers, R., Thomas, R., Broadmeadow, M., and Nemitz, E.: Isoprene emission potentials from European oak forests derived from canopy flux measurements: an assessment of uncertainties and inter-algorithm variability, Biogeosciences, 14, 5571-5594, https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-14-5571-2017, 2017.

Lathière, J., Hewitt, C. N., & Beerling, D. J. (2010). Sensitivity of isoprene emissions from the terrestrial biosphere to 20th century changes in atmospheric CO_2 concentration, climate, and land use. Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 24, GB1004. https://doi.org/10.1029/2009GB003548

Liora, N., A. Poupkou, T. M. Giannaros, K. E. Kakosimos, O. Stein, D. Melas, Impacts of natural emission sources on particle pollution levels in Europe, Atmospheric Environment, Volume 137, Pages 171-185, ISSN 1352-2310, doi:10.1016/j.atmosenv.2016.04.040, 2016.

Liu, Y., Ciuraru, R., Abis, L., Amelynck, C., Buysse, P., Guenther, A., Heinesch, B., Lafouge, F., Levavasseur, F., Loubet, B., Voyard, A., and Massad, R.-S.: Emissions of biogenic volatile organic compounds from agricultural lands and the impact of land-use and other management practices: A review, EGUsphere, doi: 10.5194/egusphere-2024-530, 2024.

Lee, G. T., Park, R. J., Kwon, H.-A., Ha, E. S., Lee, S. D., Shin, S., Ahn, M.-H., Kang, M., Choi, Y.-S., Kim, G., Lee, D.-W., Kim, D.-R., Hong, H., Langerock, B., Vigouroux, C., Lerot, C., Hendrick, F., Peron, A., Graus, M., Striednig, M., Lamprecht, C., Wohlfahrt, G., and Karl, T.: Deciphering anthropogenic and biogenic contributions to selected non-methane volatile organic compound emissions in an urban area, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 24, 7063-7083, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-24-7063-2024, 2024.

Levis, S., Wiedinmyer, C., Bonan, G.B., & Guenther, A.B. (2003). Simulating biogenic volatile organic compound emissions in the Community Climate System Model. Journal of Geophysical Research, 108, 4659.

Lewis, Charles W., George A. Klouda and William D. Ellenson. "Radiocarbon measurement of the biogenic contribution to summertime PM-2.5 ambient aerosol in Nashville, TN." Atmospheric Environment 38, 6053-6061, 2004.

Li Ramirez, J., J. Zambrano Najera, B. Aristizabel Zuluaga, BVOC Emissions Along the Eastern and Western Slopes of the Andes Central Range with Strong Altitudinal Gradient over a Wide Range of Andean Ecosystems: Model Estimation/Disaggregation with BIGA, Environmental Modeling & Assessment, 25, 6: 761-773, 2020.

Lim, Y.-J., Armendariz, A., Son, Y.-S., and Kim, J.-C.: Seasonal variations of isoprene emissions from five oak tree species in East Asia, Atmospheric Environment, 45, 2202-2210, 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2011.01.066, 2011.

Lin, M., Horowitz, L.W., Xie, Y., Paulot, F., Malyshev, S., Shevliakova, E., Finco, A., Gerosa, G.A., Kubistin, D., & Pilegaard, K. (2020). Vegetation feedbacks during drought exacerbate ozone air pollution extremes in Europe. Nature Climate Change, 10, 444-451.

Link, Michael F., Patrick Brophy, S. Ryan Fulgham, Trey Murschell, and Delphine K. Farmer, ACS



Earth and Space Chemistry, Isoprene versus Monoterpenes as Gas-Phase Organic Acid Precursors in the Atmosphere, 5 (6), 1600-1612, DOI: 10.1021/acsearthspacechem.1c00093, 2021.

Loreto, Francesco and Thomas David Sharkey. "A gas-exchange study of photosynthesis and isoprene emission inQuercus rubra L." Planta 182 (1990): 523-531.

Loreto, F., Ciccioli, P., Cecinato, A., Brancaleoni, E., Frattoni, M., & Tricoli, D. (1996). Influence of environmental factors and air composition on the emission of [alpha]-pinene from Quercus ilex leaves. Plant Physiology, 110(1), 267-275.

Loubet, B., Buysse, P., Gonzaga-Gomez, L., Lafouge, F., Ciuraru, R., Decuq, C., Kammer, J., Bsaibes, S., Boissard, C., Durand, B., Gueudet, J.-C., Fanucci, O., Zurfluh, O., Abis, L., Zannoni, N., Truong, F., Baisnée, D., Sarda-Estève, R., Staudt, M., and Gros, V.: Volatile organic compound fluxes over a winter wheat field by PTR-Qi-TOF-MS and eddy covariance, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 22, 2817-2842, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-22-2817-2022, 2022.

Luebkert, B. and Wolfgang Schoepp. "A Model to Calculate Natural VOC Emissions from Forests in Europe." IIASA WP-89-082 (1989).

Luttkus, M. L., Hoffmann, E. H., Poulain, L., Tilgner, A., & Wolke, R. The effect of land use classification on the gas-phase and particle composition of the troposphere: Tree species versus forest type information. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 127, e2021JD035305, doi: 10.1029/2021JD035305, 2022.

Xiaoxiu Lun, Ying Lin, Fahe Chai, Chong Fan, Hong Li, Junfeng Liu, Reviews of emission of biogenic volatile organic compounds (BVOCs) in Asia, Journal of Environmental Sciences, Volume 95, 2020, Pages 266-277, ISSN 1001-0742, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jes.2020.04.043</u>.

Ma, M., Gao, Y., Wang, Y., Zhang, S., Leung, L.R., Liu, C., Wang, S., Zhao, B., Chang, X., Su, H., Zhang, T., Sheng, L., Yao, X., & Gao, H. (2019). Substantial ozone enhancement over the North China Plain from increased biogenic emissions due to heat waves and land cover in summer 2017. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics.

Madronich, M., Landscape structure and plant age effects on terpenoid emissions from Pinus ponderosa and Pteridium aquilinum, PhD Thesis, U. Colorado, Boulder, 2003.

Maison, A., Lugon, L., Park, S.-J., Baudic, A., Cantrell, C., Couvidat, F., D'Anna, B., Di Biagio, C., Gratien, A., Gros, V., Kalalian, C., Kammer, J., Michoud, V., Petit, J.-E., Shahin, M., Simon, L., Valari, M., Vigneron, J., Tuzet, A., and Sartelet, K.: Significant impact of urban tree biogenic emissions on air quality estimated by a bottom-up inventory and chemistry transport modeling, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 24, 6011-6046, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-24-6011-2024, 2024.

Martin, P.H., & Guenther, A.B. (1995). Insights into the dynamics of forest succession and non methane hydrocarbon trace gas emissions. *Journal of Biogeography*, 22, 493-499.

Martin, S.T., Artaxo, P., Machado, L.A., Manzi, A.O., Souza, R.A., Schumacher, C., Wang, J., Andreae, M.O., Barbosa, H.M., Fan, J., Fisch, G., Goldstein, A.H., Guenther, A.B., Jimenez, J.L., Pöschl, U., Dias, M.A., Smith, J.N., & Wendisch, M. (2015). Introduction: Observations and Modeling of the Green Ocean Amazon (GoAmazon2014/5). Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 16, 4785-4797.

McKinney, K. A., Wang, D., Ye, J. H., de Fouchier, J. B., Guimaraes, P. C., Batista, C. E., Souza, R. A. F., Alves, E. G., Gu, D., Guenther, A. B., and Martin, S. T.: A sampler for atmospheric volatile organic compounds by copter unmanned aerial vehicles, Atmos Meas Tech, 12, 3123-3135, 10.5194/amt-12-3123-2019, 2019.

Messina, Palmira, Juliette Lathiére, Kateřina Šindelářová, Nicolas Vuichard, Claire Granier, Josefine Ghattas, Anne Cozic and Didier Hauglustaine. "Global biogenic volatile organic compound emissions in the ORCHIDEE and MEGAN models and sensitivity to key parameters." Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics 16 (2015): 14169-14202.

Misztal, P.K., Misztal, P.K., Karl, T.G., Karl, T.G., Weber, R.J., Jonsson, H.H., Guenther, A.B.,

Guenther, A.B., & Goldstein, A.H. (2014). Airborne flux measurements of biogenic isoprene over California. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 14, 10631-10647.

Misztal, P.K., Avise, J.C., Karl, T.G., Scott, K.I., Jonsson, H.H., Guenther, A.B., & Goldstein, A.H. (2016). Evaluation of regional isoprene emission factors and modeled fluxes in California. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 16, 9611-9628.

Monson, Russell K., Peter C. Harley, Marcy E. Litvak, Mary C. Wildermuth, Alex B. Guenther, Patrick R. Zimmerman and R. Ray Fall. "Environmental and developmental controls over the seasonal pattern of isoprene emission from aspen leaves." Oecologia 99: 260-270, 1994.

Mouchel-Vallon, C., Lee-Taylor, J., Hodzic, A., Artaxo, P., Aumont, B., Camredon, M., Gurarie, D., Jimenez, J.-L., Lenschow, D. H., Martin, S. T., Nascimento, J., Orlando, J. J., Palm, B. B., Shilling, J. E., Shrivastava, M., and Madronich, S.: Exploration of oxidative chemistry and secondary organic aerosol formation in the Amazon during the wet season: explicit modeling of the Manaus urban plume with GECKO-A, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 20, 5995-6014, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-20-5995-2020, 2020.

Müller, J.-F., Stavrakou, T., Oomen, G.-M., Opacka, B., De Smedt, I., Guenther, A., Vigouroux, C., Langerock, B., Aquino, C. A. B., Grutter, M., Hannigan, J., Hase, F., Kivi, R., Lutsch, E., Mahieu, E., Makarova, M., Metzger, J.-M., Morino, I., Murata, I., Nagahama, T., Notholt, J., Ortega, I., Palm, M., Röhling, A., Stremme, W., Strong, K., Sussmann, R., Té, Y., and Fried, A.: Bias correction of OMI HCHO columns based on FTIR and aircraft measurements and impact on top-down emission estimates, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 24, 2207-2237, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-24-2207-2024, 2024.

NASEM (National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine). The Future of Atmospheric Chemistry Research: Remembering Yesterday, Understanding Today, Anticipating Tomorrow. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/23573, 2016.

Ndah, Flobert, Hanna Valolahti, Michelle Schollert, Anders Michelsen, Riikka Rinnan, Minna Kivimäenpää, Influence of increased nutrient availability on biogenic volatile organic compound (BVOC) emissions and leaf anatomy of subarctic dwarf shrubs under climate warming and increased cloudiness, Annals of Botany, Volume 129, Issue 4, 1 April 2022, Pages 443-455, https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcac004

Niinemets, U., Tenhunen, J. D., Harley, P. C., and Steinbrecher, R.: A model of isoprene emission based on energetic requirements for isoprene synthesis and leaf photosynthetic properties for Liquidambar and Quercus, Plant Cell Environ., 22, 13191335, 1999.

Niinemets, Ülo, Russell K. Monson, Almut Arneth, Paolo Ciccioli, Jürgen Kesselmeier, Uwe Kuhn, Steffen M. Noe, Josep Peñuelas and Michael Staudt. "The leaf-level emission factor of volatile isoprenoids: caveats, model algorithms, response shapes and scaling." Biogeosciences 7 (2010): 1809-1832.

Niinemets, Ü., Kuhn, U., Harley, P. C., Staudt, M., Arneth, A., Cescatti, A., Ciccioli, P., Copolovici, L., Geron, C., Guenther, A., Kesselmeier, J., Lerdau, M. T., Monson, R. K., and Peñuelas, J.: Estimations of isoprenoid emission capacity from enclosure studies: measurements, data processing, quality and standardized measurement protocols, Biogeosciences, 8, 2209-2246, https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-8-2209-2011, 2011.

Niinemets, Ü., Kännaste, A., & Copolovici, L. (2013). Quantitative patterns between plant volatile emissions induced by biotic stresses and the degree of damage. Frontiers in Plant Science, 4, 262. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2013.00262

Niinemets, Ülo, Bahtijor Rasulov and Eero Talts. " CO_2 -responsiveness of leaf isoprene emission: why do species differ?" Plant, cell & environment, 44, 9, 3049-3063, 10.1111/pce.14131, 2021.

NRC (National Research Council). Rethinking the Ozone Problem in Urban and Regional Air Pollution. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/1889, 1991.



Olson R., C. Emerson and M. Nunsgesser, "GEOECOLOGY: A county level environmental data base for the conterminous United States", Oak Ridge National Laboratory, ORNL/TM-7351, Oak Ridge TN, 1980.

Oomen, Glenn-Michael, Jean-François Müller, Trissevgeni Stavrakou, Isabelle De Smedt, Thomas Blumenstock, Rigel Kivi, Maria Makarova, Mathias Palm, Amelie N. Röhling, Yao Té, Corinne Vigouroux, Martina M. Friedrich, Udo Friess, François Hendrick, Alexis Merlaud, Ankie Piters, Andreas Richter, Michel Van Roozendael and Thomas Wagner. "Weekly-derived top-down VOC fluxes over Europe from TROPOMI HCHO data in 2018-2021." (2023).

Opacka, B., Stavrakou, T., Müller, J.-F., Bauwens, M., Miralles, D., Koppa, A., Pagán, B., and Guenther, A. B.: Evaluation of soil moisture stress parameterizations in MEGAN model against MOFLUX field data and satellite observations of formaldehyde from OMI, EGU General Assembly 2021, online, 19-30 Apr 2021, EGU21-7021, https://doi.org/10.5194/egusphere-egu21-7021, 2021a.

Opacka, B., Müller, J.-F., Stavrakou, T., Bauwens, M., Sindelarova, K., Markova, J., and Guenther, A. B.: Global and regional impacts of land cover changes on isoprene emissions derived from spaceborne data and the MEGAN model, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 21, 8413-8436, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-21-8413-2021, 2021b.

Otter, L., Guenther, A., Wiedinmyer, C., Fleming, G., Harley, P., and Greenberg, J.: Spatial and temporal variations in biogenic volatile organic compound emissions for Africa south of the equator, J Geophys Res-Atmos, 108, doi 10.1029/2002jd002609, Artn 8505, 2003.

Pacifico, F., G. A. Folberth, C. D. Jones, S. P. Harrison, and W. J. Collins (2012), Sensitivity of biogenic isoprene emissions to past, present, and future environmental conditions and implications for atmospheric chemistry, J. Geophys. Res., 117, D22302, doi:10.1029/2012JD018276.

Palmer, P. I., D. J. Jacob, A. M. Fiore, R. V. Martin, K. Chance, and T. P. Kurosu (2003), Mapping isoprene emissions over North America using formaldehyde column observations from space, J. Geophys. Res., 108, 4180, doi:10.1029/2002JD002153, D6.

Panthee, S.; Ashton, L.A.; Tani, A.; Sharma, B.; Nakamura, A. Mechanical Branch Wounding Alters the BVOC Emission Patterns of Ficus Plants. Forests, 13, 1931. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/f13111931</u>, 2022.

Park, C., Schade, G. W., and Boedeker, I.: Flux measurements of volatile organic compounds by the relaxed eddy accumulation method combined with a GC-FID system in urban Houston, Texas, Atmospheric Environment, 44, 2605-2614, 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2010.04.016, 2010.

Park, J. H., Goldstein, A. H., Timkovsky, J., Fares, S., Weber, R., Karlik, J., and Holzinger, R.: Active Atmosphere-Ecosystem Exchange of the Vast Majority of Detected Volatile Organic Compounds, Science, 341, 643-647, DOI 10.1126/science.1235053, 2013.

Pegoraro, E., Rey, A.M., Greenberg, J., Harley, P.C., Grace, J., Malhi, Y.S., & Guenther, A.B. (2004). Effect of drought on isoprene emission rates from leaves of Quercus virginiana Mill. Atmospheric Environment, 38, 6149-6156.

Petron, G., Harley, P., Greenberg, J., and Guenther, A.: Seasonal temperature variations influence isoprene emission, Geophysical Research Letters, 28, 1707-1710, 2001.

Pfannerstill, Eva Y., Caleb Arata, Qindan Zhu, Benjamin C. Schulze, Roy Woods, Colin Harkins, Rebecca H. Schwantes, Brian C. McDonald, John H. Seinfeld, Anthony Bucholtz, Ronald C. Cohen, and Allen H. Goldstein, Environmental Science & Technology, 57 (41), 15533-15545, DOI: 10.1021/acs.est.3c03162, 2023a.

Pfannerstill, E.Y., Arata, C., Zhu, Q., Schulze, B.C., Woods, R., Seinfeld, J.H., Bucholtz, A., Cohen, R.C., & Goldstein, A.H. (2023b). Volatile organic compound fluxes in the agricultural San Joaquin Valley - spatial distribution, source attribution, and inventory comparison. Atmospheric



Chemistry and Physics.

Pfannerstill, E.Y., Arata, C., Zhu, Q., Schulze, B.C., Ward, R., Woods, R., Harkins, C., Schwantes, R.H., Seinfeld, J.H., Bucholtz, A. and Cohen, R.C. Temperature-dependent emissions dominate aerosol and ozone formation in Los Angeles. Science, 384 (6702), pp.1324-1329, 2024.

Pierce, T.E., & Waldruff, P.S. PC-BEIS: A Personal Computer Version of the Biogenic Emissions Inventory System. Journal of The Air & Waste Management Association, 41, 937-941, 1991.

Pierce, T., Geron, C., Bender, L., Dennis, R., Tonnesen, G., and Guenther, A.: Influence of increased isoprene emissions on regional ozone modeling, J Geophys Res-Atmos, 103, 25611-25629, 1998.

Pinardi, G., De Smedt, I., Van Roozendael, M., Wang, P., Chong, H., Cho, Y., and Kim, J.: First evaluation of the GEMS formaldehyde product against TROPOMI and ground-based column measurements during the in-orbit test period, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 24, 4733-4749, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-24-4733-2024, 2024.

Potosnak, M.J., LeStourgeon, L.M., Pallardy, S., Hosman, K.P., Gu, L., Karl, T.G., Geron, C.D., & Guenther, A.B. (2014). Observed and modeled ecosystem isoprene fluxes from an oakdominated temperate forest and the influence of drought stress. Atmospheric Environment, 84, 314-322.

Pressley, S.N., Lamb, B.K., Westberg, H.H., & Vogel, C.S.. Relationships among canopy scale energy fluxes and isoprene flux derived from long-term, seasonal eddy covariance measurements over a hardwood forest. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, 136, 188-202, 2006.

Purser, G., Heal, M. R., White, S., Morison, J. I. L., and Drewer, J.: Differences in isoprene and monoterpene emissions from cold-tolerant eucalypt species grown in the UK, Atmospheric Pollution Research, 11, 2011-2021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apr.2020.07.022, 2020.

Rantala, P., Järvi, L., Taipale, R., Laurila, T. K., Patokoski, J., Kajos, M. K., Kurppa, M., Haapanala, S., Siivola, E., Petäjä, T., Ruuskanen, T. M., and Rinne, J.: Anthropogenic and biogenic influence on VOC fluxes at an urban background site in Helsinki, Finland, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 16, 7981-8007, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-16-7981-2016, 2016.

Rasmussen, R., Terpenes: their analysis and fate in the atmosphere, PhD Thesis, Washington University, 1964.

Rasmussen, R. A. What do the hydrocarbons from trees contribute to air pollution? Journal of the Air Pollution Control Association 22 7, 537-43, 1972.

Ren, Y., Qu, Z., Du, Y., Xu, R., Ma, D., Yang, G., Shi, Y., Fan, X., Tani, A., Guo, P., Ge, Y., & Chang, J. (2017). Air quality and health effects of biogenic volatile organic compounds emissions from urban green spaces and the mitigation strategies. Environmental pollution, 230, 849-861.

Rhew, R. C., Deventer, M. J., Turnipseed, A. A., Warneke, C., Ortega, J., Shen, S., Martinez, L., Koss, A., Lerner, B. M., Gilman, J. B., Smith, J. N., Guenther, A. B., and de Gouw, J. A.: Ethene, propene, butene and isoprene emissions from a ponderosa pine forest measured by relaxed eddy accumulation, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 17, 13417-13438, 10.5194/acp-17-13417-2017, 2017.

Rickels, W., Proelß, A., Geden, O., Burhenne, J., and Fridahl, M.: Integrating Carbon Dioxide Removal Into European Emissions Trading, Frontiers in Climate, 3, 10.3389/fclim.2021.690023, 2021.

Rinne, J., T. Karl, A. Guenther, Simple, stable, and affordable: Towards long-term ecosystem scale flux measurements of VOCs, Atmospheric Environment, Volume 131, Pages 225-227, ISSN 1352-2310, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2016.02.005</u>, 2016.

Rinne, J., Ammann, C., Pattey, E., Paw U, K.T., & Desjardins, R.L. (2021). Alternative Turbulent Trace Gas Flux Measurement Methods. Springer Handbook of Atmospheric Measurements, T.

Foken (Ed.) doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-52171-4_56.

Russell, A.G., & Dennis, R.L. (2000). NARSTO critical review of photochemical models and modeling. Atmospheric Environment, 34, 2283-2324.

Rosenkranz, M., Pugh, T.A., Schnitzler, J., & Arneth, A.. Effect of land-use change and management on biogenic volatile organic compound emissions--selecting climate-smart cultivars. Plant, cell & environment, 38 9, 1896-912, 2015.

Sahu, Abira, Mohammad Golam Mostofa, Sarathi M. Weraduwage and Thomas D. Sharkey. "Hydroxymethylbutenyl diphosphate accumulation reveals MEP pathway regulation for high CO_2 induced suppression of isoprene emission." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 120, 41, 10.1073/pnas.2309536120, 2023.

Samburova, V., McDaniel, M., Campbell, D., Wolf, M., Stockwell, W. R., & Khlystov, A. Dominant volatile organic compounds (VOCs) measured at four Cannabis growing facilities: Pilot study results. Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association, 69(11), 1267-1276. https://doi.org/10.1080/10962247.2019.1654038, 2019.

Sanderson, M.G., Jones, C.D., Collins, W.J., Johnson, C.E., & Derwent, R.G., 2003. Effect of Climate Change on Isoprene Emissions and Surface Ozone Levels. *Geophysical Research Letters*, *30, 2003*.

Sarkar, C., Turnipseed, A., Shertz, S., Karl, T., Potosnak, M., Bai, J., Serça, D., Bonal, D., Burban, B., Lopes, P. R. C., Vega, O., and Guenther, A. B.: A portable, low-cost relaxed eddy accumulation (REA) system for quantifying ecosystem-level fluxes of volatile organics, Atmospheric Environment, 117764, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2020.117764, 2020.

Saunier, A., Ormeño, E., Wortham, H., Temime-Roussel, B., Lecareux, C., Boissard, C., & Fernandez, C. Chronic drought decreases anabolic and catabolic BVOC emissions of Quercus pubescens in a Mediterranean forest. Frontiers in Plant Science, 8, 223154, 2017.

Sawers, Brian, Controlling Biogenic Volatile Organic Compounds for Air Quality, Indiana Law Journal: Vol. 94: Iss. 5, Article 5, 2019.

Schaab, G., Steinbrecher, R., Lacaze, B., & Lenz, R.J. Assessment of long-term vegetation changes on potential isoprenoid emission for a Mediterranean-type ecosystem in France. *Journal of Geophysical Research*, *105*, 28863-28873, 2000.

Schade, G.W., Goldstein, A.H., & Lamanna, M.S. (1999). Are monoterpene emissions influenced by humidity? Geophysical Research Letters, 26.

Schuh, G., A. C. Heiden, T. Hoffmann, J. Kahl, P. Rockel, J. Rudolph, and J. Wildt, Emissions of volatile organic compounds from sunflower and beech: Dependence on temperature and light intensity, J. Atmos. Chem., 27, 291 - 318, 1997.

Schwantes, R. H., Emmons, L. K., Orlando, J. J., Barth, M. C., Tyndall, G. S., Hall, S. R., Ullmann, K., St. Clair, J. M., Blake, D. R., Wisthaler, A., and Bui, T. P. V.: Comprehensive isoprene and terpene gas-phase chemistry improves simulated surface ozone in the southeastern US, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 20, 3739-3776, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-20-3739-2020, 2020.

Seco, R., Karl, T.G., Guenther, A.B., Hosman, K.P., Pallardy, S., Gu, L., Geron, C.D., Harley, P.C., & Kim, S. (2015). Ecosystem-scale volatile organic compound fluxes during an extreme drought in a broadleaf temperate forest of the Missouri Ozarks (central USA). Global Change Biology, 21, doi: 10.1111/gcb.12980.

Seco, R., Holst, T., Davie-Martin, C.L., Simin, T., Guenther, A.B., Pirk, N., Rinne, J., & Rinnan, R.. Strong isoprene emission response to temperature in tundra vegetation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 119, 2022.

Sharkey, T. D., and Monson, R. K.: Isoprene research - 60 years later, the biology is still enigmatic, Plant, Cell & Environment, 40, 1671-1678, 10.1111/pce.12930, 2017.


Silver, G. M., and Fall, R.: Characterization of Aspen Isoprene Synthase, an Enzyme Responsible for Leaf Isoprene Emission to the Atmosphere, J Biol Chem, 270, 13010-13016, 1995.

Simon, Heather, Lee Beck, Prakash V. Bhave, Frank Divita, Ying-Kuang Hsu, Deborah J. Luecken, J. David Mobley, George A. Pouliot, Adam Reff, Golam Sarwar and Madeleine Strum. "The development and uses of EPA's SPECIATE database." Atmospheric Pollution Research 1: 196-206, 2010.

Simpson, D., Winiwarter, W., Borjesson, G., Cinderby, S., Ferreiro, A., Guenther, A., Hewitt, C. N., Janson, R., Khalil, M. A. K., Owen, S., Pierce, T. E., Puxbaum, H., Shearer, M., Skiba, U., Steinbrecher, R., Tarrason, L., and Oquist, M. G.: Inventorying emissions from nature in Europe, J Geophys Res-Atmos, 104, 8113-8152, 1999.

Skyllakou, K., Rivera, P. G., Dinkelacker, B., Karnezi, E., Kioutsioukis, I., Hernandez, C., Adams, P. J., and Pandis, S. N.: Changes in PM2.5 concentrations and their sources in the US from 1990 to 2010, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 21, 17115-17132, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-21-17115-2021, 2021.

Smiatek, G., and M. Bogacki (2005), Uncertainty assessment of potential biogenic volatile organic compound emissions from forests with the Monte Carlo method: Case study for an episode from 1 to 10 July 2000 in Poland, J. Geophys. Res., 110, D23304, doi:10.1029/2004JD005685.

Squire, O., Archibald, A.T., Abraham, N.L., Beerling, D.J., Hewitt, C.N., Lathiére, J., Pike, R.C., Telford, P.J., & Pyle, J.A. (2013). Influence of future climate and cropland expansion on isoprene emissions and tropospheric ozone. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, *14*, 1011-1024.

Stavrakou, T., Guenther, A., Razavi, A., Clarisse, L., Clerbaux, C., Coheur, P.-F., Hurtmans, D., Karagulian, F., De Mazière, M., Vigouroux, C., Amelynck, C., Schoon, N., Laffineur, Q., Heinesch, B., Aubinet, M., Rinsland, C., and Müller, J.-F.: First space-based derivation of the global atmospheric methanol emission fluxes, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 11, 4873-4898, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-11-4873-2011, 2011.

Stavrakou, T., Muller, J. F., Bauwens, M., De Smedt, I., Van Roozendael, M., Guenther, A., et al. (2014). Isoprene emission over Asia 1979-2012: Impact of climate and land-use changes. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 14(9), 4587-4605. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-14-4587-2014

Stavrakou, T., Müller, JF., Peeters, J. et al. Satellite evidence for a large source of formic acid from boreal and tropical forests. Nature Geosci 5, 26-30 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1038/ngeo1354.

Street, R. A., C. Nicholas Hewitt and Stefan Mennicken. "Isoprene and monoterpene emissions from a eucalyptus plantation in Portugal." Journal of Geophysical Research 102, 15875-15887, 1997.

Sulaiman, H. Y., Runno-Paurson, E., & Niinemets, Ü. The same boat, different storm: stress volatile emissions in response to biotrophic fungal infections in primary and alternate hosts. Plant Signaling & Behavior, 18(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15592324.2023.2217030</u>, 2023.

Tang, W., Emmons, L. K., Worden, H. M., Kumar, R., He, C., Gaubert, B., Zheng, Z., Tilmes, S., Buchholz, R. R., Martinez-Alonso, S. E., Granier, C., Soulie, A., McKain, K., Daube, B. C., Peischl, J., Thompson, C., and Levelt, P.: Application of the Multi-Scale Infrastructure for Chemistry and Aerosols version 0 (MUSICAv0) for air quality research in Africa, Geosci. Model Dev., 16, 6001-6028, 10.5194/gmd-16-6001-2023, 2023.

Thomsen, D., Elm, J., Rosati, B., Skønager, J.T., Bilde, M., & Glasius, M. (2021). Large Discrepancy in the Formation of Secondary Organic Aerosols from Structurally Similar Monoterpenes. ACS Earth and Space Chemistry 5, 632-644, doi: 10.1021/acsearthspacechem.0c00332.



Tingey, D. T., Evans, R., and Gumpertz, M.: Effects of Environmental-Conditions on Isoprene Emission from Live Oak, Planta, 152, 565-570, 1981.

Tingey, D.T., Turner, D.P., & Weber, J.A. (1991). Factors Controlling the Emissions of Monoterpenes and Other Volatile Organic Compounds, in Trace Gas Emissions by Plants, Academic Press, Pages 93-119, ISBN 9780126390100, https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-639010-0.50009-1.

Trail, M.A., Tsimpidi, A.P., Liu, P., Tsigaridis, K., Hu, Y., Nenes, A., Stone, B., & Russell, A.G.. Reforestation and crop land conversion impacts on future regional air quality in the Southeastern U.S. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, 209, 78-86, 2015.

Tsigaridis, K. and M. Kanakidou, Secondary organic aerosol importance in the future atmosphere, Atmospheric Environment, Volume 41, Issue 22, Pages 4682-4692, ISSN 1352-2310, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2007.03.045</u>, 2007.

Turner, D.P., Baglio, J.V., Wones, A.G., Pross, D., Vong, R.J., McVeety, B.D., & Phillips, D.L. (1991). Climate change and isoprene emissions from vegetation. *Chemosphere*, 23, 37-56.

Turnipseed, A. A., Pressley, S. N., Karl, T., Lamb, B., Nemitz, E., Allwine, E., Cooper, W. A., Shertz, S., and Guenther, A. B.: The use of disjunct eddy sampling methods for the determination of ecosystem level fluxes of trace gases, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 9, 981-994, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-9-981-2009, 2009.

Turnock, S.T., Allen, R.J., Andrews, M.B., Bauer, S.E., Emmons, L.K., Good, P., Horowitz, L.W., Michou, M., Nabat, P., Naik, V., Neubauer, D., O'Connor, F.M., Oliviè, D.J., Schulz, M., Sellar, A.A., Takemura, T., Tilmes, S., Tsigaridis, K., Wu, T., & Zhang, J. (2020). Historical and future changes in air pollutants from CMIP6 models. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics.

Unger, N., Harper, K., Zheng, Y., Kiang, N. Y., Aleinov, I., Arneth, A., Schurgers, G., Amelynck, C., Goldstein, A., Guenther, A., Heinesch, B., Hewitt, C. N., Karl, T., Laffineur, Q., Langford, B., A. McKinney, K., Misztal, P., Potosnak, M., Rinne, J., Pressley, S., Schoon, N., and Serça, D.: Photosynthesis-dependent isoprene emission from leaf to planet in a global carbon-chemistry-climate model, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 13, 10243-10269, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-13-10243-2013, 2013.

Unger, N. Human land-use-driven reduction of forest volatiles cools global climate. Nature Clim Change 4, 907-910, https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2347, 2014.

Urso, K., Vizuete, W., Moravec, R., Khlystov, A., Frazier, A., & Morrison, G. (2023). Indoor monoterpene emission rates from commercial cannabis cultivation facilities in Colorado. Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association, 73(4), 321-332, https://doi.org/10.1080/10962247.2023.2175741, 2023.

Vanhatalo, Anni, Andrea Ghirardo, Eija Juurola, Jörg-Peter Schnitzler, Ina Zimmer, Heidi Hellén, Hannele Hakola and Jaana Bäck. "Long-term dynamics of monoterpene synthase activities, monoterpene storage pools and emissions in boreal Scots pine." Biogeosciences, 15, 5047-5060, 2018.

Vaughan, A.R., Lee, J.D., Shaw, M.D., Misztal, P.K., Metzger, S., Metzger, S., Vieno, M., Davison, B., Karl, T., Carpenter, L.J., Lewis, A.C., Purvis, R.M., Goldstein, A.H., & Hewitt, C.N. VOC emission rates over London and South East England obtained by airborne eddy covariance. Faraday discussions, 200, 599-620, 2017.

Vaughan, A., Measurement and Understanding of Emissions over London and Southern England by Airborne Eddy-Covariance, PhD Thesis, University of York, 2017.

Vermeuel, M. P., Cleary, P. A., Desai, A. R., & Bertram, T. H. (2021). Simultaneous measurements of O3 and HCOOH vertical fluxes indicate rapid in-canopy terpene chemistry enhances O3 removal over mixed temperate forests. Geophysical Research Letters, 48, 2020GL090996. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2020GL090996</u>.



Vettikkat, Lejish, Pasi P.J. Miettinen, Angela Buchholz, Pekka A. Rantala, Hao Yu, Simon Schallhart, Tuukka Petäjä, Roger Seco, Elisa Männistö, Markku Kulmala, Eeva-Stiina Tuittila, Alex B. Guenther and Siegfried Schobesberger. "High emission rates and strong temperature response make boreal wetlands a large source of isoprene and terpenes." Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 2023.

Thaomy Vo, Celia L. Faiola, Acute ozone exposure decreases terpene emissions from Canary Island pines, Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, Volume 333, 2023, 109416, ISSN 0168-1923, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2023.109416</u>.

Wallach, O., Zur Kenntniss der Terpene und der ätherischen Oele. Justus Liebigs Annalen der Chemie, Volume 238, Issue 1-2, page 78-89, 1887.

Wang, C.-T., Wiedinmyer, C., Ashworth, K., Harley, P. C., Ortega, J., Rasool, Q. Z., and Vizuete, W.: Potential regional air quality impacts of cannabis cultivation facilities in Denver, Colorado, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 19, 13973-13987, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-19-13973-2019, 2019.

Wang, Y., Lin, N., Li, W., Guenther, A., Lam, J. C. Y., Tai, A. P. K., Potosnak, M. J., and Seco, R.: Satellite-derived constraints on the effect of drought stress on biogenic isoprene emissions in the southeastern US, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 22, 14189-14208, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-22-14189-2022, 2022.

Wang, H., Welch, A., Nagalingam, S., Leong, C., Kittitananuvong, P., Barsanti, K. C., et al. (2024). Arctic heatwaves could significantly influence the isoprene emissions from shrubs. Geophysical Research Letters, 51, e2023GL107599. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2023GL107599</u>.

Wang, S., Apel, E. C., Schwantes, R. H., Bates, K. H., Jacob, D. J., & Fischer, E. V., et al. Global atmospheric budget of acetone: Air-sea exchange and the contribution to hydroxyl radicals. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 125, e2020JD032553. https://doi.org/10.1029/2020JD032553, 2020.

Wang, Yutong, Yu Zhao, Lei Zhang, Jie Zhang, Yang Liu, Modified regional biogenic VOC emissions with actual ozone stress and integrated land cover information: A case study in Yangtze River Delta, China, Science of The Total Environment, Volume 727, 2020, 138703, ISSN 0048-9697, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138703, 2020.

Weber J., et al. , Chemistry-albedo feedbacks offset up to a third of forestation's CO_2 removal benefits. Science 383, 860-864 (2024).

Wells, K. C., Millet, D. B., Cady-Pereira, K. E., Shephard, M. W., Henze, D. K., Bousserez, N., Apel, E. C., de Gouw, J., Warneke, C., and Singh, H. B.: Quantifying global terrestrial methanol emissions using observations from the TES satellite sensor, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 14, 2555-2570, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-14-2555-2014, 2014.

Wells, K. C., Millet, D. B., Payne, V. H., Vigouroux, C., Aquino, C. A. B., De Mazière, M., et al. Next-generation isoprene measurements from space: Detecting daily variability at high resolution. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 127, e2021JD036181. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2021JD036181</u>, 2022.

Weng, H., J. Lin, R. V. Martin, D. B. Millet, L. Jaeglé, D. Ridley, C. Keller, C. Li, M. Du, & J. Meng, Global high-resolution emissions of soil NOx, sea salt aerosols, and biogenic volatile organic compounds. Scientific Data, 7(1), 1-15, 2020.

Wiedinmyer, C., J. Greenberg, A. Guenther, Brian Hopkins, Kirk Baker, Chris Geron, Paul I. Palmer, Bryan P. Long, Jay R. Turner, Gabrielle Pétron, Peter Harley, Thomas E. Pierce, Brian Lamb, Hal Westberg, William Baugh, Mike Koerber, and Mark Janssen, Ozarks Isoprene Experiment (OZIE): Measurements and modeling of the "isoprene volcano", J. Geophys. Res., 110, D18307, doi:10.1029/2005JD005800, 2005.

Winer, A. M. D., M.; Fitz, D.; Miller, P.; Stephens, E.; Neisess, K.; Meyers, M.; Brown, D.; Johnson, C.: Assembling a vegetative hydrocarbon emission inventory for the California South



Coast Air Basin: direct measurement of emission rates, leaf biomass and vegetative distribution., 75th Annual Meeting of the Air Pollution Control Association, New Orleans, Louisiana, 1982.

Winters, Anthony J., Mark A. Adams, Timothy M. Bleby, Heinz Rennenberg, D. Steigner, Rainer Steinbrecher and Jürgen Kreuzwieser. "Emissions of isoprene, monoterpene and short-chained carbonyl compounds from Eucalyptus spp. in southern Australia." Atmospheric Environment 43: 3035-3043, 2009.

Wohlfahrt, G., Amelynck, C., Ammann, C., Arneth, A., Bamberger, I., Goldstein, A. H., Gu, L., Guenther, A., Hansel, A., Heinesch, B., Holst, T., Hörtnagl, L., Karl, T., Laffineur, Q., Neftel, A., McKinney, K., Munger, J. W., Pallardy, S. G., Schade, G. W., Seco, R., and Schoon, N.: An ecosystem-scale perspective of the net land methanol flux: synthesis of micrometeorological flux measurements, Atmos. Chem. Phys., 15, 7413-7427, https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-15-7413-2015, 2015.

Wolfe, G.M., Hanisco, T.F., Arkinson, H.L., Bui, T.B., Crounse, J.D., Dean-Day, J.M., Goldstein, A.H., Guenther, A.B., Hall, S.R., Huey, G.L., Jacob, D.J., Karl, T.G., Kim, P.S., Liu, X., Marvin, M.R., Mikoviny, T., Misztal, P.K., Nguyen, T.B., Peischl, J., Pollack, I.B., Ryerson, T., Clair, J.M., Teng, A.P., Travis, K.R., Ullmann, K., Wennberg, P.O., & Wisthaler, A. Quantifying sources and sinks of reactive gases in the lower atmosphere using airborne flux observations. Geophysical Research Letters, 42, 8231 - 8240, 2015.

Wu Kai, Shupeng Zhu, Michael Mac Kinnon, Scott Samuelsen, Unexpected deterioration of O3 pollution in the South Coast Air Basin of California: The role of meteorology and emissions, Environmental Pollution, Volume 330, 121728, ISSN 0269-7491, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2023.121728</u>, 2023.

Yang, Yudong, Min Shao, Xuemei Wang, Anke C. Nölscher, Stephan Kessel, Alex Guenther, and Jonathan Williams. "Towards a Quantitative Understanding of Total OH Reactivity: A Review". Atmospheric Environment 134 (June): 147-61. doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2016.03.010, 2016.

Yang, K., Llusià, J., Preece, C. et al. Exchange of volatile organic compounds between the atmosphere and the soil. Plant Soil, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-024-06524-x</u>, 2024.

Ye, J., Batista, C. E., Guimarães, P. C., Ribeiro, I. O., Vidoudez, C., Barbosa, R. G., Oliveira, R. L., Ma, Y., Jardine, K. J., Surratt, J. D., Guenther, A. B., Souza, R. A. F., and Martin, S. T.: Near-canopy horizontal concentration heterogeneity of semivolatile oxygenated organic compounds and implications for 2-methyltetrols primary emissions, Environmental Science: Atmospheres, 1, 8-20, 10.1039/D0EA00006J, 2021.

Yu, H., A. Guenther, D. Gu, C. Warneke, C. Geron, A. Goldstein, M. Graus, T. Karl, L. Kaser, P. Misztal, B. Yuan, Airborne measurements of isoprene and monoterpene emissions from southeastern U.S. forests, Science of The Total Environment, Volume 595, Pages 149-158, ISSN 0048-9697, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.03.262</u>, 2017.

Yu, Jinhyeok, Kyung M. Han, Chul H. Song, Kyunghwa Lee, Sojin Lee, Younha Kim, Jung-Hun Woo, Saewung Kim, Armin Wisthaler, Evaluation of biogenic emissions from three different vegetation distributions in South Korea, Atmospheric Environment, Volume 296, 119588, ISSN 1352-2310, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2023.119588</u>, 2023.

Yu, Seong-Ji, Yong-Soo Seo, Youn-Suk Son, Jo-Chun Kim, Characteristics of BVOCs emitted from representative tree species in South Korea according to environmental influences, Atmospheric Environment, Volume 318, 120238, ISSN 1352-2310, doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2023.120238, 2024.

Zhang, B., Jia, Y., Bai, G., Han, H., Yang, W., Xie, W., and Li, L.: Characterizing BVOC emissions of common plant species in northern China using real world measurements: Towards strategic species selection to minimize ozone forming potential of urban greening, Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 96, 128341, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2024.128341, 2024a.

Zhang, Z., Xu, W., Lambe, A.T. et al. Insights Into Formation and Aging of Secondary Organic

Aerosol From Oxidation Flow Reactors: A Review. Curr Pollution Rep. doi: 10.1007/s40726-024-00309-7, 2024b.

Zhao, T., Ye, J., Ribeiro, I.O. et al. River winds and pollutant recirculation near the Manaus city in the central Amazon. Commun Earth Environ 2, 205. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s43247-021-00277-6</u>, 2021.

Zhu, T., D. Wang, R.L. Desjardins, J.I. Macpherson, Aircraft-based volatile organic compounds flux measurements with relaxed eddy accumulation, Atmospheric Environment, Volume 33, Issue 12, Pages 1969-1979, ISSN 1352-2310, https://doi.org/10.1016/S1352-2310(98)00098-3, 1999.

Zimmerman P. R., "Testing of Hydrocarbon Emissions from Vegetation, Leaf Litter, and Aquatic Surfaces, and Development of a Methodology for Compiling Biogenic Emission Inventories," Final Report, EPA-460/4-79-004, USEPA, Research Triangle Park, NC, 1979.

Zimmerman, P. R., Greenberg, J. P., and Westberg, C. E.: Measurements of Atmospheric Hydrocarbons and Biogenic Emission Fluxes in the Amazon Boundary-Layer, J Geophys Res-Atmos, 93, 1407-1416, 1988.



Concawe Boulevard du Souverain 165 B-1160 Brussels Belgium

Tel: +32-2-566 91 60 Fax: +32-2-566 91 81 e-mail: info@concawe.eu http://www.concawe.eu

